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To the shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), we are
pleased to present the annual results and the annual report
for the year ended 31st December 2022 of China Star
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively as the “Group”) to the shareholders.

In year 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic lingered on with
seemingly retarded epidemic effects along with upgrading
vaccines and increasing vaccination rates, such that some
countries opted to relax their control over social distancing and
entry/exit restrictions starting from the second half of the year,
paving the way for normal flow of supply chains as well as
economic recovery globally. In respect of Mainland China, the
overall guidelines of “Zero-COVID” had been implemented by
the central government for most of the year in view of severe
and complicated epidemic control situations domestically
with an aim to maximize the protection of the people’s life and
health and minimize the epidemic impacts on the economic
and social development. Under such circumstances, the re-
opening of borders in between many places in the Mainland,
in the Greater Bay Area, and that between Hong Kong and
Macau was impracticable and real economic activities were
inevitably dampened and thus ailing. In respect of geopolitical
situation, the Russian-Ukrainian War had turned out to be long
and drawn out, while the tension in the Taiwan Strait had been
escalating against a backdrop of China-US wrestling and thus
increased military exercises around Taiwan. These all clouded
the prospects for post-pandemic economic recovery of the

world this year and next year with added uncertainties.
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In light of the above, various key economic indicators of
Macau were sluggish, though improved only during the Golden
Weeks in relation to the “National Day on 1st October” and the
New Year’s Day. For instance, according to figures published
by the Statistics and Census Service, the number of tourists
visiting Macau for the year 2022 was 5,700,339 visits, a drop
of 26.0% year-on-year, which had justified the gaming revenue
of MOP42.198 billion published by the Gaming Inspection and
Coordination Bureau on 1st January 2023, a crash of more
than a half year-on-year and a new low for the last 18 years.

As an open micro-economy, the property market in Macau
is impossible to stay aloof and unaffected. Based on figures
published by Centaline Property, the transaction volume of the
residential market last year collapsed owing to rising interest
rates, the Russian-Ukrainian War, the stock market plunge, the
closing down of satellite casinos, the hiking unemployment rate
and the repeated outbreaks of the pandemic and so on. The
commercial (including offices and industrial buildings) market
also posted downturn figures, except for the shop market that
outperformed other categories and recorded a correction of
about 15% for residential districts and a correction of 30%
to 60% for tourist districts as compared to those before the
pandemic. The firm forecasted that the property markets of
Macau and Henggin will recover this year coupled with the
fundamental change in the national pandemic control policies
and the launch of a series of measures aiming to stabilize the
economy (such as lowering interest rates and the requirement

reserve ratios and loosening purchase limitations).
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With regard to our two major continuing operations, all film
production were halted or suspended for the film related
business operations as we concentrated only on the pre-
production stage of film production such as the preparation
of story boards, and we would adjust relevant strategy in light
of the development of pandemic situations and gradually start
film production upon a suitable story board. Revenue mainly
arose from distribution of films in film library, sub-distribution
fees and artist management service fees during this year. As
at 31st December 2022, no film or television drama series of
the Group were in shooting stage and one film classified as
investment in films was in its post-production stage. As to the
property development and investment operations, the further
development of Lot C7 do Plano de Urbanizacao da Baia de
Praia Grande (the “Property C7”) and its development plan
is awaiting response or further instructions from the Land,
Public Works and Transport Bureau of Macau. Tiffany House
had its residential units and car-parks launched for sale in
the fourth quarter of 2022 as sales galleries set up in Hong
Kong and Macau in service. However, the sales plan was
postponed owing to the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic,
resumed after the 2023 Lunar New Year, and had the first sale
of a residential unit completed in January 2023. The Group
is temporary not intended to start sales of the commercial
units and will consider to change them for rental purpose. It is
expected that year 2023 would be a fruitful year of the Group
as Tiffany House will start to record revenue and income, and
that both cash flow and revenue would improve in the coming
year. Taiwan Property had its renovation furnished in year

2022 and is ready for rent.
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When the statement is published we are delighted to embrace
the major favorable good news that the National Health
Commission has announced with the approval of the State
Council that Covid-19 would be treated and controlled as a
“category B infectious disease” starting from 8th January 2023,
and glad to witness the travel national wide free of quarantine
and segregation during the Spring Festival of the Year of the
Rabbit. Statistics reported afterwards also evidenced such
favorable effects, for example, the total number of tourists
visiting Macau reached 451,000 visits during the Golden Week
of the Spring Festival, representing a significant increase of
297.0% as compared to that of last year. Among them, tourists
coming from Hong Kong recorded huge increase in terms
of daily average visits at 2,601.8%; the average occupancy
rate of hospitality premises recorded 85.7%, representing an
increase of 22.4% as compared to that of last year. Another
major favorable factor may be attributable to the Government’s
efforts in overcoming all difficulties amid adversities and in
advancing various policies persistently with sold progresses,
which have been manifested in the Policy Address for the
Fiscal Year 2023 titled “Making progress while ensuring
stability” announced by the Chief Executive of Macau on
15th November last year. The highlights of policy include: 1.
Expedite economic recovery and facilitate adequate economic
diversification; 2. Enhance infrastructure construction and
jointly build a livable smart city; 3. Take multiple measures to
benefit people’s wellbeing; 4. Deepen public administration
reform and continuously improve governance capacity; 5.
Persistently safeguard national security and maintain social
stability; 6. Steadily advance the construction of Henggin,
and better integration with national development; and 7. Make
unrelenting efforts to prevent and control COVID 19 and
strengthen the anti pandemic system. Among them, Highlights
No.1, 2 and 4 carry important significance to the Group, and
we are looking forward to and believe that the government of
Macau surely can grasp opportunities brought about by the
comprehensive relaxation of epidemic control measures and
steer the livelihood and economy of the city towards a course

of recovery out of the trough.




&5
v
(%5

?
A
(A
-

>

e
| -

F J& #t % Chairman’s Statement

BN ERNPEEREBRERENES  ARBEREAY
EREXBRANERS KEMATHRBNERNEER
BRBNIAR  ERESLAEBBAESTELERRTD
HesBNES YEFEZMERARESARHR L
EBREER -

BR AANERRESEHERUBRRNTHHEUE
THAMHBE  YRHMEILEIENTWNBE  URAE
ERHMRA EIER -

B
CIE-¥:3

&8 —T-_=F#=ZHF=1+H

Besides, given that Mainland China and Hong Kong are
forging closer relations, the Group is proactively seeking and
identifying potential investment opportunities and projects
that may contribute profits in the Mainland with respect
to businesses it is skilled in, hoping for a more diversified
development of its business and enhanced profitability.
Meanwhile, we will continue to judge the hour and size up the
situation in order to maximize its investment return and position

to appropriate business opportunities in pursuing healthy and
stable growth.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
extend my immense appreciation to the shareholders for their
relentless support, our staff force for their unremitting spirit,
and our business partners for their cooperation and support.

Heung Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30th March 2023
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31st December 2022, the Group recorded
revenue from continuing operations of HK$3,879,000,
representing an increase of 4% from HK$3,717,000 for the
year ended 31st December 2021.

Loss for the year amounted to HK$94,120,000, representing a
decrease of 40% from HK$156,515,000 for the year ended 31st
December 2021. Loss for the year mainly included recognition
of loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$25,257,000 (2021:
HK$152,413,000), other operating expenses of HK$20,576,000
(2021: HK$24,977,000), administrative expenses of
HK$88,174,000 (2021: HK$75,063,000) and marketing and
distribution expenses of HK$11,111,000 (2021: HK$158,000)
and partially offset by other revenue and other income of
HK$48,933,000 (2021: HK$102,903,000). The decrease in loss
is mainly attributable to the substantial decrease in recognition
of loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which mainly represented financial
assets stated at fair values held by the Group included equity
securities listed in Hong Kong, call option embedded in loan
to a director and investment in films.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company from continuing
operations for the year ended 31st December 2022 amounted
to HK$94,101,000, representing a decrease of 37% from
HK$148,630,000 in the previous year.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company from discontinued
operation for the year ended 31st December 2021 amounted
to HK$7,866,000.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2022 (2021: nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Continuing Operations

The Group has two continuing reportable segments - (1) film
related business operations; and (2) property development
and investment operations.

Of the total revenue for the year, HK$3,879,000 or 100%
was generated from film related business operations and
no revenue was generated from property development and
investment operations.

Film Related Business Operations

Film related business operations included investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and television
drama series and provision of other film related services
including artist management services.

The Group has been engaging in the film business for more
than 20 years. Film production normally involves three stages
including pre-production, production or shooting and post-
production. From the pre-production stage to theatrical release
of Chinese film in Hong Kong, it normally takes more than one
year and sometimes several years to complete. The majority
of revenue in film will record within the following two years
after the film is released. As such, it is the characteristic of
film production and distribution that revenue is not recognised
evenly with time. The Group also has investment in production
of film which is co-financing with other production companies
and will shared revenue from the invested film according to the
investment percentage in the relevant agreement. The Group
takes a passive role in this kind of co-production arrangement
but needs to contribute less human resource. Besides our own
productions, the Group also distributes film titles on behalf of

other film owners in order to obtain distribution fees.
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In year 2022, revenue from film related business operations
amounted to HK$3,879,000 (2021: HK$3,717,000) and
its segment loss amounted to HK$20,015,000 (2021:
HK$43,526,000). The Group did not start new production
during the year. The revenue mainly arised from distribution
of films in film library, sub-distribution fees and artist
management service fees. In recent years, China is the
major revenue contributor in film distribution. The repeat of
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“Covid-19”) in year 2022 causing
the operating rate of theaters to fall to the bottom since the
outbreak. The total China box office in 2022 is about 29.7
billion yuan, which is far from the total China box office in 2021
of 47 billion yuan. Facing the low operating rate of theaters,
some films were worried about the poor feedback from the
China box office market, so they temporarily withdraw their
films, thus creating a vicious circle of “audiences don’t want to
watch movies-movies don’t want to be released”. As such, we
concentrate to pre-production stage of film production such as
preparation of story board during this year. The segment loss
mainly included impairment loss recognised in respect of films
in progress and film rights of HK$nil (2021: HK$1,313,000)
and HK$256,000 (2021: HK$2,862,000) respectively and
loss arising on change in fair value of investment in films
of HK$3,727,000 (2021: HK$32,216,000) and allowance
for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on deposits and other
receivables for film related business of HK$6,887,000 (2021:
HK$3,339,000). As at 31st December 2022, no film or
television drama series of the Group are in shooting stage and
one film classified as investment in films is in post-production
stage.

Property Development and Investment Operations

Property development and investment operations mainly
included two projects under development in Macau, namely
(i) Lot C7 do Plano de Urbanizacao da Baia de Praia Grande,
located in the Nam Van Lakes Zone, at Avenida Doutor Stanley
Ho, registered with the Macau Land and Real Estate Registry
under no. 23070 (the “Property C7”); and (ii) Tiffany House
located at Rua De Luis Gonzaga Gomes and Rua De Xiamen,
Macau.
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Under the Urbanistic Conditions Plan, the Property C7 which is
a lot of land with the site area of 4,669 square meters with the
maximum allowed height of the building of 34.5 meters above
sea level and maximum utilization rate of 5.58 (parking not
included). The Group has submitted a development plan of the
Property C7 to the Land, Public Works and Transport Bureau
of Macau (“DSSOPT”), pursuant to which the Property C7
shall be developed into two residential buildings, comprising
an eight-storey building and a nine-storey building, with two
basement levels of parking area underneath both buildings.
The further development of Property C7 and its development
plan is awaiting response or further instructions from DSSOPT.

The Group is currently indirectly interested in 50% of the
Property C7. Ms. Chen Ming Yin Tiffany (“Ms. Chen”) had
granted a call option (the “Call Option”) to Best Combo
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Best
Combo”) which allowed Best Combo to require Ms. Chen to
sell the entire issued share capital of Reform Base Holdings
Limited that indirectly held 25% of the Property C7 at
consideration of HK$500,000,000 (subject to adjustment)
during the exercise period falling on the expiry of 60 months
from 6th April 2017 (the “Exercisable Period”) and Best
Combo had granted a fixed term loan at principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (subject to adjustment) (the “Loan”), interest
bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on the date falling
60 months from 6th April 2017 (“Final Repayment Date”). On
28th January 2022 and 11th February 2022, Best Combo and
Ms. Chen entered into a second deed of variation and a side
letter respectively, pursuant to which Best Combo and Ms.
Chen have agreed to (i) conditional upon the Company having
obtained approval from the independent shareholders of the
Company, extend the Final Repayment Date to the date falling
on the expiry of 69 months from the drawdown date, i.e., 5th
January 2023; and (ii) extend the Exercisable Period to any
time within the date falling on the expiry of 69 months from the
drawdown date, i.e., 5th January 2023. On 24th June 2022,
Best Combo and Ms. Chen entered into the third deed of
variation, pursuant to which Best Combo and Ms. Chen have
agreed to (i) conditional upon the Company having obtained
approval from the independent shareholders of the Company,
extend the Final Repayment Date to the date falling on the
expiry of 81 months from the drawdown date, i.e., 5th January
2024; and (ii) extend the Exercisable Period to any time within
the date falling on the expiry of 81 months from the drawdown
date, i.e., 5th January 2024. The third deed of variation
superseded and replaced the second deed of variation and
the side letter. As the extension of the Exercisable Period is
unconditional, the Exercisable Period is extended accordingly.
Details of the third deed of variation were set out in the
Company’s circular dated 26th August 2022. The transaction
contemplated in the third deed of variation constitutes a
major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As Ms. Chen is an executive director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company, the transaction also
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and were approved by the
independent shareholders in a special general meeting of the
Company held on 14th September 2022. Accordingly, the Final
Repayment Date was extended to 5th January 2024.



® P W 2k & 43 P Management Discussion and Analysis

WHE e ZSMA MR T2k MBS ELES B
FIBABEREDPRESGTIEERR - UKEe REH
BEBEEES  (a)EE—31,192F 5% - 841,900
FHKREGH  (b)EE-3,716F F K : k(c)=HE 5
11,250 750K o 1B 5 M IE R IE 1R Ht230MEE E B L - i
FARABMENEAZTARERNEN  UARMT=ZER
272EE L R7SAEREHEN - ERBEHNEHMBEESE
REFEMESRRERAMRMN T L LR BiRME
LRRE BEXE BIE REBZ2NEE BN
REEEZ - KREeZER_E—NEF+ARBFHE
HRFIZE KRB ZERBEAEEATHAENE
ERRFEEKER - REEERMBENEEAKRINE
BAEBEREURE ZENEBEERBE KK AR
MERE UTKBEARUREZENHEE - ATIRS
URE e XEMMBHF N AEBRATERBRL—
EREEE  UARARPIUIIHEBEEER - BB RRFH
BHBR-_ZS__FF7YUERARE -BE+FE &
B RRFPI2019B MRS RT EW B ML REM KRB
W WRE e RERHEIN T __F+A%E - Am -
PDHEZEMHER_TE-_—_F+—Ak+=-ARAH
BRI B E2019BARE S A M BERE - IKKE o
%%%TE%Eu%%F_z:—E—H%Wolm'
HE-_Z-_—F+-A=-+—HLFETEHBSKE
%Ao%%hﬁEMLiﬁ%&¢%ﬁA%&ﬂhmﬁ
B R ZENHER S -_—EBEHERDIKE -
URE e XEF—RELHE - F_EEARNSBTES
MBI EHEEERITSRBERE - ASEEEER
HEMEBNTZEREIRAHBRR -

AEBRAEEE—BZZEABRAMEAREM([REY
) BAEARPERZENRENE -ZWEER
“R KRB A -

Tiffany House is located adjacent to Macao Polytechnic
Institute and next to Golden Lotus Square, and is a couple
of blocks away from Macau Fisherman’s Wharf and Sands
Casino. Tiffany House has a gross floor area of (a) residential
— 31,192 square meters, including approximately 1,900 square
meters for clubhouse, (b) commercial — 3,716 square meters
It provides 230
residential units in two towers, with units ranging from studio

and (c) parking — 11,250 square meters.

flats to four-bedroom apartments as well as special units and
272 carparks and 75 motorcycle parks in three underground
levels. A prestigious clubhouse decided by Mr. William Chang,
a famous art director and star designer in Hong Kong which
provides a wide range of facilities including swimming pool,
gym room, well equipped kitchen, yoga and dance room,
etc. Tiffany House has obtained its occupational permit in
December 2019. Tiffany House will be managed by a supreme
management service team formed by the Group itself. With the
success history of managing Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau, the
Group is confident that the management services in Tiffany
House will be a milestone in Macau and will benefit the sales
of Tiffany House. In order to increase the marketability of
Tiffany House, the Group decided to set up a sales gallery in
Hong Kong so as to absorb potential buyers outside Macau.
Both Hong Kong and Macau sales galleries are in service
in the beginning of year 2022. Due to the influence of the
Covid-19 and the social distancing and preventive measures
in China, Hong Kong and Macau, the launch for sales of
Tiffany House delayed to October 2022. However, the sales
of Tiffany House slowed down again because Covid-19 widely
spread in China and Macau in November and December
2022. The first sale of the residential unit in Tiffany House
completed in January 2023. Therefore, no revenue and income
were recorded for the year ended 31st December 2022. With
the gradual lifting of anti-epidemic measures and release of
inbound control measures in China, Hong Kong and Macau,
the sales of Tiffany House has resumed after the 2023 Chinese
new year. Sales started at Tower 1 of Tiffany House. Tower 2
which facing Golden Lotus Square and Guia Hill are expected
to have higher unit price will start sales later. The Group is
temporary not intended to start sales of the commercial units
and will consider to change them for rental purpose.

The Group’s luxury residential apartment with two car parking
spaces in Taiwan (the “Taiwan Property”) which is held as
an investment property for long term capital growth. It has

finished its renovation in year 2022 and is ready for rent.



H® P W 2 & 43 Pt Management Discussion and Analysis

HE-ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HBRZZE=Z—F+=A
ST—HLEFE BESSRENERERRELEE
Bz - MESEEEAB34,066,0008 L (ZE=—F:
38,441,000 7T) - PHEEBRFERREURNE s REME
ERTISHE  EERTHRAX -

RoB--—FrBRILEEER

EELEEEK

AEBEEB LR EBWERRER[FINR] R
HEADHBERER -

RZZZ—F REEBRLLERK 2 W R1,595,0008

JTME S M EEA7,866,0008 7T - AEBRR MRS
FHRINEEREMERS B LMTE - Rl - A&
BRBEZEERA BENBNERRTEZHGHE
Z2-Fi [FINRIR-_E-_—FAAERILE
MUREBELRZEBWEEHAEEBLE -

HEDE

RSB E e YE4,0008 L 0% (Z T = —F ¢
15,0008 7T 50% ) J& B & 7 + 3,704,0007 7T 896% (=
T~ —4F : 3,437,000 70 893% ) B EFE - %171,000
BIL4% (T = —1F : 265,000/ T k7% ) R B E b i

=}
on ©

THEX

BHE-_T-_—_F+-_A=T—RALFE KEFEK
BEKZITHREY B88 1740008 T (Z T — 4 :
75,063,000/ 70) + B HN17% 2 ME B AR S 1@ 7
B _EF1%Z£44,380,000/8 7T (= F = — 4 : 43,984,000

BIT) 0 BN EIBIERE13,527,0008 T (ZE - —F : %
F2,243,0008 L) R EKRE e TE L RIE MM E K
ZIBRY TR o

No revenue was recorded from property development and
investment operations for the years ended 31st December
2022 and 31st December 2021 and its segment loss amounted
to HK$34,066,000 (2021: HK$38,441,000). The segment loss
mainly included marketing, operational and administrative
expenses incurred in Tiffany House.

Discontinued Operation in Year 2021
Restaurant Operations
The Group’s restaurant “Obba Bar” served various high-ended

international cuisine and was located in the Group’s property
in Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

In year 2021,
to HK$1,595,000 and its segment loss amounted to
HK$7,866,000. The Group had worked on every effort to
improve the performance of the operation of Obba Bar and its

revenue from restaurant operations amounted

revenue showed slight improvement. However, after careful
consideration, the Group considered that the location of the
restaurant was a fatal factor for its unsatisfactory performance.
Therefore, Obba Bar ceased its operation at end of September
2021 and the owned property in Sheung Wan, Hong Kong was

disposed by the Group.

Geographical Segments

For the geographical segments, revenue of HK$4,000 or
0% (2021: HK$15,000 or 0%) was sourced from Hong
Kong, HK$3,704,000 or 96% (2021: HK$3,437,000 or 93%)
was sourced from China and HK$171,000 or 4% (2021:
HK$265,000 or 7%) was sourced from other territories.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31st December 2022, administrative
expenses from continuing operations amounted to
HK$88,174,000 (2021: HK$75,063,000),
increase of 17%. The increase mainly represented 1%

representing an

increase in employee benefit expenses which amounted to
HK$44,380,000 (2021: HK$43,984,000), net foreign exchange
loss of HK$13,527,000 (2021: gain of HK$2,243,000) and
generally increase in maintenance and operation expenses
incurred in Tiffany House.
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Marketing and Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31st December 2022, marketing and
distribution expenses from continuing operations amounted to
HK$11,111,000 (2021: HK$158,000). The increase was mainly
due to marketing expenses of Tiffany House which included
advertisement in TV, newspapers and billboards and printing
costs in promotional materials.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31st December 2022, finance costs
amounted to HK$2,414,000 (2021: HK$1,833,000) were
charged to the consolidated income statement and interests
financing construction costs of Tiffany House amounted to
HK$98,861,000 (2021: HK$54,576,000) were capitalised to
stock of properties.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31st December 2022, the Group had total assets of
HK$5,247,857,000 (2021: HK$5,285,909,000) and a net current
assets of HK$3,809,784,000 (2021: HK$2,849,594,000),
representing a current ratio of 6.1 (2021: 2.3). The Group had
cash and bank balances and time deposits of HK$75,764,000
(2021: HK$102,300,000).

As at 31st December 2022, the Group had total borrowing
of HK$1,694,397,000 (2021: HK$1,576,191,000) which
comprised a secured bank term loan (the “Term Loan”) of
HK$1,600,000,000 (2021: HK$1,478,850,000), a loan note (the
“Note Payable”) of HK$86,898,000 (2021: HK$96,360,000)
and lease liabilities of HK$7,499,000 (2021: HK$981,000).
The purpose of the Term Loan is to finance the construction
costs and any other soft costs in relation to Tiffany House
and secured by first legal mortgage over properties of
Tiffany House with carrying amount as stock of properties of
HK$2,306,108,000 (2021: HK$2,159,307,000), interest bearing
at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) for three or
six month period selected by the borrower plus margin of
3% (2021:
repayable on 13th September 2020. The maturity date of the

3.35%) per annum for each interest period and

Term Loan was extended to 15th September 2022 and further
extended to 15th December 2022. By a second supplementary
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agreement on 13th December 2022 (the “Second Deed”), the
Term Loan was restructured with facility amount increased
from HK$1,600,000,000 to HK$1,700,000,000 and the purpose
of the additional HK$100,000,000 is to finance the finance
costs for the Term Loan. The interest rate of the Term Loan
is at HIBOR for three or six month period selected by the
borrower plus margin of 3% per annum for each interest period
and its repayment schedules are as follows:

Repayment Date Repayment

(counting from date of Amount
Instalments  Second Deed) (HKS$)
1 12 months 50,000,000
2 18 months 160,000,000
3 24 months 160,000,000
4 30 months 160,000,000
5 36 months 160,000,000
6 42 months 160,000,000
7 48 months (final maturity) 850,000,000

The Note Payable is interest bearing at interest rate ranging
from 1.25% to 1.5% per annum for variable periods and has
renewed up to 13th January 2023. Investment property in
carrying amount of HK$149,114,000 has been pledged to a
bank for obtaining its guarantee for the Note Payable issued
by the Group that was used to finance the operation in Taiwan.
The Group can apply for renewal of the Note Payable for
variable periods and the bank guarantee can renew annually
until 24th January 2051 or upon early termination.

As at 31st December 2022, the Group had banking
facilities amounting to HK$1,700,000,000 which were
utilized to the extent of HK$1,600,000,000. The Group’s
gearing was acceptable during the year with total debts of
HK$1,694,397,000 (2021: HK$1,576,191,000) against owners’
equity of HK$2,950,433,000 (2021: HK$3,064,638,000). This
represents a gearing ratio, calculated in the basis of the

Group’s total borrowings over owners’ equity of 57% (2021:
51%).
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The net proceeds from the allotment and issue of
1,807,406,986 rights shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.25 per share on 6th August 2018 of approximately
HK$448,850,000, of which HK$98,850,000 was used to
fund the film and television drama series related business
operations as intended during the years ended 31st December
2018 and 31st December 2019; and HK$350,000,000 was
originally intended to be applied to finance the business
operations of the property development and investment.
On 27th January 2021, the Group utilized proceeds of
approximately HK$160,365,000 for completion of the
acquisition of the Taiwan Property. For the year ended 31st
December 2021, HK$60,000,000 and HK$68,580,000 were
utilized for the marketing and promotion of Tiffany House and
advance payment of construction costs for Tiffany House
respectively with remaining proceeds of HK$61,055,000
was unused. For the year ended 31st December 2022, the
remaining proceeds were fully utilized for the marketing and
promotion and construction costs of Tiffany House. As such,
the proceeds from the rights issue were fully utilized as
intended.

As at the date of approving these annual results and as at
31st December 2022, the fair value of the Group’s equity
securities listed in Hong Kong held at 31st December 2022
was approximately HK$48,054,000 (excluded fair value of
equity security at HK$18,405,000 as at 31st December 2022
which was privatized in March 2023 with net proceeds of
HK$19,316,000) and HK$69,378,000 respectively. During the
year ended 31st December 2022, the Group did not acquired
or disposed any equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The
loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss of HK$18,153,000 was resulted
from change in fair values of equity securities listed in Hong
Kong between the year ended 31st December 2022 and 31st
December 2021. As at 31st December 2022, no single equity
security’s fair value held by the Group accounted for 5% or
more of the total assets of the Group.




H® P W 2 & 43 Pt Management Discussion and Analysis

FA AR QE A PSR $£25,000,00008 A 2 &) &
B - 484 819,905,000 7T ° 25,000,0000% ¥ i@
BROR-_BZ_F+A-TRAFHE RZT_=
TZA=Z+—B AARFHEHENERITROLER
1 %2,460,850,479 (Z T =—F+=-A=+—H:
2,485,850,479/%) - 1 H B % 17 IR X /324,608,000 7T
(ZE=Z—F+=ZHA=+—H : 24,858,000/ 7T) °

BHE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLEFER HEARF
B RITHE ERE 176 K% BREWmKESH -

EEHEHA

RZTZZF+=A=+—H " W#FK2306,108,000
BTIRARBIZENBRARTFEHEZENERER AR (1
EMERERBEEL) cEBEACDERIERTER
R T HER1T15 B 1,700,000,0007% 7T 2 3 & 0 M€ B
17 7%249,0008 TEERPIMENEFEREMNREME
ERRESEMTRMBUNT - REREE149,114,000% 7T
ZEREMECER T —HRT UREAEEMBITZE
HEBREBER -

BE 5 o Ben K% ¥

AEEXRSBNRS  EERAGBNET R - XU
HaBRARKIE - A\REEXRDZEBREIERS
EFRE RERBIMELBRX AKBEEEINER
WRBINBEREEHHES HERZRBRAR
HE URREFETAMETED -

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of
25,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an aggregate
price of HK$19,905,000 on the Stock Exchange. 25,000,000
ordinary shares were cancelled on 20th October 2022.
The total number of issued shares of the Company after
its cancellation as at 31st December 2022 was reduced to
2,460,850,479 (31st December 2021: 2,485,850,479) and its
issued share capital was HK$24,608,000 (31st December
2021: HK$24,858,000).

During the year ended 31st December 2022, no share options
of the Company were outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31st December 2022, stock of properties in amount of
HK$2,306,108,000 and quota capital of China Star Creative
Development Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company which is engaged in the business of property
development and investment had been pledged for banking
facilities of HK$1,700,000,000 granted to the Group, and
time deposit in amount of HK$249,000 had been pledged
as guarantee to Macau government for deposits in the
development of stock of properties in Macau; and investment
property in carrying amount of HK$149,114,000 has been
pledged to a bank for obtaining its guarantee for the Note
Payable issued by the Group.

EXCHANGE RISK AND HEDGING

The majority of the Group’s transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, Macau Pataca, United
States Dollar, New Taiwan Dollar and Renminbi. The exposure
to fluctuation in exchange rates in Renminbi mainly arises
from receipts and expenditure incurred in film investment,
production and distribution. The Group has closely monitors its
exposure to this fluctuation and consider appropriate hedging
activities if necessary. The exposure to fluctuation in other
currencies is considered to be minimal and no hedge activity

is considered necessary.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December 2022, outstanding commitments by the
Group amounted to HK$134,923,000 (2021: HK$194,512,000),
of which HK$117,616,000 (2021: HK$171,981,000) as
development expenditure for stock of properties in Macau and
HK$17,307,000 (2021: HK$22,531,000) for film rights, films in
progress and film deposits.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December 2022,
contingent liability.

the Group had no material

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals during the year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31st December 2022,
staff (2021: 66 staff) with employee benefit expenses
(included directors’ remuneration) of HK$44,380,000 (2021:
HK$43,984,000) from the continuing operations, after
deducting government grants of HK$864,000 (2021: HK$nil)
related to Employment Support Scheme provided by the

the Group employed 81

Hong Kong Government, an increase of 1%. The increase in
headcount are mainly staff who are responsible for preparation
for sales and property management services of Tiffany
House in Macau. The directors believe that the quality of its
employees is the single most important factor in sustaining the
Group’s reputation and improving its profitability. The staff are
remunerated based on their work performance, professional
experience and prevailing industry practices. Apart from basic
salaries, pension fund, housing allowances, meal allowances,
medical schemes and discretionary bonuses, share options
are awarded to certain staff according to the assessment of
individual performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There is no significant event took place subsequent to end of

the reporting date.
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PROSPECT

Regarding the outlook for the property development and
investment operations, the property market in Macau shrunk
for many reasons including consecutive interest rate hikes,
the ongoing Russia-Ukraine war, a stock market crash, the
suspension of satellite casino operations, rising unemployment
rates, and repeated Covid-19 outbreaks. However, we expect
the forthcoming recovery in the tourism and gaming industries
will lead to a rebound in the housing market in the second
quarter of 2023, in the wake of progressive relaxations of
pandemic prevention policies and a gradual resumption of
economic activity. Despite these environmental factors, year
2023 is expected to be a fruitful year of the Group as Tiffany
House will start to record revenue and income. Both cash flow
and revenue are expected to improve in the coming year.

Regarding the outlook for film market in 2023, the Group still
cannot be too optimistic, but there will definitely be more
and more blockbuster films willing to be released, and the
audience’s willingness to watch movies will gradually increase.
The Group expects film market should be able to have a
comparative great recovery in the coming summer. Because
on the one hand, the toxicity of the virus in summer is relatively
weak, and on the other hand, students are on summer vacation
and watching movies in summer vacation has always been
an important option. The Group will monitor the development
of the film industry and gradually start film production upon
suitable story board.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to strive to achieve
healthy and stable growth by enhancing profitability, maximize
its investment return and position to appropriate business

opportunity.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. HEUNG Wah Keung, aged 74, is the Chairman and
executive director of the Company. He is the husband of
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany, Vice Chairman and executive
director of the Company. He has 50 years of experience in the
entertainment and multimedia industries. He was the founder
of Win’s Entertainment Limited (“Win’s”) and One Hundred
Years of Film Company Limited (“One Hundred Years”), which
produces films recommended by audiences and distributors
around the world. He is also the honorable chairman and
director of Hong Kong Kowloon and New Territories Motion
Picture Industry Association Limited. Mr. Heung was appointed
as an executive director of the Company in 1996.

Ms. CHEN Ming Yin, Tiffany, aged 66, is the Vice Chairman
and executive director of the Company and the wife of Mr.
Heung Wah Keung. She has nearly 40 years of experience
in the entertainment and multimedia industries and over
15 years of experience in property development. Ms. Chen
has produced a number of blockbuster films for Win's and
One Hundred Years. In 2003, she was selected as one
of 2003 Women in Entertainment — International Power by
The Hollywood Reporter. For the years from 2006 to 2010,
Ms. Chen was involved in the planning, monitoring and
management of the renovation and operation of “Beijing
Jianguo Apartment” into serviced apartment by Beijing Shama
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. Ms. Chen was responsible
for all planning and monitoring of the purchase of Macau
Kingsway Hotel in 2007 and then renovated and designed
it into two years later’s Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau that
launched in August 2009. Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau has
been awarded with several international accolades, which
included the “5th China Hotel Starlight Awards 2009 - Best
Designed Boutique Hotel of China” and the “2012 TripAdvisor
Travelers’ Choice 2012 Winner — Trendiest”. In respect of
promoting the notion of environmental protection, Hotel Lan
Kwai Fong Macau has won the “AHF Asia Awards 2010 -
Leading Green Hotel of Asia” and the “Macao Green Hotel
Award 2010 — Bronze Award”. The result has been obvious
and encouraging. Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau was disposed
in 2018 and brought considerable profit to the Group. Other
than the duties and responsibilities of the Vice Chairman, Ms.
Chen is also responsible for implementation, monitoring and
management of the approval, planning and development of
the property development projects of the Group. The Group’s
property development project, Tiffany House is responsible by
Mr. Chen. Ms. Chen was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in 1996.
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Ms. LI Yuk Sheung, aged 55, is an executive director of
the Company. She has more than 20 years experience of
management in the entertainment and multimedia industries.
She is responsible for the overall operations, and is familiar
with the Group’s system. Ms. Li was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in 2001.

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing, aged 82, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company. He has over 50 years
of experience in the film distribution industry and founded
Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. He has been the
chairman of Hong Kong Kowloon and New Territories Motion
Picture Industry Association Limited since 1991 and was the
chairman of Hong Kong Film Awards Association from 1992 to
1995. He was also appointed as a consultant of the China Film
Association. Mr. Hung is also a member of the 1,500-member-
HKSAR Election Committee and a vice-chairman of the Cultural
Profession Committee of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and
Macau Cooperation Promotion Council (BER%E &R A B2
HEeXtHEELZEgEETEE), and was elected the vice-
chairman of Film Association of Guangdong, China for the
period from November 2016 to November 2021. Mr. Hung
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the HKSAR
Government in 2005 in recognition of his contribution to the
Hong Kong film industry.

Mr. Hung was an executive director of Universe Entertainment
and Culture Group Limited (stock code: 1046) during the
period from 16th October 2013 to 1st February 2019 and re-
designated as a non-executive director during the period from
1st February 2019 to 31st July 2019. He was also appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Harbour Digital
Asset Capital Limited (Formerly known as “Unity Investments
Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 913), Miko International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1247) and Oshidori International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 622) since 10th October
2014, 14th April 2016 and 6th April 2017 respectively. All
these companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Mr. Hung was an executive director of Eje (Hong Kong)
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8101) from 23rd May 2016
to 21st December 2022. He was also the chairman of the
board of Eje (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited during the period
from 23rd May 2016 to 20th November 2017. Mr. Hung was
appointed as an Independent non-executive director of Koala
Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8226), since 15th May
2015. Both companies are listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Hung was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in 1996.
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Mr. HO Wai Chi, Paul, aged 71, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company. He is the managing partner
of Paul W. C. Ho & Company, Certified Public Accountants
(Practising), and is an associate of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, United Kingdom and
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Ho is currently an independent non-executive
director of Ngai Hing Hong Company Limited (stock code:
1047), a company is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Ho was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company in 1996.

Mr. TAlI Kwok Leung, Alexander, aged 65, is appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 4th January 2023. Mr. Tai is graduated from Victoria
University of Wellington in New Zealand with a degree in
Bachelor of Commerce and Administration in 1982 and
became an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 1983. Mr. Tai has extensive
accountancy, corporate finance and investment experience
in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. Tai is a partner of VMS
Group, a licensed corporation under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
to conduct Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities. Mr. Tai is a member
of Shandong Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. Tai was an independent non-executive director of G & M
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 6038), Shengjing Bank Co, Ltd.
(Stock Code: 2066) and AAG Energy Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 2686) which are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since 12th May 2017 and 7th August 2018 and 24th
August 2018, respectively. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Anhui Conch Cement Company Limited
(Stock Code: 0914) and Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (Stock Code: 0590) and Jiayuan International Group
Limited (Stock Code: 2768), which are all listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from 28th May 2013 to 30th May
2019, from 24th July 2008 to 20th August 2020 and from 12th
February 2016 to 30th June 2022, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. TSANG Anna, aged 58, is the Legal Administration
Manager of the Group. She has over 15 years of experience
in the TV & Film Industry. Ms. Tsang has extensive
experience across production, distribution and library content
management of the Film & TV business and expertise in legal
related aspects in Film & TV production, distribution and
copyright enforcement. Ms. Tsang oversees the Department
of Legal Administration, Film & TV Distribution and Content
Library Management of the Group. Ms. Tsang also involves
negotiation on Film & TV production and distribution projects
and took on responsibility of Film & TV production, distribution
and copyright legal-related aspect for the Group. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Tsang worked at the Legal Department
of Hong Kong Hospital Authority and TVBI International
Limited. Ms. Tsang has completed Company Secretary
studies and had been studied LLB of University of London
and a graduate of Diploma for Legal Studies. Ms. Tsang has
achieved the qualification to use the benchmark as Legal
Executive of The Law Society of Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang joined
the Group in 1999.

Mr. WAI Kai Fai, aged 60, is the Film and TV Consultant of the
Group. Mr. Wai is a renowned Film and TV Producer, Director
and Scriptwriter, he has produced, directed and script-written
films and TV drama for more than 20 years. Mr. Wai’'s Feature
Films Production has been invited by Worldwide Film Festival
for screening and nomination for awards, many of Mr. Wai's
Feature Film earned awards in Hong Kong and Worldwide.
Mr. Wai's TV series “Look Back with Anger” and “The Greed of
Man” is hugely popular on the premiere run, after many years,
re-run of these TV series is also a hit and has pull in lots of
new generation audience. The feature films produced and/or
directed by Mr. Wai include “Needing You”, “Love On A Diet”,
“Fat Choi Spirit”, “My Left Eye Sees Ghosts”, “Love For All
Seasons”, “Running On Karma”, “Fantasia”, “The Shopaholics”,

“Mad Detective”, “Written By” etc. Mr. Wai joined the Group in
2000.
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Ms. WONG Shuk Han, Dorothy, aged 57, is the Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Company. She
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
degree in Accountancy in 1990. She is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Prior to her employment with the Group, she
worked with an international accounting firm for over 10 years.
Ms. Wong is primarily responsible for the supervision of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting procedures and
internal control system. Ms. Wong joined the Group in 2001.

Ms. YEUNG Porlin, age 57, is the Regional Director of
the Group. She has over 15 years experience in TV and
film industry and as of 2006 she has extend her scope of
services to serviced residences, hotel operations and project
development in Beijing and Macau. In 2013, Ms. Yeung was
appointed as the Executive Director of Hotel Lan Kwai Fong
Macau. She graduated from the University of Leicester,
UK with a MBA and is an Advanced Certification holder
in Hospitality Management at the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms. Yeung joined the Group in 1997. Ms. Yeung
is actively participating in the Company’s residential and

commercial real estate project in Macau.
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INTRODUCTION

The board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company and the management of the Company are committed
to establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The maintenance of high standard of business
ethics and corporate governance practices has always
been one of the goals of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By
applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will
be improved thereby instilling confidence to shareholders
and the public. Throughout the financial year ended 31st
December 2022, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with all the applicable code provisions laid
down in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
The Board
has, since the amendments to the Listing Rules regarding

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

corporate governance practices were first proposed by the
Stock Exchange, continued to monitor and review the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance. Meetings were held throughout the year
and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes
were issued to directors and senior management of the
Group to ensure awareness to issues regarding corporate

governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
VALUE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with
a view to ensuring that its objectives are met.

The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure:

(a) satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

(b) that the interests of those who deal with the Company
are safeguarded;

(c) that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

(d) the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

(e) that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Board is responsible for determining the mission and
value of the Company, promoting the corporate culture among
its operations and all the staff and incorporating them into
business decisions and operations to ensure that the value
and business strategies of the Company are in line with the

corporate culture.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of the
Company including: the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets and overall
strategies, material transaction, appointment of directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to the senior executives. These
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions of the
Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation
and management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by these senior executives
and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its
responsibilities.

Composition

As at 31st December 2022, the Board comprises six Directors:
including three executive Directors, namely, Mr. Heung Wah
Keung (Chairman), Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany (Vice Chairman,
performing the role of chief executive as stated in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules) and Ms. Li Yuk Sheung and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Hung Cho
Sing, Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul and Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert.
On 4th January 2023, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert was resigned as an independent
non-executive Director.

One of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The number of
independent non-executive Directors is more than one-third
of the Board. Biographical details of the Directors are set out
in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 25.
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The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is
considered by the Board to be a reasonable balance between
executive and non-executive Directors. The Board is of the
opinion that such balance can provide adequate checks and
balances for safeguarding the interests of shareholders and of
the Group. The independent non-executive Directors provide
to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience
so that independent judgement can effectively be exercised
as well as ensuring that the interests of all shareholders are
taken into account. They are also responsible for participating
in Board meetings, dealing with potential conflicts of interest,
serving on audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee, scrutinising the Group’s performance
and reporting. Through their active participation, they provide
their valuable skills, expertise and experience to the Board and
the committees on which they serve so that the management
process can be critically reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field
of expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal
and professional ethics and integrity. All the Directors give
sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs. The
Board believes that the ratio of executive to non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide checks and
balances that safeguard the interest of the shareholders and
the Company as a whole.

All the directors, including the non-executive directors, will be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election every three
years in accordance with the Listing Rules and the bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”). The remuneration of the
directors are determined with reference to their duties and to
the prevailing market conditions.

The Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of
new director and nomination for re-election by shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company with reference to
recommendations from the Nomination Committee. Under the
Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting after his appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the next following annual
general meeting. Any new director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 99(A) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Ho Wai Chi,
Paul will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director for more than nine years. The Company
has received confirmation of independence from Mr. Ho
according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules Mr. Ho has not
engaged in any executive management of the Group. Taking
into consideration of his independent scope of work in the
past years, the Directors consider Mr. Ho to be independent
under the Listing Rules despite the fact that he has served
the Company for more than nine years. Mr. Ho has confirmed
that he will continue to devote sufficient time for the discharge
of his functions and responsibilities as independent non-
executive Director. With his background and experience,
Mr. Ho are fully aware of the responsibilities and expected
time involvements in the Company. Based on the foregoing,
the Board believes that the positions of Mr. Ho outside the
Company will not affect him in maintaining his current roles
in, and his functions and responsibilities for, the Company.
The Board also believes that the continued tenure of Mr. Ho
brings considerable stability to the Board and the Board has
benefited greatly from the presence of Mr. Ho who has over
time gained valuable insight into the Group.

Based on the abovementioned and in accordance with code
provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, the re-election of Mr. Ho
Wai Chi, Paul will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting for the year ended 31st December 2022.

Pursuant to Bye-laws 102(B) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung, Alexander, appointed on 4th January 2023, will hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander shall then retire at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, will offer himself for re-election.
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CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN

The roles of Mr. Heung Wah Keung (Chairman) and Ms. Chen
Ming Yin, Tiffany (Vice Chairman, performing the role of chief
executive as stated in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules) are
separate and not performed by the same individual to ensure
that there is a clear division of responsibilities at the board
level to entail a balance of power and authority.

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board,
for ensuring that the Board functions effectively, and for
ensuring effective communication of the views of the Board
with the shareholders. In performing this role, the Chairman’s
responsibilities include chairing meetings of the Board;
ensuring the board meetings receive accurate, complete,
timely, reliable and clear information concerning affairs of the
Company; ensuring constructive relations between executive
and non-executive Directors; formulating for discussion
and decision, questions which have been moved for the
consideration of the Board; ensuring that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings; acting
as liaison between the Board and management; in consultation
with the Vice Chairman and the company secretary or his/her
designated delegates, drawing up and approving the agenda
for each board meeting taking into account, where appropriate,
any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in
the agenda; take primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures established;
and at least annually hold meetings with independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The Vice Chairman is primarily responsible for recommending
policy and strategic directions for Board approval;
implementing the strategies and policies adopted by the
Board; and conducting the day-to-day operation of the

Company.




BRETRA ARA2FA=-ZRBUFLTES  H
FEI-RBUNFNTEFAREENBERERAE
AEECERERBUNNTEEZCFRBIMERE -
REBEEMRREABMGHERES  ARRARAZFES
BRBIAL-

MEBAESHERZARBAT HEHBE2EBUF
HOTEFZHM W BRARBAZTRAERLEERE
FREMRARLLZARIN EFEXECHLBEERBE -

HE T -+ -_A=+—HUIEFER BLBILF
W1TE B 2B € £240,0008 T °

FRN EFECRIAEREZTSIESBEUMNEAM
EROBBINEERRE BEBUTREREE &
EERRARFARFARNEIIERESTEARNABRAN
BYLER:

(1) S50%EZEKNERBUIENTES

(2) EFEIREMABUFHNTESEREEME
EHENBERATROTNFESS  BETERTF
BREFCIRMAEKESEZBRRBUER

(3) HUEBIFRATEFNREENR  AMMREHE
BUEXBAUBHRERBTHARANBE

(4) MABUFATERARHRRE LWRAFE313
FREFDcBUUEREFEERBERE &

(5) YEABUFATEERTAAEREBERZ
VAR HE A 5L 2 7 B o

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
throughout the year at least one of whom has appropriate
financial management expertise, in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Group has received from each independent non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers these Directors to be independent
under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such
in all corporate communications containing the names of the
Directors. In addition, there is no material relationship among
members of the Board except that Mr. Heung Wah Keung, the
Chairman, is the husband of Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany, the
Vice Chairman of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
remunerated at HK$240,000 for the year ended 31st December
2022.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. Taking into account the
following channels and mechanisms, the Board considered
that the Company had in place mechanisms which remain
effective to ensure a strong independent element within the
Board:

(1) 50% of the Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

(2) annual meeting between the chairman of the Board
and all independent non-executive Directors without
presence of other directors provide an effective
platform for the chairman of the Board to listen to
independent views on various issues concerning the
Group;

(3) independent professional advice would be provided to
independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable
request to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company;

(4) all independent non-executive directors are required to
provide an annual written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

(5) no equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements are granted to independent non-executive
Director.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times every
year to determine overall strategic direction and objectives
and approve interim and annual results, and other significant
matters. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meeting
are given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion.
Apart from regular meetings, senior management from time
to time provides Directors with information on activities and
development of the businesses of the Group. The company
secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for the
meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations
in connection with the meetings are observed and complied
with. The finalized agenda and accompanying board papers
are then sent to all Directors at least three days prior to the
meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed minutes
of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and
decision resolved at the meetings.

During the year under review, ten board meetings were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors at the general
meetings, meetings of the Board and its respective committees
are as follows:

HESRERH
Number of meetings attended
BRRBEE =g BEREES FMzEES REZEE
PN - a5 - a5 -
Annual Audit Remuneration Nomination
EEnE General Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BITES
Executive Directors
I 11 10/10* T A 22
Heung Wah Keung N/A N/A
EEES 1/1 9/9 i A 1/1 i A
Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany N/A N/A
TR il 9/9 TEA TEA NiE A
Li Yuk Sheung N/A N/A N/A
BIYFHTES
Independent Non-Executive Directors
HEE 11 10/10* 3/3 11 2/2
Hung Cho Sing
BN 1/1 10/10* 3/3 i A A
Ho Wai Chi, Paul N/A N/A
B 11 10/10* 3/3 11 2/2

Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert

O HEP - REFECARHMEERIRELARTERLR
ZERTEBIIFRITEERT -

*

Included a Board meeting where the Chairman of the Board met
with independent non-executive Directors, without the presence of
the executive Directors.
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor
financial performances and discuss the annual and interim
results, set annual budgets, as well as discuss and decide on
other significant matters. The execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to management of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions by the Board together with concerns
raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts of
board minutes are circulated to all directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by
any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information
at all times as the Chairman ensures that the management
will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner. They may make further
enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or appropriate to
request for further information.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services
of the company secretary, who is held responsible for
providing Directors with board papers and related materials
and ensuring that all proper Board procedures are followed
and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied with.
If considered necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they
may retain the service of independent professional advisers at
the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a director, such matter will be
discussed in a physical meeting and will not be dealt with
by way of written resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings
dealing with such conflict issues.

The board committees, including the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, have
all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
board meetings for all committee meetings.
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The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are the primary forum for communication by
the Company with the shareholders and for shareholders’
participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at meetings on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
must keep breast of their collective responsibilities as
directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the
Group provides a comprehensive and formal induction to each
newly appointed director upon his/her appointment. Briefings
and orientations are provided and organised to ensure that
the new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a director as well as the business
and governance practices of the Group. Such programmes
are tailored to each individual director taking into account
their background and expertise. The company secretary will
continuously update all Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors.

All Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes provided or procured by the Group,
such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals
update materials regarding laws and regulation and the Listing
Rules, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
relation to their contribution to the Board. A record of the
training received by the respective Directors are kept and

updated by the company secretary of the Company.
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The participation by individual Director in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a Director of a
listed company in 2022 is recorded in the following table.

HEEERTE SHEMTEBER

BHER mieE EE

Attending

Reading external

regulatory seminars/

EEnE Name of Director updates programmes

HITES Executive Directors

M Heung Wah Keung v/
ek B 28 Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany v

TERE Li Yuk Sheung v v

JIHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

//J‘EEE Hung Cho Sing v/

g x Ho Wai Chi, Paul v v

BRI Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert v v/

REEHREEREZARBREFALAKEREER

ABARRAHETZBUEE REE  UREME
KA -

1544
FHEZEECERY YAEMATREARBERE-
RZE-_—F+-_A=Z+-—B FHZEeHMEBEL

FHTEE (MHEEELE R ENRAL) R—BATTE
= (BRAE L) Bk - HEELREBUNZES 2 E/F -
R-ZTE-_=F—FANB SERELEZTREEMRE
ERATWNEESZRE -

FHEZESRANERANERSHBHFMBRMEEA
FREBEENRRERABNTH U AKE @GR
TEELRAEEABNFHEBERNESSRHEEZSE
HEBERIEZRMEBEREAEIR WRRER
2-NARREXBER -FHZBENERHEMER
ABITERE -

o
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LHE - -FHEEEBFRIBITREH -
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Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter
on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the number and
nature of offices held by such Director in public companies
and organizations and other significant commitments.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee was formed with specific
written terms of reference. As at 31st December 2022, the
remuneration committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Mr. Tang
Chak Lam, Gilbert, and an executive Director, namely, Ms.
Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany. Mr. Hung Cho Sing is the chairman
of the committee. On 4th January 2023, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung,
Alexander was appointed and Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert
resigned as a member of the remuneration committee.

The remuneration committee is responsible for formulating
and recommending to the Board the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration for all directors and senior
management, and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management of the Group. This
committee consults with the Chairman on its proposals and
recommendations and has access to professional advice
if deemed necessary. The remuneration committee is also
provided with other resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the remuneration committee
are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. The remuneration committee meets at
least once a year.
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During the year under review, the remuneration committee
held one meeting to determine the remuneration package of
each executive directors, independent non-executive directors
and the staff of the Group for making recommendations to the
Board for approval.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group for
the year ended 31st December 2022 by band is set out below:
Remuneration band Number of individuals
Up to HK$500,000

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

—_ a4

Further details of the executive Directors’ emoluments for the
year ended 31st December 2022 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year, a new share option scheme was reviewed by
the Board (the “2022 Option Scheme”). Pursuant to a resolution
passed at an annual general meeting of the Company held
on 29th June 2022, the Company adopted the 2022 Option
Scheme to replace the share option scheme adopted on 28th
June 2012. Particulars of the 2022 Option Scheme are set out
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Apart from the 2022 Option Scheme, the Company has no
other share option scheme in place as at 31st December 2022.

No share option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled during the year ended 31st December
2022.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee was formed with specific written
terms of reference. As at 31st December 2022, the nomination
committee consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert and Mr. Hung
Cho Sing, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Heung Wah
Keung. Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert is the chairman of the
nomination committee. On 4th January 2023, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung, Alexander was appointed and Mr. Tang Chak Lam,
Gilbert resigned as chairman of nomination committee.

The duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually,
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting individuals nominated for directorship,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the vice
chairman. The nomination committee is also provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where necessary,
the nomination committee can seek independent professional
advice, at the Group’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.
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The Company has an Nomination Policy governing nomination
practices and procedures. The Nomination Committee
considers a variety of factors in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate, including:

(1) Reputation for integrity;

(2) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
business and industry;

(3) Commitment in respect of time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business, including devoting adequate
time for preparation and participation in meetings,
training and other Board or Company associated
activities;

(4) Diversity in all aspects, including, but not limited to,
gender, age, cultural, educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge, experience and length
of service;

(5) Ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(6) Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director;
and

(7) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

In considering the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of the individual, evaluate
the candidate using the same criteria regardless of the source
of the candidacy, and make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

In considering the re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall review the
retiring director’s overall contribution to the Company as well
as the selection criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will then make recommendations to the
Board for its consideration, with the Board determining whether
to recommend the proposed candidates for re-election at a
general meeting.
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The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee
are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. The nomination committee meets at least
once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held
two meetings to review and consider the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Nomination Policy, the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
the re-appointment of retiring Directors, the existing terms of
reference of the nomination committee and to review the Board
Diversity Policy.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) in
2013 and amended pursuant to the resolution of the Board
passed on 26th March 2019. The key terms of the Policy are
set out as follows.

1. Purpose

This Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board.

2. Vision

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diversified Board to enhance the quality of its
performance.

3. Policy Statement

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees an increase in diversity at
the Board level to be an essential element in the attainment
of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
In achieving diversity of the Board, a number of aspects
of each director candidate will be considered, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and the candidates will be
considered based on the objective criteria set out in this
Policy having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

4. Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the
candidate’s gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional skills and knowledge,
and working experience. The ultimate decision will be
made by the Board based on the merit and contribution
which the candidates may be able to bring to the Board.
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5. Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the
Board’s composition under the diversified perspectives
in the Corporate Governance Report, and monitor the
implementation of this Policy.

6. Review of this Policy

The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, on
an annual basis, to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Regarding gender diversity, the Board is of the view that
two female representatives on the Board are sufficient. The
nomination policy of the Company can ensure that there will
be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board which
continues the gender diversity within the Board. During
the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board considered that the current structure, size and
composition of the Board to be appropriate in enabling it to
perform a balanced and independent monitoring function
on management practices to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and diversity within the Board has been
achieved as the Board is composed of director from a diverse
range of background.

An analysis of the composition of the Board at 31st December
2022 is set out in the following:

G5 (17%)
Accounting (17%)

%)

Film %)

/o)

e %)

%51 Gender B%7 Designation  “F#c4E R Age Group & Expertise
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules requires that the audit committee must
comprise a minimum of three non-executive directors, at least
one of them should be independent non-executive directors
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The main duties of the
audit committee include the followings:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
external auditor before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific
terms of reference which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website. The audit committee is
provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its
duties.

As at 31st December 2022, the audit committee has three
members, namely Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul (chairman of the audit
committee), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Mr. Tang Chak Lam,
Gilbert, all being independent non-executive Directors. On 4th
January 2023, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander was appointed
and Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert resigned as a member of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a former
partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company within two
years on the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any
financial interest in the auditing firm. The audit committee has
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
During the year, the audit committee held three meetings to
review the Group’s annual report and interim report.
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The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the company’s internal
control and risk management review and processes as well as
the re-appointment of the external auditor. There is no material
uncertainty relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Group’s external auditors is HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has written to
the Audit Committee confirming that they are independent
with respect to the Company and that there is no relationship
between HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and the
Company which may reasonably be thought to bear on their
independence. In order to maintain the external auditors’
independence, it would only be employed for non-audit
work if the work does not compromise the external auditors’
independence and has been pre-approved by the Audit
Committee. During the year, the external auditors provided
audit services and non-audit services to the Group. Audit
services include services provided in connection with the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Non-audit
services include services such as issuance of special audit
reports or interim review or other regulatory purposes.

The Company’s annual report for the year ended 31st
December 2022 has been reviewed by the audit committee.
The financial statements for the year were audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The audit
committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for appointment as the
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

For the year ended 31st December 2022, the fees paid and
payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services
provided by the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
amounted to HK$800,000 and HK$137,000 respectively.
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The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit
committee meetings. In line with practices consistent with
Board meetings and other committee meetings, draft and final
versions of audit committee meeting minutes are circulated to
all members of the audit committee for comments, approval
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by directors of the Company on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code.
The Model Code is extended to relevant employees (including
any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary or
holding company who, because of his office or employment, is
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company
or its securities) in respect of their dealings in the Company’s
securities. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code and its code of conduct regarding directors securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31st December
2022. The Model Code also applies to other specified senior
management of the Group.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and its
associated corporations are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” on pages 50 to 62.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements, which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group. The auditors are responsible
to form an independent opinion, based on the audit, on the
financial statements prepared by the Directors and report the
opinion solely to the shareholders of the Company.

The Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 63 to 70 set out

the reporting responsibilities of the auditors of the Company
for the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary. The company secretary reports to the
Board, and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and for facilitating information flows and
communications among Directors as well as with shareholders
and the management. Ms. Wong Shuk Han, Dorothy has
been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from December 2001 and Ms. Wong has complied
with the professional training requirement of the Listing Rules
during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board will therefore be responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies, practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the Company’s code of conduct and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report, etc.

During the financial year ended 31st December 2022, the
Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated
with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matter and
an anti-corruption policy for achieving the highest standards
of business conduct with zero tolerance for corruption and
related malpractice.

The Group has overseen its risk management and internal
control system on an ongoing basis and conducted at least
annually.
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The Group has conducted a review of the implemented
system and procedures, including areas covering financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions during the year under review. The systems are
implemented to minimise the risk to which the Group is
exposed and is used as a management tool for the day-to-day
operation of business. The system can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the
Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Company and is currently of the view that there
is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within
the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from time to
time.

The Group had engaged Insightnetic Consultancy Limited,
external professional consultant, to conduct risk management
and independent internal control review for the year ended
31st December 2022 and the review is completed as at the
date of this annual report.

For the year ended 31st December 2022, the Board
considered the Group’s risk management and internal control
system as adequate and effective and that the Company has
complied with the code provisions on risk management and
internal control of the CG Code.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors
have formal letters of appointment setting out key terms and
conditions relative to their appointment. Due to the diversity
and volume of the Group’s business, responsibility in relation
to the daily operations and execution of the strategic business
plans are delegated to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, have specific terms
of reference clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities
of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to
their decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking

any actions.
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The Board review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the
Board to different committees to ensure that such delegations
are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Company
as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as determined
by the Board, in respect of the Board members and senior
management members of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders. The
commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be
reflected in many aspects.

In endeavouring to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders, the annual general meeting provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman was also actively involved in organizing, and
personally held the annual general meeting in 2022 in order
to ensure that shareholders’ views were communicated to the
Board. A separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in
respect of each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed
from time to time to ensure the Company conforms to the
best practices regarding corporate governance. The annual
general meeting circular, which is circulated to all shareholders
at least twenty-one days prior to the holding of the annual
general meeting, sets out the details in relation to each
resolution proposed, voting procedures (including procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll) and other relevant
information. At the Company’s 2022 annual general meeting, all
the resolutions were put to the vote by poll and Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office, was engaged as
scrutineer to ensure the votes were properly counted. The rights
of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders’ meeting are contained in the Bye-
laws.
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The Company also communicates to its shareholders through
its annual and interim reports. The Directors, company
secretary or other appropriate members of senior management
also respond promptly to inquiries from shareholders and
investors.

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of
the Company are the primary communication between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings. Board members,
appropriate management executives and external auditors
will attend annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions at the general meetings. The Company’s website
provides the Shareholders with corporate information, interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars issued
by the Company. It also provides information on corporate
governance of the Group and the compositions and functions
of the Board and the Board committees.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy during 2022 and is
of the view that communications with the shareholders have
been appropriate and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (the “SGM”)

The Board shall, on the requisition in writing of the
shareholders of not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company upon which all calls or other sums then due
have been paid, forthwith proceed to convene a SGM.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after three months from the date of

the original deposit.
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Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any
number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, or not less than 100 registered shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
entitled to receive notice of the next general meeting notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the company
secretary whose contact details are as follows:

Unit 3409, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower,
168-200 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2313 1888

Email: mail@chinastar.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to shareholders and
investors. The Company updates shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.chinastar.com.hk)
provides a communication platform to the public and the

shareholders.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a new dividend policy
on 26th March 2019. This policy aims to provide shareholders
of the Company and potential investors the dividend policy of
the Company.

Under the new dividend policy, the Company does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

a. the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements
and future plans of the Group;

b. the shareholders’ interests of the Company;
(o} the Company’s availability of reserves;
d. the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends

by the Company to its shareholders;

e. the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividends by the Company; and

f. any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
the Listing Rules, the Bye-laws and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31st December 2022, there had
been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

CONCLUSION

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31st December 2022.

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
significant in maintaining investor confidence and attracting
investment. The management will devote considerable effort
to strengthen and improve the standards of the corporate

governance of the Group.
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The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Group is principally engaged in investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and television
drama series, provision of artist management services and
properties development and investment.

The activities of its subsidiaries and joint venture are set out
in notes 42 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December
2022 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 71
and 72 and page 73 respectively.

The financial position of the Group as at 31st December 2022
is set out in the consolidated statement of financial position on
pages 74 and 75.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31st December
2022 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Five Year
Financial Summary” on pages 4 to 8, pages 9 to 20 and pages
242 to 243 respectively. Such discussions constitute part of

this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The performance and results of the Group’s businesses are
subject to various important factors, including the relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers. The board of
directors (the “Board”) believes that the employees are one
of the Group’s most important assets. The Company will strive
to ensure that the remuneration level of its employees is in
line with relevant industry practices and prevailing market
conditions. Remunerations of employees will be determined
based on their performance. Details of employees benefits are
included in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

In addition, the Board places great emphasis on a long-
term and stable relationship with the Company’s customers
and suppliers for the continuous success and growth of the
Group’s businesses. Generally, the Group strengthen its
customer service by providing superior quality service to the
users, and strive to achieve the fastest response times and
highest customer satisfaction levels in the relevant industry.

Supply chain is a critical part of all our operations. Our
suppliers must meet our selection criteria, which include
security, safety, cost, quality, delivery and reliability and those
requirement in our green procurement policy. The Group will
enter into suppliers’ agreements with qualified suppliers in
order to secure our services and products are being supplied
to our standard within our budgeted costs.

The Group’s continuous effort to build trust and emphasise
mutual benefits with its customers and suppliers has
contributed to the long-term relationships with them.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The possible business risks and uncertainties, interest rate
risk and foreign exchange risk facing by the Group are set out
in section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 9 to 20. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are set out in note 5 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operating its various business
segments in an environmentally-friendly manner. The Group
also educates its employees on their awareness in promoting
a “green” environment. The Board believes that operating
the Company’s businesses in an environmentally-friendly
manner is crucial to fulfilling the Company’s corporate social
responsibilities.

Details of the environmental policies and performance of
the Group will be disclosed in our environmental, social and
governance report to be published at the same time as this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year ended
31st December 2022, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group. Furthermore, as the
shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
the Company is also subject to the rules and requirements
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years ended 31st December
2022 is set out on pages 242 and 243.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment and investment property are set out in notes 17
and 18 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Details of movements during the year in stock of properties of
the Group are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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BORROWINGS

Details of movements during the year in borrowings regarding
lease liabilities, bank borrowings and financing note payables
of the Group are set out in notes 33, 34 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st December 2022, the total issued share capital of
the Company consisted of 2,460,850,479 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

RESERVES

Movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 76 to 78. Movements during the year in the reserves
of the Company are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,993,796,000 as at 31st December 2022
(2021: HK$2,091,926,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December 2022, revenue attributable
to the five largest customers of the Group combined accounted
for approximately 99% of the Group’s revenue and revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 42% of the Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31st December 2022, purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group combined
accounted for approximately 82% of the Group’s purchases
and purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 45% of the Group’s purchases.

None of the directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interests in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest

suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Heung Wah Keung
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany
Ms. Li Yuk Sheung

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Hung Cho Sing
Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert (resigned on 4th January 2023)
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander
(appointed on 4th January 2023)

Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert resigned as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 4th January
2023 due to his other business commitments which require
more of his time and dedication.

Under Bye-law 99(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Ho Wai
Chi, Paul shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election.

Under Bye-laws 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Tai
Kwok Leung, Alexander, appointed on 4th January 2023,
will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the
Company. Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander shall then retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election.

The term of office for each independent non-executive director
is the period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 21 to
254

AT
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into certain transactions
with parties regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable
accounting principles. These mainly relate to transactions
entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of business,
negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length
basis. Particulars of the material related party transactions of
the Group are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, these transactions do not constitute
“continuing connected transaction” or “connected transaction”
of the Group that need to be disclosed pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules except as disclosed in the following
section “Connected Transactions”.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29th November 2016, Best Combo Limited (“Best Combo”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as a lender,
and Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany (“Ms. Chen”), as a borrower,
entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”)
pursuant to which Best Combo has agreed to grant a fixed
term loan (the “Loan”) to Ms. Chen in the principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (subject to the loan amount adjustment) with
the final repayment date of the Loan (the “Final Repayment
Date”) falling on the expiry of 60 months from the drawdown
date of the Loan, being 5th April 2022. Further, pursuant to the
Loan Agreement, Ms. Chen has agreed to grant the call option
to Best Combo which allows Best Combo to require Ms. Chen
to sell the call option shares to it at the call option price at any
time within the date falling on the expiry of 60 months from the
drawdown date of the Loan (the “Exercisable Period”), being
5th April 2022. The transactions contemplated under the Loan
Agreement were approved by the independent shareholders of

the Company at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 31th March 2017.




# 3 & #t 4 Directors’ Report

RZEZZF—RAZ+NARZZEZ=ZF=ZA+—8"
Best Combo82fR 2z -5 BIET 37 55 = 17 3 2032 4% Je B iy
&t - Best Combo kX LEREN)FAR B ESE Y
R ER  CREEBERAZEEIREAHRT6E A
EmzBEZZ-_=F—A%A);: RI)ERITEHZE
BiRMAMEHeEAERzB (I =2 ==F—FAAH)
Al A ] 5 A

R-ZBE--F,A=-+WA ' Best CombokEL+2 3]

TE=MNENEE L Best CombokE L+ ERAE
(VERQRIESBIBREMER TEREENRBER

REAHESIEAER B (I —T-WFE—-HHERA) :
RNVERTEREARIABRITsIEAER 2 A (A
—E-ME-ARR)AEAERE - F=NERZEBMK
EREE-_MDERRBERIEK - R ERITE A E K
- MITEHTAELTER -

EoMHERRBRETORIEX LETRANE4EET
ARBIZEERDG BHRBREATARARARNTESER
IR - HZRHMEK EMRREI4AZE T AR T
CHABR S WEEBURRER-_ZT-__FAATHA
BIT7BRRENARG it - At - RBERAELTE
E-E_ME-ARA -FBZHNEXRREFEBIANARD
ARMAZEZFNAZT B Z@E -

BUFRTERHER  FoNDERRENERDFEE
BUBKORIRATEE FEARRAREBRROER
Mgs

B EXXPTIEEE SN

FAARARLBEEMBELS -

On 28th January 2022 and 11th February 2022, Best Combo
and Ms. Chen entered into a second deed of variation and a
side letter respectively, pursuant to which Best Combo and
Ms. Chen have agreed to (i) conditional upon the Company
having obtained approval from the independent shareholders
of the Company, extend the Final Repayment Date to the date
falling on the expiry of 69 months from the drawdown date,
i.e., bth January 2023; and (ii) extend the Exercisable Period
to any time within the date falling on the expiry of 69 months
from the drawdown date, i.e., 5th January 2023.

On 24th June 2022, Best Combo and Ms. Chen entered into
the third deed of variation, pursuant to which Best Combo and
Ms. Chen have agreed to (i) conditional upon the Company
having obtained approval from the independent shareholders
of the Company, extend the Final Repayment Date to the
date falling on the expiry of 81 months from the drawdown
date, i.e., 5th January 2024; and (ii) extend the Exercisable
Period to any time within the date falling on the expiry of 81
months from the drawdown date, i.e., 5th January 2024. The
third deed of variation superseded and replaced the second
deed of variation and the side letter. As the extension of the
Exercisable Period is unconditional, the Exercisable Period is
extended accordingly.

The transaction contemplated in the third deed of variation
constitutes a major transaction of the Company under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules. As Ms. Chen is an executive director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company, the transaction
also constitutes a connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and were approved
by the independent shareholders in a special general meeting
of the Company held on 14th September 2022. Accordingly,
the Final Repayment Date was extended to 5th January
2024. Details of the third deed of variation were set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 26th August 2022.

The independent non-executive directors confirmed that the
terms of the third deed of variation were fair and reasonable
and the transactions constituted thereunder were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had no other
connected transactions during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

The second deed of variation, side letter and the third deed of
variation as set out in the paragraph “Connected Transactions”
in this report constitutes a contract of signification of Ms.
Chen, the executive director and controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Other than as disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement
and contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company
which requires the Company to give a period of notice of
more than one year, or to pay compensation or make other

payments equivalent to more than one year’'s emolument.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31st December 2022, the interests of the directors
and their associates in the shares of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register (“Register
of Interests”) maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:

Interests in ordinary shares of the Company

FRfERER

ERalag ok

FrsiR B E B Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held interests held

AR L
Mr. Heung Wah Keung

BREAZ 2+
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany

LESERTR o

* EROEMEERRZLD R EREFO0%R50%
# % 2 A "AJHeung Wah Keung Family Endowment
Limited¥5 4 ©

BEAFEEEN RZFZZF+ZA=+—H 1R

B R A R SRR R A B R AR 7 R B
RFZRE AANEERBBTRABAES I HE
AT WA AR T L EETRAE (F5 R EE RS
DI EXVED) 2 (R - HE R S A R A £
SRR -

REEE 2w
Interest of controlled corporation

REEE 2 s

Interest of controlled corporation

1,640,375,595* 66.65

1,640,375,595* 66.65

All interests stated above represent long positions.
* These shares are held by Heung Wah Keung Family
Endowment Limited which is beneficially owned as to 50% by
Mr. Heung and as to 50% by Ms. Chen.

Other than as set out above, as at 31st December 2022, none
of the directors or chief executives of the Company or their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the Register of Interests or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.



# $ § #t ' Directors’ Report

EERERODHEST 2ER

AR R 3 E A A T 2 B 6 A o] B ] O B 2 AR ]
ZH BEARRZESARESAZEEHREAL(E
ERLWARR) TREBARDASERMEMEAREE
D AR 77 T 4

FERRK

RZE-Z—F+=-—A=+—0 BREZFHFRBEKHNE
3BEARABETHEFZEERREL AWML BE
NHBEBRETESZESN  UTHREEFALBIBE
TR AR5% Bk A £ 2 B2

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December 2022, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO showed that, other than the interests disclosed above
in respect of certain directors, the following shareholders had
an interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital of the

Company:
FiEEEE LA
iR E B Approximate
%8 g4 Number of shares percentage of
Name Capacity held interests held
Heung Wah Keung Family EmfEBA 1,640,375,595 66.65

Endowment Limited Beneficial owner

TR EAFR -
BREXHIEBEEN RZBE-_—F+=-A=+—H &

AR REAE A AL MAEAAATDETRAEY
SO b2 R IAR -

All interests stated above represent long positions.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other interests or short positions representing
5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital as at 31st
December 2022.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Company
repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange

as follows:
BRER
Price per share
ZRRYE BS B EfERE
Number of Highest Lowest Aggregate
ordinary consideration
o A& Month of repurchase shares paid
T BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
—ET--FANA September 2022 10,000,000 0.80 0.75 7,983,500
—ET--F+A October 2022 15,000,000 0.80 0.78 11,921,600

25,000,000

25,000,0000% % &R AR 5 27
3

SE- gt A-tHEE

EERRADABRNIURERERB M ZEEFESR
& BOBSENARRAERKRNIEERFE -

BREXABEEEN REBE-_T__F+_H=1—H
HFEER ARRAHEEAMBLARMERE HEWR
BOEMARRZ LHES -

B BUR

AEEEBEZHFHBREAFHER
BERERERE

eREEBNE B

$’&ﬂ§$2@ﬂ/£EE%*TM@E@IFE?&%%$“*TZH%%
ENEMAEMGIE YHEZSREFMEE S EE
BT BEEzMEeFRBRANGARMBERERME15-

19,905,100

25,000,000 ordinary shares were cancelled on 20th October
2022.

The directors considered that the Company’s shares were
trading at a discount to the net asset value per share, the
repurchase would increase the net asset value per share of
the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31st
December 2022.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
formulating by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
their duties and responsibilities in the Company and deciding
by the Board with the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the emoluments of the directors are set

out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has adopted share option schemes as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of the
share option schemes of the Company are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year, except for the share
option scheme of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed at an annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29th June 2022, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Option
Scheme”) to replace the share option scheme adopted on 28th
June 2012. Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Apart from the 2022 Option Scheme, the Company has no
other share option scheme in place as at 31st December 2022.

No share option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled during the year ended 31st December
2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31st December 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report, the Company has undertaken and
maintained a collective liability insurance policy covering,
among others, all directors and senior management of the
Company and its “associated companies” (as such term is
defined under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong)).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING INTEREST

None of the directors of the Company or their respective close
associates had any interest in a business which competes with
or may compete with the business of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
26 to 49.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, the Company has maintained the prescribed amount
of public float during the year and up to the date of this report
as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Company have been audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent
year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Heung Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30th March 2023
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HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

T 31/F Gloucester Tower
PIRFITH119 The Landmark
BEiES 11 Pedder Street
BTITRE31E Central
Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Star Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 71 to 241, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31st December 2022, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group at 31st December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BEELEE

BEESCEXHE  BREZFA/BEZELRAHM
MEGEEMBRRTREENEE - EEHEEREAUT
BEREMLEBERFRELEER NIERLEE
REBHERER -

RREERER

Key audit matter

WHEFEZREE

Carrying amount of stock of properties

IR AR A SR M 21 -
Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZZEZZF+ZA=+—8B uURRFINNEFEZ
IRE B4 73,702,028,0008 T - ¥ E5EEELER
ESPNG

At 31st December 2022, the carrying amount
of stock of properties located in Macau was
approximately HK$3,702,028,000, which was
significant to the Group’s total assets.

Sy

MR,

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

BREREETS BN IENNEERRERSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERMYEFECREENBZREFEBETRR -
Our audit procedures in relation to the carrying amount of
stock of properties included but not limited to:

BEERENAEREFMABRERE —
o checking the consistency of management’s calculations
against the methodology used in the prior years;

. AEWEERE HEESZ BEARRREREYHERZE
L

o evaluating the properties areas by comparing them with
the areas which were verified and confirmed by the
relevant institution;

. mBAEE  HERSZ BT MENTREB TR
EBRHAFRHEE BRI

o examining the estimated sales price by comparing it
with the recent sales price and recently available public
sales information of neighbouring properties;
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BRERSE(E

RRERER

Key audit matter

WEGFEZKREE (#7)

Carrying amount of stock of properties (Continued)

EEEDNZ2RERYELHNEBREHERIMET
MEFENAERRE  EhrRER BN A XM -
Management determined the net realisable values
of stock of properties by reference to recent sales
price of similar properties less selling expenses,
which involve managements’ judgement and
estimation.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
RRERERES 2 ET IRNIEERRERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEERMMEFECRHENEREFE2BEETRRY : (&)
Our audit procedures in relation to the carrying amount of
stock of properties included but not limited to: (Continued)

. AR ERIORN A EHERBREN
o assessing the fairness and appropriateness of the
source of information used;

. IMEGEFEMERUBEERES  TARSEENE
REE RS HER BB

° conducting site visits to stock of properties projects
to observe the development progress and evaluating
whether the development progress for each project was
consistent with the development plan;

U DEBERESERMAREBROREREARHEERX
54

o evaluating the construction costs to be incurred and
selling expenses by reference to information such as
project budgets; and

o HENEREM o TEY  BUMREESE UHEE
B 4 REINEEBERPTERELR -

o assessing the objectivity, independence and expertise
of the external valuers, and compared out test results
with the valuations made by the external valuers.

EERRYEFECREED BT ERNEEERIF -
We found that the carrying amount of stock of properties were
supported by the available evidence.

s g Cad ) g et P
PO D U
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BRERER (&

HREEREE
Key audit matter

RERAEMENFBEZHRAHECEER ([FHEFE
BB

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) on deposits and
other receivables

IR AR A B RS R M 26 ©
Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZBZZF+-A=+—8B RekHMEKRFIEZ
FRE{E#) /502,092,000 7T « B 1R & & H A B KIE
FHERFTEHEE B IR #4934,275,000/ 7T °

At 31st December 2022, the carrying amount of
deposits and other receivables was approximately
HK$502,092,000. Accumulated allowance for ECL
of approximately HK$34,275,000 was provided for
deposits and other receivables.

REBEE-T-__F+-_A=+—HLFER Bk
R oA W IR RER TR BRE B 1R B 407,270,000/ 7T -
During the year ended 31st December 2022,
allowance for ECL of approximately HK$7,270,000
was recognised for deposits and other receivables.

RE®ERY BEXESTLEERBAERTEER
me BEEESERAERERENER BEYALE
MEBBANDBERARSE HEIEEMHEL RATEYE
BH o

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for exposures. The Group considers reasonable
and supportable information including historical
and forward-looking information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort for this
purpose.

EEHRReLEMBRFBA RRESEEEFEAE
REZEE EARFTEMAERHE KA -
We identified ECL assessment on deposits and
other receivables as a key audit matter due to use
of significant judgement and estimates.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

EEEN I RNNEEBEREERSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEFHEREUReRAMBYRFIE HREEBEAENENERZ
RFEFEEIRR

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’'s ECL
assessment on deposits and other receivables included but
not limited to:

. THREEEMETNEERNER BEEEHTHEME
WA R W HRIE RREEBRFEHIERT

° understanding the credit control procedures performed
by management, including its procedures on periodic
review of receivables and ECL assessment on
receivables;

. MERERRFIERREZEN L HEE GRS T
° checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of aging
profile of receivables to the underlying agreements;

. MERERRTERREERSEELHRITIRIER 2 ERIE &
° checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement
of receivables to bank receipts; and

. AETEMEEBEEBEIENREL MESRBAREAY
BT MEERER TR  WEKZRAUBTHEREE
BE2BR(BEELRAELEER) -

° assessing the appropriateness of the ECL provision
methodology, examining the key data inputs on
a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
completeness, and challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the ECL.

EERRRORAMBERFTEZ EREEBERTETMAEEE
B R st A R M REE R R -

We found that the management judgement and estimates used
in ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables were
supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

o FAREEHRAETHENBEMERELE;HE o
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o EREAMBHRERNERERSIA LBRRAET e
BREEEM UREAMBHRRRESTHERBRA
AR HMEIR -

o 3 BEREZERREBIPNFHEEHEDRTRE -
REENETER UWEHGAVBBRRERE
- BEEFRBEREBRINIR EENMAT -EF
REGERAZEZMEL -

BERERRZZBEN (AP EE) B LIFNFEIHE -
BREZHERERETERER BRESERBRET
Wl N ED BRI (R ] ERBR K

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Ng Ka Wah.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ka Wah

Practicing Certificate Number: P06417

Hong Kong, 30th March 2023
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M iF
Notes

BEREER Continuing operations
& Revenue 7
4 E AR Cost of sales
ER Gross profit
H At s 2 Je H At e A Other revenue and other income 8
TEAX Administrative expenses
MSHERBEITHX Marketing and distribution expenses
BBRERARNTFEBEINEZ Loss arising on change in fair value of

CREEZATEBY financial assets at fair value through

FrEE 2 B profit or loss
KREMEZ AT EEED Gain/(loss) arising on change in fair

FrE4AZEF (EE) value of investment property
HiEE X Other operating expenses
ReEEHR Loss from operations
Bl & KA Finance costs 9
BH—HEELEZ¥E Share of result of a joint venture
REFARKEEK 2 Loss before tax from continuing

BRELATE I8 operations 10
s R > Income tax expense 11
REFELSEERKZ Loss for the year from continuing

FEEBER operations
BRIERSEER Discontinued operation
RECRIEEEEK 2 Loss for the year from discontinued

FEEE operation 12
FEEE Loss for the year

At fronane LRSS
e i

SINOPE L e v paew
%

2021
AT

HK$’000 HK$'000
3,879 3,717
(466) (129)
3,413 3,588
48,933 102,903
(88,174) (75,063)
(11,111) (158)
(25,257) (152,413)
1,531 (694)
(20,576) (24,977)
(91,241) (146,814)
(2,414) (1,833)

o (2)
(93,655) (148,649)
(465) -
(94,120) (148,649)
= (7,866)
(94,120) (156,515)
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—REERIERERRK

BREE

REFBERDKLL
REXRK
—EARRETE

REFBEEED
—EAREE

BEM < MY ERBAR U FRAMBRER 2 — 8D -

—E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
iFz3 THET TET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
— from continuing operations (94,101) (148,630)
— from discontinued operation - (7,866)
(94,101) (156,496)
Non-controlling interests
- from continuing operations (19) (19)
— from discontinued operation - -
(19) (19)
(94,120) (156,515)
AL A
HK cents HK cents
Loss per share
From continuing and discontinued
operations
— Basic and diluted 14 (3.79) (6.24)
From continuing operations
- Basic and diluted 14 (3.79) (5.93)

consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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2021
FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEEFR Loss for the year (94,120) (156,515)
Hih2m (FE) WA Other comprehensive (loss)/income
BETHEN 7 EZEHE2ER - Item that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
BMEBINEBEEZ Exchange differences arising on translation
N ER of foreign operations (108) 215
FEHEME2E (BE) WA Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year (108) 215
FEXHEEBRHAE Total comprehensive loss for the year (94,228) (156,300)
ATATEEFELXABRARE Total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to:
RARERA Owners of the Company (94,209) (156,281)
FEVE I M Non-controlling interests (19) (19)
(94,228) (156,300)
UTATEREEEZEEREE Total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to:
RAREB A Owners of the Company
—RABERKEER - from continuing operations (94,209) (148,415)
—REBKRIEEEEY — from discontinued operation - (7,866)
(94,209) (156,281)
BEB 2 I rE At SR A ISRk 2 — 2D © The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.




% & W 5 R 3 & Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RZZE-__F+=-H=+—H At 31st December 2022

M iF
Notes
FRBEE Non-current assets
W EBEREE Property, plant and equipment 17
REME Investment property 18
R—HeELEZER Interest in a joint venture 20
REF—RESZER Loan to a director 19
REEE Current assets
MEGFE Stock of properties 21
B R Film rights 22
SERER Films in progress 23
BERHRE Investment in films 24
RETFT—REZZEXR Loan to a director 19
B 5 R K Trade receivables 25
Ee  BNRER Deposits, prepayment and other
E & R IE receivables 26
BREBEAANTFEE Financial assets at fair value through
TR EREE profit or loss 27
Bl —EEELENREA Amount due from a joint venture 20
FEHER Time deposits 28
Re RIRITER Cash and bank balances 29
wmEE Total assets
EAXR#E Capital and reserves
N Share capital 30
G Reserves
ARABEEABERESR Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
FE 1 IR 2 Non-controlling interests
s Total equity

—s=-= T4
2022 2021
FERT AT
HK$’000 HK$'000
55,921 52,206
149,114 162,176
489,639 -
694,674 214,382
3,702,028 3,555,091
8,115 8,837
76,321 76,321
104,743 83,083
- 481,606

3,368 1,998
511,399 669,331
71,385 92,915

60 45

280 279
75,484 102,021
4,553,183 5,071,527
5,247,857 5,285,909
24,608 24,858
2,925,825 3,039,780
2,950,433 3,064,638
(681) (662)
2,949,752 3,063,976

R T e el T e T e
Y :h&iﬂﬂ?ﬂi




%% 5 B % IR B & Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZEZ—F+=HF=1+—H At 31st December 2022
M iF
Notes
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 33
IRITIEE Bank borrowings 34
EREBIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 37
nREAME Current liabilities
2 5 RENERR Trade payables 31
Bl EZES - EFTIEA R Deposits received, accruals and
H A FEAS SRR other payables 32
HERE Lease liabilities 33
RITEE Bank borrowings 34
ERRERE Financing note payables 35
FEAST FEIE AR 2 ROIE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 36

BEAR

BEREEARE

RBEEFE

HEERRBAE

N

FAMBBREAN-_ZB_=F=A=+HAEFEHA

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

=== —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT AT
HK$’000 HK$'000
4,256 -
1,550,000 -
450 -
1,554,706 -
10,253 58,392
89,889 84,234
3,243 981
50,000 1,478,850
86,898 96,360
503,116 503,116
743,399 2,221,933
2,298,105 2,221,933
5,247,857 5,285,909
3,809,784 2,849,594
4,504,458 3,063,976

REETHYATIEERREE

DE-3

Heung Wah Keung

EF

Director

BEM < M ERAR UL FRAMBRRZ 8D °

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30th March

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

R B3 3K
Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany

EF

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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%% & #E 45 3% B) X Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-ZE-__F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

ERAREAEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
LEIEE: NEEMR
K& RHRE HABE EiffE REZRE e REEA &t FERER #R%
Bonus
convertible Property Non-
Share Share  Contributed Exchange bonds revaluation Retained controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
Th TEr TET Thx TE TER TET Thx TER TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Wia) (Hitb) (i) (Hid) (Hiite)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d) (Note e)
WZE=-%-A-H At 1st January 2021 26,306 1,776,920 519,961 542 1,182 48171 1,062,882 3,435,914 (643) 3,435,271
FEFR Loss for the year - - - - - - (156,496) (156,496) (19) (156,515)
FEEMZERA Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - 215 - - - 215 - 215
FRAEFBES Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - 215 - - (156,496) (156,281) (19) (156,300)
ERETFERS Shares repurchased and cancelled (1,448) (212,702 - - - - - (214,150) - (214,150)
BERFEROEERE Costs attributable to repurchase and
cancellation of shares - (845) - - - - - (845) - (845)
HENFRELEE Release of reserve upon disposal of
property - - - - - (48,171) 48171 - - -
RZZ-—%#+-A=+-8 At31stDecember 2021 and
ER-E-—5-f-R at 1st January 2022 24,858 1,563,373 519,961 757 1,132 - 954,557 3,064,638 (662) 3,063,976
FEER Loss for the year - - - - - - (94,101) (94,101) (19) (94,120)
FEEMZEER Other comprehensive loss
for the year - - - (108) - - - (108) - (108)
FR2EFBEE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - (108) - - (94,101) (94,200) (19) (94,228)
BERETFERSD Shares repurchased and cancelled (250) (19,655) - - - - - (19,905) - (19,905)
BERFHEROEERE Costs attributable to repurchase and
cancellation of shares - 91) - - - - - (91) - 91)
WZBZZE+-A=+-H At31st December 2022 24,608 1,543,627 519,961 649 1,182 - 860,456 2,950,433 (681) 2,949,752
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Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the share premium of the Company can be used in paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to shareholders
of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

++ W 1 % ) & Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
—E-_F+-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
Notes:
BREARE-NAN—FRFEEEE) A2RZKRM  (a)
HERRESRARBCREITRG - ERBRAKRE
AFARARRE -
REBZEBARBRDERR=_ZSZT=_FNA+HE (b)

B2 AR BB S BAR 2 B AR T 48 B AR AN BR 2 B

BREBRE-AN—FQREEER) - BABRBAH
DRFBEZERRBRZ T ABBAABRBKRZER
B RRETRRBEEHEARRERNRER - AW
RATER KRBT FEHABRBTERIIKARS
FEEAIK : (VA ARERIFRIRNEENEEDNH
MEEEER : R(NARRBEZTEREMKRAME
REBERECBTRARBDEER -

EXFEEAMBARERNEB ZFEEMATIG
ERBRAEEAKEEEE (BT (BT )MERE
B YEENEMEERABRRRNELFEHERT %
ERELRBERAZELZBERHERIEBREND

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward
represents the amount transferred from the capital account due
to the capital reduction effective on 10th September 2002 and
various capital reduction subsequently.

Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus is available for distribution or apply
the amount standing to the credit of the contributed surplus
account in such manner as the board of directors considers
appropriate, including but not limited to setting off against any
accumulated losses of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
the contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign
operations from their functional currencies to the Group’s
presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the exchange reserve are

reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign

operations.
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(d)

(e)

BEARNBIRZE—ZF+ AT ABRITZREE
ARG EBBEBEITAFRN (IRE A REEZ AT
BB ES (AR TRRES]) ARBAFKRG) 2 &
BRER  AARBIURINSHBRETROIETE
BRERBR AN RRES - AR AT RKRESAER
BRWR IR RRERERI 25 - AF AT RRES
WA EHRTAIER - EMFRER A REEREEA ([4
M mREHFFHAAD ERARY  BEHSERESR
BABRBAFETASTRRZAFKRMEE - BR
R ARERBUEAL R AT R AR B 5  ALFI AR E H I |
AARERIRRAG 2 IREE - BIEHKAF TR E
FZBRTEREZGR RGN ANTRRESHE
AREBITAFI AR EH AR ITERARE -R=F
—ZF+=ZR=+—H " 5#265000F T (=T =_—F:
265,000/ 7T ) Z i A& 17 8 41 F| AT #2 A% & 55 A 12 § #%0.25
T E % 51,060,317 (Z 2= —4% : 1,060,317&) &
M EE0.0OVE T 2 B R LAk

MEEGRERTHERBRERBENEZDE - RE
BEMMEZATEERRAER BRI ANEE
fhfFEE YEREADERARHERERARBER

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 25th October
2012 in relation to the bonus issue of shares (with a right for
shareholders to elect to receive bonus convertible bonds
(“Bonus CBs”) in lieu of bonus shares), Bonus CBs can be
converted into ordinary shares at initial conversion price of
HK$0.01 per share issued by the Company. The Bonus CBs are
recognised as equity and are presented in “bonus convertible
bonds reserve”. The Bonus CBs are unlisted and irredeemable
but have conversion rights entitling the bondholders to convert
into an equivalent number of shares as the number of bonus
shares which the bondholders (the “Bonus CBs holders”) would
otherwise be entitled to receive under the bonus issue had the
shareholder not elected for the Bonus CBs. The Bonus CBs do
not carry voting rights at any general meeting of shareholders
of the Company. The Bonus CBs holders can exercise the
conversion rights at any time after the issue of Bonus CBs,
subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable deed
poll constituting the Bonus CBs. At 31st December 2022,
there are approximately HK$265,000 (2021: HK$265,000)
outstanding Bonus CBs which are convertible into 1,060,317
(2021: 1,060,317) fully paid ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at conversion price of HK$0.25 per share.

Property revaluation reserve related the property transferred
from owner-occupied to investment property. The excess
amount between the fair value and the carrying amount of the
property at the date of transfer was included in the property

revaluation reserve, and has been transferred to retained

earnings upon the retirement or disposal of the relevant

property.
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BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

REXBZRERE

RERBELLEBZHRABR

KEBRILEEERBZHRABE

RATBBEMIERE
BEKA

MEBBA

BRBKA

B IREEH

mE BERRERE

BRRETFEZ 2 CRABESR

FREYRECCHEANEDR

BHRUBERZ
BHEREERRE

Be REMERFELZ
BREEERER
RENE N TFEEZBM
EEZ(EHN)/ BE

BRRBENATEEIGZERME
EZAFEERBMELZER

BE-ReEREZEE
HEMR - MR KRB

REBRBRBT -REEZEHZ

E#
WEME HERRBZER

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax from continuing operations
Loss before tax from discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Dividend income

Amortisation of film rights

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of films in progress

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of film rights

Allowance for expected credit loss on
trade receivables

Allowance for expected credit loss on
deposits and other receivables

(Gain)/loss arising on change in fair value of

investment property

Loss arising on change in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Share of result of a joint venture

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Loss on derecognition of loan to a director

Loss on written off of property,
plant and equipment

—E - —E-—%
2022 2021
Kzt TERT FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(93,655) (148,649)
- (7,866)
(93,655) (156,515)
2,414 1,833
(47,703) (86,929)
(62) =
466 129
6,810 10,929
- 1,313
256 2,862
4 46
7,270 20,756
(1,531) 694
25,257 152,413
- 2
- (7,931)
13,046 -
16 297
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—E - —E-—%
2022 2021
okz3 THER TAET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BERSEYH KERERE Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital (87,412) (60,101)
FERD Decrease in inventories - 128
MEFEEM Increase in stock of properties (48,076) (225,364)
B 5 AR FIE N Increase in trade receivables (1,374) (1,754)
RE - B FIE & H i e MRIE Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayment
w/ (3En) and other receivables 160,121 (62,715)
EFRELM Increase in investment in films (28,240) (58,733)
El—RMaEREHREM Increase in amount due from a joint venture (15) (15)
BRBHERIATEAEIER Increase in financial assets
ERIAEEM at fair value through profit or loss - (4,652)
BHRERNETCRD) /1Emn (Decrease)/increase in trade payables (48,139) 35,682
BWEZS « ERTEE REM Increase in deposits received, accruals and
JE - SRIEE I other payables 5,655 1,326
CEMALRS Cash used in operations (47,480) (376,198)
ENHIE Tax paid = (1)
REEBHFAZREEE Net cash used in operating activities (47,480) (376,199)
REE(B2HERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BBk 8 Dividend received 62 _
2 WF B Interest received 26,624 25,827
REBAABEB=EAZ Placement of time deposits with original
g HER maturities more than three months (1) (3)
PMEBAME  EELREMNFHIE  Payments for purchases of property,
plant and equipment (179) (811)
HEME  WERFEMEHE Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment = 74,273
AARBREMEMNHKE Payment for additions to investment property (1,384) -
REAUFHEMTRE Payment for entering new leases (552) =
REBAREMEN &R 70E Balance payment for purchase of
investment property = (126,935)
REEKFEE/(FFR) Net cash generated from/(used in) investing
ZEE&FE activities 24,570 (27,649)

Dby pres
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BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

REEBZRERE

BERME
RITERZAGE
BNBERRIAGHEFER
EEEERE

LA B AT 5008

MEED (A MEE
ZRERE

RERREEERERD
REEHNzRERASEEEE

NEEXZB 2

RESHARZAERREEERE

Re RRTHER

BEM < M EBAR U ERAMBRER 2 — 7D -

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Interest paid
Proceeds from bank borrowings

Net proceed from financing note payables

Repayment of lease liabilities
Payment for repurchase of shares

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing

activities

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

of the reporting period

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the reporting period
Cash and bank balances

—E - —E-—%

2022 2021

Kzt TERT FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(101,275) (56,409)

121,150 184,970

- 95,096
(3,322) (4,704)
(19,996) (214,995)

(3,443) 3,958
(26,353) (399,890)

102,021 503,450
(184) (1,539)

29 75,484 102,021

consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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B % #t 3 B 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

——F+=-RB=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

GENERAL

China Star Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda and Unit 3409, Shun Tak Centre, West
Tower, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
respectively.

Its immediate and ultimate holding company is Heung
Wah Keung Family Endowment Limited which is equally
owned by Mr. Heung Wah Keung (“Mr. Heung”) and
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany (“Ms. Chen”), spouse of Mr.
Heung.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activities of the Group are investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and
television drama series, provision of artist management
services and properties development and investment.

The Group was also engaged in provision of catering

services which was discontinued during the year ended
31st December 2021.

SApizey LS
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BE-ZE-_F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

2. EREBEKHLEA ([ 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

MBHREER]) 2 BT
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) FEERFLERZEBUBREER 2 (a)

EIES effective for the current year

REFE AEECBEREATIHES
oG ((BEAGHMOG) B2
EEMBRELEN BTN  ZEETAX
RZEZZF—A—Bd 2B cFE
HARA SR HIAE BN - AR BRI A B ME -

ﬁ
=

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

In the current year, the Group has applied
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1st January 2022
for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

BEEVEREER HEPISIIERZ Amendments to Reference to the
FEIR|ZAERT AR # 3l HKFRS 3 Conceptual Framework
ERUBRMEEN —T-—FXA Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
F16E 2 ERIA =+ HB1%HH2019 HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond
T A 5 25 7 4 28 30th June 2021
HeRE
BEAGFER W RN RE Amendments to Property, Plant and
16 2iEaIAR —RAERERE HKAS 16 Equipment — Proceeds
Al 6 P15 SR8 before Intended Use
BEAGFER EBEREAY BT Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost
FBITHRZIEFTER EREEZKAR HKAS 37 of Fulfilling a Contract
ARV BEREER BEPEREER Amendments to Annual Improvements to
ZAERT A —E-NFEZ HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020
ToTFERE 2
FEE

o AEBEEABKR ST ERERS
(BEE)WBBRRE -

RAFEEREEMBERE LA ZEFTA
REEENERREHAFENBESFE
AEEOPBRARKR R IR FEHE
AMBHRERABENRBELEEALE -

In addition, the Group applied the agenda
decision(s) of the Committee of the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “Committee”).

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs
and the Committee’s agenda decision(s) in the
current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.
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EREEVMBEHREER (&

BREER] 2BIT R

EHEMEMRERZHTEERBREE
AR HAERT A

AEEYERERA TS EMERRE
Bz BB HREENREEFTAK

BRMBREENETR
(REFRNBRLES
FITH_B_ZE+AR
ZECFEZA7BITR)

RERAA

EAVBRERNFI0E REERABELNFRA
RERGIENENFE ALERCEEHRER
LHEN AN

EAVBRERNF 6% EREERZTHEE
LHES AR

BRAGIENS IR RAEEIBARD A
L RBREERESS

5(2020) 2 B BT A2
AESHENSIRZETE FLONERDER

BRGNS IRR
ERAMBREENELR
HETPATIES

BRETEARSR AR GH{EHZER'

BRGHENE 1252 BE-RPELNEER
LHES AEMENETHE

EitRELEE

1 RZB-_=F—-F-BHgz&HRAKZ

FEBRER -

2 RIE-_ME-A-Bz&BRZ
FEHEER -

3 REEARR BRI FEHNRE
e

EEBAERAMET IR BRBREER
REETARABRTB I EHAEE M
BRRELBEATE -

B % #t 3 B 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following

new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Non-Current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1st January 2023.

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January 2024.
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after a date to be determined.

The directors anticipate that the application of all

the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have

no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.
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3. IEETHRME

()

RBERE

ARG BHRRIBEEEGHM ARG
B2 BEAMBRELENMBER - ALK
AMBHRERZ2ZIME  WEBEHAAE
FHeYEIZEMEMELIRTE
BRAERRGEREK - i KA MH
BRERBMIMEFLTRA(LTH
AN REBERAGIHZEEREERZ
ERREAR -

AEAMBBRERELRAZERE
HEEREREHRZATFEEFENRE

MERETERITARS - ERTXES
MEFBRAME -

BERA—BRAERERERIRZREZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except
for investment property and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for

goods and services.




8=

3.

£ B % it % B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=

ZZH+ZA=F+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

TE

(a)

B EEBR(E)

RBLEE (&)
NFBERNFERRETSE2EE LR
MBEKFRZTEEEET KM KE R
BEAXNZER MIARZEREEE
BRAUBRR A RAEMEERMGT &
MHE2EENGFERRHEEREEEE
BeZREELRBIRH  MARER
B EERRBEILAFEERTEEEZ
SR NERAMBRERTEHERS
BEERBZAFEEDRLEEEE -
BN BBUBRESEINE2RLUR D X
M HEBERNARND XN 2 KBRS
BRREEMBREERFIRBAEARZ
MERS UERARAFEEEHHHEEE
VHRFEEZE EMEFEGTER
FORFEAZABRFERBT A E
RISE365 & Z B 1 2 £ AEERID -

FEeREENRFEEABNIZE BT
B2REERRAVAEEREEREB
HEELETURARAREREENS
— R 5 2 B T AL S EE AR AR VB ) &5 A B
$ o

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use

the asset in its highest and best use.
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(a)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment
property which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is

achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

. rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

° any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct

the relevant activities at the time that

decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’

meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or
scarce or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue
producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the
acquisition date is on or after 1st January 2022,
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June
2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except
for transactions and events within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which
the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination. Contingent assets are not

recognised.
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Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value, except that:
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deferred tax assets or liabilities,
and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

° lease liabilities are recognised and
measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as
the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

AT
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units (the “CGU”) (or group of CGUSs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger
than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU
(or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any
of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within
a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the

group of CGUs) retained.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

o

(e)

Interest in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint
venture are incorporated in these financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of joint
venture used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the joint venture other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes
in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the joint venture.

BT
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that joint venture on the same
basis as would be required if that joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant joint venture.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of

the related assets or liabilities.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance

completed to date.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct goods or services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer,
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any

trade discounts.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sales of goods or the
provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Artist management service income

The Group provides artist management
services by arranging for the provision of artist
services to counterparty under fixed-price
contracts. Artist management service income is
recognised in which the services are rendered.
Certain contracts include multiple performance
obligations and the transaction price of such
contract will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling
prices. Artist management service income is
recognised at a point in time.

Distribution fee income

The Group licenses the distribution rights of
films and television drama series internationally.
Distribution fee income is recognised when
the Group’s entitlement to such payments has
been established which, subject to the terms
of the relevant agreements, is usually upon
the master materials have been delivered or
the sharing of the relevant revenue have been
reliably ascertained. Distribution fee income is
recognised at a point in time.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from restaurant operations

The Group recognises revenue from restaurant
operations which provides catering services.
Revenue from restaurant operations is
recognised at a point in time when the services

are rendered.

Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the

investments goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying

amount of the asset.

Income from investment in films

Income from investment in films is recognised
when the Group’s entitlement to such payment
has been established, which is subject to the

terms of the relevant agreements.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component

and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes
both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be

made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative

stand-alone prices.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option.

The Group also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and
° an estimate of costs to be incurred by

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

=% "‘;"I.:,,L-:

iy R QRECESEE STRTY
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
“property, plant and equipment”, the same line
item within which the corresponding underlying
assets would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit

in the lease is not readily determinable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend

on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease

payments.




%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

3.

FTEEHBRME (B

(9)

HE (&)

FEBEBEBA(E)

HEERE (&)

RATER  AEEEFFTEREAE (L
RARMEREEEFHRERE) -

. HEMEMEHRTHBERE
RO EEERL REBERT
HEHEEERENTMGASRE
BEREETHRRRBERLERT
HENRMEMTE &K

B/ BREREFNAREE RS
MRETSHEEXFEMERE
B ELBERAT HEEEAR
ERERNRBRRUEREEBE
HENRMEHE -

AEERGAMBRAREHERFBNE
BHEZS

o

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is
a change in the assessment of exercise
of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment; or

° the lease payments change due to
changes in market rental rates following
a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in
which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount
rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement

of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one
or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as
a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group has elected to apply the practical
expedient not to assess whether the change
is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results
in revised consideration for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30th June 2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient
accounts for changes in lease payments
resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS
16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The
related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the

period in which the event occurs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue is recognised
over time, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are
ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

1)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other revenue and other income”. Grants
relating to compensation of expenses are
deducted from the related expenses.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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(k)

Employee benefits
Annual leave

Employee entitlement to annual leave is
recognised when it accrues to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees during the year. Employee
entitlements to maternity leave and sick leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonuses

The Group recognises a liability for bonuses
when there is a contractual obligation and the
amount can be estimated reliably.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and pension fund
schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are
held in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed
as incurred. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been
paid. There are no forfeited contributions for
the MPF Scheme as the contributions are fully

vested to the employees upon payment to the
MPF Scheme.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The Group operates defined contribution
retirement schemes for its employees in Macau,
the assets of which are held in separate
trustee-administered funds. The employers
and their employees are each required to
make contributions to the schemes at 5% of
the employees’ basic salary subject to a cap
of monthly contribution of MOP2,000 each.
The Group’s contributions to the schemes are
expensed as incurred. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. Where employees leave
the schemes prior to the full vesting of the
employers’ contributions, the amount of forfeited
contributions is used to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group. Employees are eligible for
30% of the employer’s contribution to schemes
after completion of three years of service. The
rate of vested benefit increases at an annual
increment of 10% thereafter reaching 100% after

completion of ten years of service.
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3. iggﬁﬁ%ﬂg (/,ZE_) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k) EEBHE) (k)  Employee benefits (Continued)

URGEMZHEHZ Share-based payment expenses

FEB HEHEBORB 2 LA L iR#ER
RBEABD X 2 RRRESETARY
Afz N FEENE -

ERZEEUARN XN RERREERT
AT EBGRIMET 2 AV EE
DEASEHERER CESETA MG
AERERENBBHXHE Mg A
XM ZHRARKERT) M S BEEZM-
REBEMK  AEBEREMEHERBIE
MEEBGRMHOFEMETEERRE
ZHESMETAMFHE - BT RAERZE
WA RBERER UERFRXR
RGIERT 2 fhat  WNEAREREERRE
FAE -BRREZBNEERE BREM
FOARLEREZAFEENERES
B3 e

TTRRBIRER  FAEERZ ARG XM
ZHRBRBEEBERBRMEE - HE
BT 57 B B B R BOR WS B W B H R
DRETE  RRIEERZUARBI A2
FRERBESEAREGN -

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the grant date
without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity under the heading of share-based
payment reserve. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in the profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to the
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share-based payment reserve will be transferred

to retained earnings.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U}

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
‘loss before tax’ as reported in the consolidated
income statement because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and interest in a
joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such
investments and interest are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize
the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its

assets and liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U}

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale, except for
freehold land, which is always presumed to be

recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and
the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the

lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities,

liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption. Temporary
differences arising from subsequent revision to
the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that
are not subject to initial recognition exemption
are recognised on the date of remeasurement or

modification.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(m)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to
the profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of the
property, plant and equipment, the expenditure

is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.




%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE—

3.

T _F+-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

hY

x

(m)

EETBEBE(F

M- BERRE(E)
ARBEpMEzAAEES (BREEL
WREFRD) S5 2HKREREE
T RBEFT KD 2 BIZ V6 R 0 18R
RV EEZEPDE - WEENRERSE
MER DB MELMZEREINGEA M
BRARZFIRYE  BIRREETZ
ERERE -WMAEELIEHBEE L
ZHMEEBFRD RAD B R A St
AEE - AIZHEMEIBR/ME  #ER
By

TETABHEEE ZKARKE 2 FIRE
EREGERFHNERETARER
et A ERFES  MBREERFTETER
BEHREHPRT U A WEETAE
B ERERAK-

FEFERMT :

BF 2%-5%
HEMEEE 20%-33%
e+ L
HEmE L

B RERRE 10%-50%

TE 15%—-20%
ME - ERERRBEEENHERKTESRA
BETSERBEEREERBLENSR
RIETER - A%  #BERZBEBEELE
B BRI E A 2 s F sk B8 B E AT
BREEZEEROAEZEZE  THRIBE

27
s °©

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interests in leasehold
land is presented as right-of-use assets under
line item of property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:
2%—5%

20%-33%
Over the lease term

Buildings

Leasehold improvements
Leasehold land

Over the lease term
10%-50%

Leased properties
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 15%-20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Film rights

Film rights represent films and television drama
series produced by the Group or acquired by
the Group. Film rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The Group begins
amortisation of the capitalised costs of film
rights when a film is released and it begins to

recognise revenue from that film.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3. FEEBHBEMEE) =

(o) EEIRE (&) (0)  Film rights (Continued)
AEBSRERERREF MEFTEE R The Group reviews and revises estimates of total
%i‘ﬁi;ﬂﬂﬂ&ﬁ 50 N RUER AN R EE L A o i projected revenue and total production costs of
fhEtEEs] AAEBmMe Rt ERE film rights at the end of each reporting period.
Hﬁf‘&ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ ABMABRE  WEFFES If estimates are revised, the Group adjusts the
MBI E - A EHNTERRRK amount of total projected revenue from the
HEEMR - period when such changes in estimates take

place and re-calculated the ratio for amortisation
of film rights. The effect from changes in
estimates is recognised on a prospective basis.
BERTRTFANERRR KA REES Amortisation expense is charged to profit or loss
MREBF ASRKRAZEAIREZEN based on the proportion of actual income earned
[5,4}? c BB BEBEIZN - +F - during the year to the total estimated income
BEMEELORE HEEEIHEAE from the sale of film rights. The amortisation of
HulyBl &% o film rights will not exceed twenty years. In the
case where there is any impairment in value, the
carrying amount is written down to its estimated
recoverable amount.
REREHR  AEE2FHRIRIN At the end of each reporting period, both internal
mHER  UAEREEERATRBETE and external market information are considered
TRECRIE - WMENBEESRETE 8 to assess whether there is any indication that
SHEFEECAHRECE  TEREER film rights are impaired. If any such indication
BREBBEEAAER BEERBEZHEM exists, the carrying amounts of such assets are
kel £%E - ZEREEBIINIEEE assessed and where relevant, an impairment
R o loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its
estimated recoverable amount. Such impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(p) BEFEE (p)  Films in progress

BEREFEEERCEYRERER Films in progress represents films and televisions

Bl RBEEARBHEHARKNREMNDS

BAREBBAR - KAR TEEF%'H’E*

FLMARAS BREEVER EERY

EEFH  RE - R {tﬂk&%’ﬂ?&u

LM&E‘& TR RENRERS c RIEPER
REY LRBEBREETRE

drama series under production and is stated
at cost at the date incurred, less any identified
impairment losses. Cost includes all costs
associated with the production of films including
remuneration for the film director, casts and
production crew, costumes, insurance, makeup
and hairdressing as well as rental of camera
and lighting equipment. Films in progress

is transferred to film rights when the film is

released.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r

Films in progress (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, both
internal and external market information are
considered to assess whether there is any
indication that films in progress are impaired. If
any such indication exists, the carrying amounts
of such assets are assessed and where relevant,
an impairment loss is recognised to reduce
Such
impairment losses are recognised in the profit or

the asset to its recoverable amount.

loss.

Investment in films

Investment in films projects which entitles the
Group to receive a fixed and/or variable income
based on the Group’s investment amount and
expected rate of return as specified in the
respective film investment agreements. The
investments are carried at amortised cost if
their cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest. All other investments that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are carried at fair value.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).
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3. FTESHHREME(L 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) M BERBREZRE(E) (r) Impairment on property, plant and equipment
(Continued)
ERY YA A The recoverable amount of property, plant and
ARG E e BRI EE Y equipment and intangible assets are estimated
TWEEHE  BAEESHStEEERE individually, when it is not possible to estimate
BeEAS Y AIRE S5 - the recoverable amount of an asset individually,

the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

S SEABAERENSTS Nk In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
VAABRE—ESMEEE A 24E assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when
eRAREREESELSM  TAR® a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
WO EN T 5AERIE—BHREE can be established, or otherwise they are
TRNESEEBMAEARN - AIKESE allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
AL EAEMBEEAELE SR EAE which a reasonable and consistent allocation
A TEE YRR SRS basis can be established. The recoverable
SIS EABMEAS TETELE - amount is determined for the CGU or group of

CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

AU E 4 48 Ty B {8 5 & Bk A B Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
BEIYESE - EIGEBEMEE Gt less costs of disposal and value in use. In
AR B AR EEREMITERIFEEER assessing value in use, the estimated future
B ZrERRREEEREEE ST cash flows are discounted to their present value
PR AKEAAEERRALCHAR S using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
E(RBLEASMN) EHER - market assessments of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

Tk i SR .
IR s TRl
23

MR,

Sy




% & B B it & Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-ZE-_F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

3.

TE

U]

B BRRBE(E)

ME - BERRBZAEE)

MEEE (AREELABM) 2 EEE
B DAOREREE  AZEE (XK
TELBMN) ZEAEHRERETKE S
HeomRmaBE —EoREENRKLZ
CEEERCEEEZRD  AEEEH
ReELENAaZREE (BREBEAZ
ReEFENHAZEREEREREE
ZRoMERE) BREELENASZ
ARESEIERLER - DERESER
REBEEERERETMNEE(ER)
ZHEHEE HRURZENSIREELE
NAAARAEBEERAELINEEL
MEE BEZREETSHIRERRAE
DFEERLERA (MAFHE)  HE
REWMITEE) RE2ESE - RESE
EREZREBBRNELDEEZEN
FRCELBUESANEMEE - HES

B NER R -

MEREBRBRSAEE  REBEE
(AR EELEUKRSELENES)
ZEEEEEETKRE SR RIERThE
B HEMENEAETSERATEFEH
ARERRBBEEEMEETEE (XKL
EEBENIRNEELEMAS) ZIREE -
RERBEE R MR NMERER -

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a
group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

®)

Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading,
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost and net realisable value are
determined as follows:

Properties under development held for sale

The costs of properties under development
held for sale comprises specifically identified
costs including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, borrowing costs
capitalised, material and supplies, wages, other
direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold
in ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion, or by management
estimates based on prevailing marketing
conditions. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the financial assets and shareholders’
rights are presented as other revenue and other

income.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if:

° it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other revenue and other income” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including loan to a director, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from a joint venture, time deposits
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting period as

well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to
recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on these trade receivables are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion

is more appropriate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.
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) SRMIAE) t) Financial instruments (Continued)
EHEE(E) Financial assets (Continued)
THEEZHE () Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
BHEEFBZTERERE) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

REBFEME  AEERFIEHERE For collective assessment, the Group takes into
ZRATRE consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:

. BEARA AR o Past-due status;

. BEAZHEG  BERTE R . Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. AEREZIINBEEFR - o External credit ratings where available.
ERESFTHRN2ERE  UERSE The grouping is regularly reviewed by
BN CAKEBEEBEAEEEUZEER management to ensure the constituents of
BRI each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

FMEWARTREEREHERENE K Interest income is calculated based on the gross
IZEMEEEZERE  WHAEFES carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
WALEBREeMEE ZBIENATE - financial asset is credit impaired, in which case

interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

AEBERBARGHMTAZEEENER The Group recognises an impairment gain or
NERFMEeBIAZREAE HES loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
EWEER - e M EMERFBNEBE by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
BREREREEAERIN exception of trade receivables, deposits and

other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if
the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or
otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset
are modified, the Group assesses whether the
revised terms result in a substantial modification
from original terms taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is
not conclusive, the Group considers the terms
are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial

asset.
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3. iggﬁﬁ%ﬂg (HZE_ 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
) SRMIAE) 0) Financial instruments (Continued)
EHEE(E) Financial assets (Continued)
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Derecognition/modification of financial assets
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial
assets that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial assets
will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at
the financial assets’ original effective interest
rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial asset is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings,
lease liabilities, trade payables, deposits
received, accruals and other payables
(excluding receipt in advance), financing note
payables and amounts due to non-controlling
interests) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the
revised terms result in a substantial modification
from original terms taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is
not conclusive, the Group considers that the
terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. The above said fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. Accordingly, such modification of terms
is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part
of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The
exchange or modification is considered as non-
substantial modification when such difference is

less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition,
the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at

the date of modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3. FEEBHBEME(E =

) SRMIA(E) t) Financial instruments (Continued)
LT A Derivative financial instruments
PMEITEZRFIAMTETEGHZBNA Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
FEEVNRER ??:T*EE’:\ HREHERZ the date when derivative contracts are entered
AFEEEFITE SHNBENBEERE into and are subsequently remeasured to their
Ao fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
(u) ReRBELESEER (u)  Cash and cash equivalents
FeEMBRARMEIREERRCEER Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
HEE - consolidated statement of financial position
include:
(a) R BRERFERSEHETR (a)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand

THAXEERVIUBIBENA
REeETHRRITES R

and demand deposits, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash;

and
(by HeFEHEB SEEHKE (b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of
FEBMAE=Z@ARIT) « ATd Rt short-term (generally with original maturity

BHa-—THEHBZARBIE of three months or less), highly liquid

RE URAXRFENEEZSY
B -#HEREEFERB DTS
REREAEMIIFREKH M B
g o

e HeRERME  HekReEE
BEEEENLEFE RS RASSEER -

investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement

of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist

of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including
those arising from the contractual obligation
specified in the service concession arrangement
to maintain or restore the infrastructure before
it is handed over to the grantor, is the best
estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured

reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or
other unexpected events that give rise to the
possibility of an inflow of economic benefits
to the Group and they are not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development
of contingent assets. If it has become virtually
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will
arise, the Group recognises the asset and the
related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the

change occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation
arising from past events but is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient
reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable
for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is
expected to be met by other parties is treated as
a contingent liability and it is not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If
it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in
which the change in probability occurs, except
in the extremely rare circumstances where no

reliable estimate can be made.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group

if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that

person’s family, is related to the Group if

that person:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are
members of the same Group
(which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the
other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is

an associate of the third entity;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any

of the following conditions applies:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity);
or

the entity, or any member of

KEARIAAEESAE a group of which it is a part,
BEAREEIESIE A provides key management
SR - personnel services to the Group or

EREALZHEAFHEER  REIEESE
B XHZERRBEALRS  MTE
SETEERH -

to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of

resources, services or obligations between the

Group and a related party, regardless of whether

a price is charged.

EUATZHEBREKE BEZ A2 #T Close family members of a person are those
RGHEHMAEE EZATHZZALTE family members who may be expected to
BIRERIKKE ° influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(2)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished from
the rest of the Group and which represents a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale if earlier.
It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face
of consolidated income statement, which
comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the

discontinued operation.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Classification of Sparkle Star Entertainment Limited
(“Sparkle Star”) as a joint venture

Sparkle Star is a limited liability company whose legal
form confers separation between the parties to the joint
arrangements and the company itself. Furthermore,
there are no contractual arrangements or any other
facts and circumstances that specify that the parties
to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangements.
Accordingly, Sparkle Star is classified as a joint venture

of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over Over Profit International Limited (“Over
Profit”) and its subsidiaries (“Over Profit Group”)

The directors assessed whether or not the Group has
control over on Over Profit Group based on whether
the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of Over Profit Group unilaterally. In making
the judgement, the directors considered the Group’s
absolute size of holding in Over Profit Group and the
relative size of and dispersion of the shareholdings
owned by other shareholders. After assessment, the
directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of Over Profit Group and the Group has control over on
Over Profit Group.

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment property that are measured using the
fair value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the Group’s investment property
are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time. Therefore, in determining the deferred taxation
on investment property, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment property measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. For investment property located in The
Republic of China (“Taiwan”), the Group is subject
to capital gain tax upon disposal of the relevant
investment property. The Group has recognised
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value of
investment property of the Taiwan subsidiary.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments under
Level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial assets classified as
FVTPL under Level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting
to HK$106,750,000 at 31st December 2022 (2021:
HK$88,467,000) are measured at fair values with fair
values being determined based on unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation
are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
assumptions relating to these factors could affect the
reported fair values of these instruments. Further details
on fair value measurement are disclosed in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for ECL individually.
The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Further details on the ECL assessment
are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment property

Investment property are stated at fair value based on
the market values, being the estimated amount for
which property could be exchanged on the date of
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
an arm’s length transaction or the valuation performed
by an independent valuer. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has based on method of valuation which
involves certain estimates and assumptions. In relying
on the valuation report, the management has exercised
their judgements and is satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.
Should there be any changes in assumptions due
to change of market conditions, the fair value of the
investment property will be adjusted accordingly.

Impairment of film rights

Impairment assessments on film rights are performed
at the end of each reporting period with reference
to both internal and external market information, for
example, sales forecast based on expected popularity
of the respective titles, the expected production, sales
and distribution costs to be reviewed to conclude
the sales, and the general economic condition of the
relevant markets. Changes in assumptions used in
this assessment, including the forecasted revenue,
may result in additional provision being made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of films in progress

Impairment assessments on films in progress are
performed at the end of each reporting period. The
recoverable amounts are determined with reference to
sales forecast and expected production and distribution
cost. Changes in assumptions used in this assessment,
including the forecasted revenue, may result in
additional provision being made in the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group carries out
review on each film at the end of each reporting period
and makes impairment for any films in progress which
no longer proceeds.




gz A

iz

u |

B % #t 3 B 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE-_F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

4.

TEGHABRGHTRE
MZ2EERR(E

st A REM 2T ERR (&)
FEBYFFREZRRFYFZ G TEEFE

REETTEEAAKENEFEFLBER &
SEEREMME RGFTEBIGEERD
AEERXKAR) BEEMERERZEEHRAR -
M EERNREE  RELEE - BEDR
EXEYLR ABEEERIANERNEEMEY
EFEERUESERFEENES  AUREEL
BEBEIBEREE -

EMITHA

(a) SBMIAEHR:

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value on properties under
development classified as stock of properties

In determining whether allowances should be made for
the Group’s stock of properties, the Group considers
the current market and the estimated market value
(i.e. the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
selling expenses) less estimated costs to completion of
the properties. An allowance is made if the estimated
market value is less than the carrying amount. If the
actual net realisable value on stock of properties is
less than expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, may result in material provision for
impairment loss.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments:

EWMEE
BRBHEARNFEEIRZEREE

EREE

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

S8 —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
176,128 175,998
1,070,923 1,247,878
1,247,051 1,423,876
2,295,330 2,221,933
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
loan to a director, investment in films, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
financial assets at FVTPL, amount due from
a joint venture, time deposits, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, deposits received
(excluded deposits received on sales of
properties), accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities, bank borrowings, financing note
payables and amounts due to non-controlling
interests. Details of the financial instruments for
the Group are disclosed in respective notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (foreign
exchange risk, equity price risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of
the Group’s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

18] e,
>

S
il



8=

5.

4 B B #Ht & Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-_F+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

ERMITAEE

TREREEEEREE(£)

(b)

TSR

(7)

SHEE [l B

AKBEEETLE AP -8BRF
FEARAME ([HE]) EEXH
BERBHRGTINET - EL([E
tl) RFI%E(DRFE]D) BT
(BTl #Hea¥(Hak) R
AR TAR®] HE-SNER
BRARERARAXRRS CHRE
ENBENEBEEREEEIN
SNZHEMEREMES

REEBTMHARERET FORPIEH
e FEBFEDAREERIIE
B AT RAFEAET
XM 25 o

DEBTRH Bt EZRSRE
BEEmRD BAKERRYLE
BRBT R a® 2ERNIINER
pEE AR TR E®THE
TXAH25) -

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and The People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
majority of transactions are denominated
in HK$, US dollar (*US$"), Macau Pataca
(“MOP”), Euro (“EUR”), New Taiwan
Dollar (“NT$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities, which are
denominated in a currency that is not the

functional currency of the group entities.

The Group is not exposed to material
foreign exchange risk exposure in respect
of HK$ against US$ and MOP as long as
these currencies are pegged. Therefore
US$ and MOP are excluded from the
analysis below.

The transactions and monetary assets
denominated in EUR and NT$ is minimal,
the Group considers there has no material

foreign exchange risk exposure in respect
of EUR and NT$. Therefore, EUR and NT$
are excluded from the analysis below.
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5. $@mITH (/é;;f 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(by <BEBEREEEREK(E) (b)

mEE R (E)
(i) SMER B () (1)
REREHAR  AEBUAR®E
GEDaEEB) stECEBEER
BEZEREBENAT
a&
Liabilities
—_=E_=
2022
THET
HK$’ 000
AR RMB 76,696

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
At the end of each reporting period,
the carrying amounts of the monetary
assets and liabilities of the Group, which
are denominated in RMB, that is not the
functional currency are as follows:

BE
Assets
—=_— —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000

78,443 124,867 129,103

oA o5 8 L0 3 4 1 0 D SN S BH
PE 33 LY L R
EEERUIEERNGAR -
AR B E B EASNE,
o

The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The
management will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.




ERMITAEE

TREREEEEREE(£)

HEE R (E)

SMNER R ()

BRE DT
TRFNBITHLAREE I RR
DE%E AL E 2 GREE - %5%T)
FRgERELE KREEEY
SNEERSERREEE 2 -
ZHBREDITERBREHAREEN
SNEFHEZ B IER WL IMNEE
KZ5%EHABRENBERR L
BME - TRPNEHBRETRL
ARBEHERE IR EIER D
HETHARBERE%E - K
KREERSEERSURERZE
E MIXBFHAEH-

ok A B %5 it % B 5F Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZZH+ZA=F+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase and
decrease in HK$ against RMB. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used which represents
management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% change in
foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax
loss where HK$ weakens 5% against
RMB. For a 5% strengthening of HK$
against RMB, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax loss
and the number below would be negative.

mETH AR EER5% If HK$ strengthens against

MBI H AR B E555% If HK$ weakens against

ERERRABBED N TN
REBINERR  ARE®REH
RZBBRTRBRERZER

—Es-= T —F
2022 2021
FTHET FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(2,011) (2,115)
2,011 2,115

Management considered the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the
exposure at the end of each reporting
period does not reflect the exposure
during the years.




%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

5.

@I A (Z

(b) SHEREEBEERMEE)
mE R (E)
(ii) R A(E 18 B S

ARERZERBENRAYER
JIREt E 2 RAEZ R A M i
B A (B 18 LB o B 7R Bt S P R
RERBGURAFEEIERGE
ZREES BEFHERITAEA
GZRARSETILRRE B3R
BeEFRERRRYINVEER
ERE PR

3

BURE DT
BRE D TR B S B R P&
RZBABRERMEE

5

MEMBHREZ LMREESW
B LR,/ THR5% (ZE=—5F:
5%) BB EZE=_T-—F+=H
=t HUEFEZBEBBER
D/ 18 h1 492,897,000 7T (=&
— —% 3,654,000 7T) * WA
BEAFTEEERE —SH L
MRAFHFZ A EEZLEAEN -

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investments in equity
securities measured at FVTPL. For equity
securities measured at FVTPL quoted
in the Stock Exchange, the directors
manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different
risks. The management has monitored the
price risk and will consider hedging the
risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been
determined based on the exposure
to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

If the prices of the listed equity securities
with quoted market price had been 5%
(2021: 5%) higher/lower, the post-tax
loss for the year ended 31st December
2022 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$2,897,000 (2021:
HK$3,654,000) as a result of the changes
in fair value of listed equity securities

under Level 1 fair value hierarchy.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Interest rate risk

At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the
Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank borrowings obtained for financing
construction project in Macau. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) arising
from the Group’s HK$ denominated bank
borrowings. The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising
from any interest rate movements based
on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of
borrowings in floating rates and ensure
they are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest
rate benchmarks is being undertaken
globally, including the replacement of
some Interbank Offered Rates (“IBORs”)
with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
Details of the impacts on the Group’s
risk management strategy arising from
the interest rate benchmark reform and
the progress towards implementation of
alternative benchmark interest rates are
set out under “interest rate benchmark
reform” section in this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of each reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 25
basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. If interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s interests
capitalised to stock of properties for the
year ended 31st December 2022 would
increase/decrease by approximately
HK$4,000,000 (2021: HK$3,697,000).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to loan to a director, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amount due
from a joint venture, time deposits and bank
balances. At 31st December 2022 and 2021,
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk,
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with loan to a
director is mitigated because loan to a director
is secured by way of a share charge over the
entire issued share capital of Reform Base
Holdings Limited (“Reform Base”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI”) and wholly owned by Ms. Chen.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets individually. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to
measure lifetime ECL for trade receivables on
an individual basis. The directors assessed
customers’ ability to settle the receivables
based on historical default experience. Trade
receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$3,418,000 (2021: HK$2,044,000) are due
from customers that have good track record
with the Group, the directors conclude that the
credit risk attributable to these customers is
low and allowance for ECL of HK$50,000 (2021:
HK$46,000) was recognised with expected
average loss rate of 1.46% (2021: 2.25%). The
directors considered that trade receivables
with gross carrying amount of HK$640,000 was
credit-impaired and allowance for ECL was fully
provided as at 31st December 2022 and 2021.

The Group assessed the ECL for deposits and
other receivables individually. The expected
loss rate was determined by reference to past
default experience and have been adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors that affecting the
ability of settlement. The directors concluded
that there is no significant increase in credit risk
of gross carrying amount of HK$530,493,000
(2021: HK$688,934,000) since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment on these
balances based on 12m ECL. Allowance for ECL
of HK$28,401,000 (2021: HK$27,005,000) was
recognised with expected average loss rate of
5.35% (2021: 3.92%). The directors considered
that deposits and other receivables with gross
carrying amount of HK$5,874,000 was credit-
impaired and allowance for ECL was fully
provided as at 31st December 2022 (2021: nil).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group had advanced a loan to a director
and considered the credit risk is limited since
the borrower has an appropriate credit history
and good reputation. The directors concluded
that there is no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
Credit risk associated with loan to a director is
also mitigated by way of a share charge over the
entire issued share capital of Reform Base which
holds indirect interest in a property located in
Macau. Hence, the Group assessed the 12m
ECL for loan to a director is insignificant and no
allowance for ECL was recognised.

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint venture. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the power to participate or jointly
control the relevant activities of the entity. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. During the
year ended 31st December 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for amount due from a joint
venture is insignificant and no allowance for ECL
was recognised.

Credit risk on time deposits and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for time deposits
and bank balances to be insignificant and no

allowance for ECL was recognised.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate cash and cash equivalents, monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and financial
liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring
by the management. Reports with maturity
dates of bank borrowings and thus the liquidity
requirements are provided to management for
review periodically. Management will raise or
refinance bank borrowings whenever necessary.

At 31st December 2022, the Group has available
unutilised banking facilities of HK$100,000,000
(2021: HK$121,150,000).

The following table shows details of the
Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for non-
derivative financial liabilities are prepared based
on the agreed repayment dates.

SApizey LS

Y H T e
T .
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) cREREBBEERBEK(E) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
REBELER (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TERBBENERASEESEE  MF The table includes both interest and principal
ERERZFBHFE  AIRMASEHIER cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
WEMKRZFIREL o floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.
nETH  RERY  BB-FE AER KafE
ik R-%R SREE BENLE RERELG @zt
Weighted  On demand  More than 1 Total Total
average or within  year but less Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year than 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
% TER TER TER TER TER
% HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R=B-ZZF+-B=1-H At31st December 2022
FTECREE Non-derivative financial liabilities
BARNER Trade payables S 10,253 - - 10,253 10,253
BUEES - BB Deposits received, accruals
REMEMNFTE and other payables - 87,564 - - 87,564 87,564
Hgafk Lease liabilities 4.44 3,492 4,365 - 7,857 7,499
BITEE Bank borrowings 8.40 184,457 1,839,905 - 2,024,362 1,600,000
ERBEZE Financing note payables 1.25 86,936 - - 86,936 86,898
B EERERTE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - 503,116 - - 503,116 503,116
@zt Total 875,818 1,844,270 - 2,720,088 2,295,330

At fronane LRSS
P

SINOPE L e v paew
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ﬁﬁmlﬂ (/f@"?_ 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) <BEMREEEEREE(Z) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
REBELER (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
METH REXS  HR-EE AEH REE
Gk R—ER PRAE RENE RERELH @5t
Weighted ~ On demand ~ More than 1 Total Total
average or within ~ year but less Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year than b years 5years  cash flows amount
% TR FEL FEL ThEL ThHr
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WZE--%+-F=+—H At31st December 2021
FiTESRaE Non-derivative financial liabilities
ZIENER Trade payables = 58,392 = = 58,392 58,392
BkmES - EHEE Deposits received, accruals
REMENZIE and other payables = 84,234 = = 84,234 84,234
HEaRE Lease liabilities 267 983 = = 983 981
RiTEE Bank borrowings 367 1517227 - - 1517227 1,478,850
ENREZE Financing note payables 0.2 96,376 - - 96,376 96,360
[t R A Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - 503,116 - - 503,116 503,116
@z Total 2,260,328 - - 2,260,328 2,221,933
FIFBERE Interest rate benchmark reform

ARG SRR 34T IE - AREZ
HIBORRITIEERZMEXEERELE -
AEBEZYIETHL BRI BREN
BEENXWIENR B BEMBIBORSEE
BEERZ DM -

HIBOR

BEATREIEHEZ (THONIAD ER
E 40 % RHIBOR » MY 5t 2148 1FF
HHIBOR - BB EHRABAZ A X% &It
HIBORK&HONIAJ & I 15 o

As disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s HIBOR bank
borrowings will be subject to the interest
rate benchmark reform. The Group is closely
monitoring the market and managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant
IBORSs regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index
Average (“HONIA”) has been identified as
an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has
been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

SApizey LS

Y H T e
T .
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages independent
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to
explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value of
the asset.

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 valuations: fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are input for which
market data are not available; and

o Level 3 valuations: fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) EMIBCAFEE(E) (c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
£-%4 FER BE=-EH @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TEr TER TER TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-ZZ--F#+=-A=1+-H At31st December 2022
BARENRES L FEE Fair value on a recurring basis
BRBENATER Financial assets at FVTPL
SRz e mMEE
EEBEMZRAES Equity securities listed
in Hong Kong 69,378 - = 69,378
RET-—REEL Call option embedded in loan
SN2 R E to a director - - 2,007 2,007
EYRE RATEE Investment in films, at fair value
- TR/ BTRE — films under post-production/
BY distribution stage - - 104,743 104,743
69,378 - 106,750 176,128
RZE-_—%+-A=+—H At31st December 2021
HEEEEZ N F(EE Fair value on a recurring basis
BBBEULTEAEYEZ  Financial assets at FVTPL
EEBEMZBRERES Equity securities listed
in Hong Kong 87,531 - - 87,531
RET-REEL Call option embedded in loan
ERNFEzRESRE to a director = = 5,384 5,384
EYRE BATVER Investment in films, at fair value
-TRERBRCEY — films under production stage = = 54,993 54,993
- EREEUE/ETRE — films under post-production/
37 distribution stage = = 28,090 28,090
= - 83,083 83,083
87,531 - 88,467 175,998

FEBZBERERAREHBR 2 FM L
BREHHRZ ABRENATEEER
EREEE

The Group’s policy is

to recognise transfers

into and out of fair value hierarchy levels at

the end of the date of the events or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

Dby pres

I i et B
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5.

ERMITHE

(c)

SRMIAZATEEE)
HE-_ZT-__F+-_A=T—HLHFE
W T EEE - SREEF_SR2HESE
BoREANEBEE=SR-

BHE_Z-_—+-_A=+—HLEFE
W TEREEF-SRESZ_FHR2MHE
B HIBAE=SR - R-_TE-_—F=A
— B KAEEHRQTEEEE2642,000
BRIZ TTRABFAE=FRBERE—
ER ARBBLETRAZBLANZBEE
EMZHMEER - Bt - ETRAES
RZEZ—F+-_A=+—HZAFEE
TEB R A RGN AR REET

TREJNBE-ZE-__FR-_T=-—F
+ A=+ BLFEHEIEAE=ZR
BRIZEBEEUNRFEBEIEZERE
EmEE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December 2022,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

During the year ended 31st December 2021,
there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into Level 3. On
1st March 2021, the Group transferred the
listed equity securities with an aggregate fair
value of HK$2,642,000 from Level 3 to Level
1 as the trading in the listed equity securities
were permitted to recommence on the Stock
Exchange on that date. Therefore, the fair
value of the listed equity securities as at 31st
December 2021 was determined based on a
published quoted price available on the Stock
Exchange.

The following tables present the changes in
financial assets at FVTPL which are classified
as Level 3 category for the years ended 31st
December 2022 and 2021:

FHET
FERZEBLETREES Suspended equity securities listed in Hong Kong HK$'000
RZE-_—F—HF—H At 1st January 2021 2,642
BHE=ZR Transfer out of Level 3 (2,642)

RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

At 31st December 2021 -
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BEF-—FBESZERAME2RABEHE Call option embedded in loan to a director
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

TAET
HK$'000

S

RPEEEHAELZER

RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

R-EBE-_—_F+=-A=+—8

- —4-A—A

Al

ERZE=Z=F—H—H
NEEEEHMELECEE

EXRE BAVEE

At 1st January 2021
Loss arising on change in fair value

At 31st December 2021 and
at 1st January 2022
Loss arising on change in fair value

At 31st December 2022

Investment in films, at fair value

62,910
(57,526)

5,384
(3,377)

2,007

FTAET
HK$'000

I >\

A
i

S'Z

1=
i

W=
FRZZE=-—_F—H—H

=
==A
N

A

=

b

o7
I'Z

- —F—f—H
&M
BEEHMELZER

T-_—F+-A=+—H

AR
BEZIMELEZER

PE 3R B

R-B-=-%+=ZA=+—H

At 1st January 2021
Increase in investment in films
Loss arising on change in fair value

At 31st December 2021 and

at 1st January 2022
Increase in investment in films
Loss arising on change in fair value
Exchange adjustments

At 31st December 2022

115,299

(32,216)

83,083
28,240

(3,727)
(2,853)

104,743




%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

5. @®MIA (£ 5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) L2RMIAZATEEE (c)  Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
EHE=FRATFEMBETEZEH Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements
BETUERE BETIBEGAMBH
EER BAHE AYEEZRE
Significant Relation of significant
Valuation unobservable unobservable
techniques input inputs to fair value
RET-—EZEE2ERAN —HEADRTERS HEHEEEGE EHEEBERRBRELLATEENE
e RiESE RELEBR
Call option embedded in  Binomial option Underlying asset value  The underlying asset value is positively correlated to
loan to a director pricing model the fair value measurement of the call option
BHRKE EHREARBER ATEEHEFETERR
Expected volatility The expected volatility is positively correlated to the

fair value measurement of the call option

RERERRCEZRE - HA% BEREMK BEREMAERATEBENECEFRECATE
BOTEE B B FEEERE

Investment in films under ~ Cost approach Budgeted investment The budgeted investment cost is positively
production stage, at fair cost correlated to the fair value measurement of
value investment in films at fair value

RERBEE/ZFTRRZ BRREREE BRE% (T —F: BREFARLTVEEHNEZEFREZATEEME

BEYRE BATEE 14%) FREERR

Investment in films under ~ Discounted cash flows Discount rate of 13% The discount rate is negatively correlated to the fair
post-production/ approach (2021: 14%) value measurement of investment in films at fair
distribution stage, value

at fair value
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

ZEAZHABENT

BEAEEBE(FHT) Underlying assets value (HK$'000)
IEE(TET) Exercise price (HK$'000)

T8 3R 18 (%) Expected volatility (%)

1 B U 25 (%) Dividend yield (%)

HigEE M (F) Option life (years)

ER R E(%)

Risk free rate (%)

Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the
management works closely with Graval
Consulting Limited (“Graval”), a firm of
independent qualified professional valuers, to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the directors at the end
of each reporting period to explain the cause of
fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

Information about the valuation techniques and
inputs used in determining the above fair value
are disclosed above.

Binomial option pricing model is used for
valuation for the call option component. The
inputs into the model at 31st December 2022,
14th September 2022 (Date of new term Loan
recognised) and 31st December 2021 are as
follows:

—s-=

t=A=+-H

—E-C —EBE-—F
R l=l +—A=+—H
31st December 14th September JECREIEBLIoII le]=]g

2022 2022 2021

396,668 395,961 454,976
500,000 500,000 500,000
27.46 21.23 45.77
RERA N/A TEA N/A A N/A
1.01 1.31 0.27

3.46 3.24 0.14

SApizey LS

Y H T e
T .
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(c)

EMIAZAFPEEE)

TRHANE=SRATVEEFAEBTEET
AR A BB IR RS % B AN R B 2 B
B TREZBRREBERHNSM FTRE

BABRTR B BIE M -

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in significant
unobservable inputs in Level 3 fair value

measurement. A positive number below indicates
a decrease in post-tax loss where and negative
number below indicates an increase in post-tax

loss.

BUF-BEZZERRAME

ZRBHE
HEEEE
# 5%
5%

TE B R 1R
EIN5%
B A5%

RERERBZEZRE
BRAFEE

FE R E K

5%

B A5%

RIE#BEE RTHE
2EYRE BAVEE

B H &
#HN5%
5%

Call option embedded in loan

to a director
Underlying asset value
5% increase
5% decrease

Expected volatility

5% increase
5% decrease

Investment in films under

production stage, at fair value

Budgeted investment cost
5% increase
5% decrease

Investment in films under post-
production/distribution stage,

at fair value
Discount rate
5% increase
5% decrease

—E=-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
THT FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
1,151 3,106
(794) (2,178)

401 924
(589) (902)
TiEBA N/A 2,750
TEB N/A (2,750)
(653) (268)

661 272

3r a8 1 TigeeTT e
>
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

RHT-—REFZER

RET-—REZZEFNAFEESIER
RTEEBRPE=ZSHER - HERE
HAREREOMREEBREMZEBER
EE EEBRZHABBEAMBRETRKR
REARBRERBUSRTAMEZRNME
3 o

-y -
ANy ey re s el

1)l 3

e R

Loan to a director

Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

Except as disclosed below, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values as at
31st December 2022 and 2021:

—E-= T4
2022 2021
R & AFEE IREE N EE
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
TET TR TET TET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000
489,639 486,091 481,606 500,005

The fair value of loan to a director is classified
as Level 3 category in fair value hierarchy
which has been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most
significant inputs being the discount rate that
reflects the return required by the holder for

investing in similar financial instrument.
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(d)

BEXER

FEBEERBHEER  ARRAEEZ @R
BARFELE  TEBBLERRESS
BREABNETRRADR - NBEFE -
ARECBBREESTE -

AREZEABERERFHE(AEHE
HERE RITEERENRERE Rk
ARBHAEAEERELZ  EERERARGE
o

AKEY EERTAINRIEMOERER -

BEREILE
EXRFREEENELAER - FRUE
Mz—8n EEEEEANANEESE
REARBZREAR - ARERREAQF
ESCHBRABBIMNKE  BITHK
DHEBEAERNDARBTHEFIED
REGHEMTPEHEERERS

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
net debts (which includes lease liabilities, bank
borrowings and financing note payables) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company
(comprising share capital and reserves).

The Group is not subject to any external imposed
capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

The directors review the capital structure
on annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of
dividends, issue of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or

redemption of existing debts.
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BE-ZE-__F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
5. @ﬁﬂl B (/%é'f_ 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) EXEHE#E) (d)  Capital management (Continued)
BEBERF(#) Gearing ratio (Continued)
FEBEEHBEERBRLET RS The Group aimed at maintaining a gearing ratio
50% c RIREHRZEEBBLENT ¢ of not more than 50%. The gearing ratio at the

end of the reporting period was as follows:

—E=-— —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$’000

BwIE (M) Total debts (Note) 1,694,397 1,576,191
W E BRI R Less: time deposits and cash

RE RIBITHEER and bank balances (75,764) (102,300)

[T Net debt 1,618,633 1,473,891
RARHE AEGER Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 2,950,433 3,064,638

B FEE R X Net debt to equity ratio 55% 48%

BIETGE LR Total debt to equity ratio 57% 51%

Hiit . HERPERERG HSITEERE Note: Total debts comprises lease liabilities, bank

NREER FBEIRNREEAVKR borrowings and financing note payables

KHTFE33 ~ 34%35 ° as detailed in notes 33, 34 and 35 to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”),
for the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments and that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two reportable segments — film related
business operations and property development and
investment operations. The segmentations are based on
the information about the operations of the Group that
management uses to make decisions.

An operating segment regarding the restaurant
operations was discontinued in the year ended
31st December 2021. The segment information
reported below does not include any amounts for
this discontinued operation, which are described in
more details in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that operate different activities. They are managed
separately because each business has different
markets and requires different marketing strategies.

Particulars of the Group’s reportable segments are
summarised as follows:

Film related - Investment, production,
business distribution and licensing of
operations films and television drama

series and provision of other
film related services including
artist management services

Property — Investment and development of

development properties
and investment

operations
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BEEBZHEANLFMT ;

FEEREEDEAD CNEREEDT

RFECEEY Continuing operations
SYRBERELERE  Fimrelated business operations
MEFLRRELLER  Property development and investment

operations

PEEEARTAEE Reconciliation from segment results

ZHER to loss before tax

APBREERA Unallocated corporate income
BBEFAATEETE  Loss arising on change in fair value of
ZEREEZATEE  financial assets at FVTPL

BYMEL BB
ElE—AEREZEE  Share of result of a joint venture
AABBERY Unallocated corporate expenses
BRERIER Loss before tax

EXFRERZDBBRBERBIAETFP Z
Wzt o MEFERDESBMBE -

NEEERZOIBRERNEZEI RS ED
ERAX BT zRBTBRAX  MBoBE
RARB EMEERx [ROBREE
WAIET RO Ef s R EMBA - E
BERUARTEEINRZEREEZAT
BEESMEL 2B BERURESL—H
RELEZEBERNMARZZER - R
AEBLEERKERZRIEERD B LT HE
BMZFTETE -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Continuing operations

Segment information about these operations is
presented as below:

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating segments

2 Bk ik

Segment revenue Segment results

—E-C —EZ-F ZECCE —T——

2022 2021 2022 2021
TR TR TR TRL
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

3,879 3,717 (20,015) (43,526)
o = (34,066) (38,441)
3,879 3,717 (54,081) (81,967)
46,324 117,580

(21,530) (120,197)

- ()

(64,368) (64,063)

(93,655) (148,649)

Segment revenue reported above represents
revenue generated from external customers.
There were no inter-segment sales for both
years.

Segment results represent the loss suffered
by each segment without allocation of central
administrative expenses, partial finance costs,
and partial other operating expenses under the
heading of “unallocated corporate expenses”,
partial other revenue and other income under
the heading of “unallocated corporate income”,
partial loss arising on change in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL and share of result of a
joint venture. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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6. ﬁﬁﬁ*&l (/{%’f 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
BHESEER (& Continuing operations (Continued)
(b) AEERRES BB 2HBMRR DN (b)  An analysis of the Group’s financial position

by operating segments

BE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets
REREER Continuing operations
— B HBERKEER  — Film related business operations
—MERER — Property development and investment
WEREER operations
NEEERTE Total segment assets
ROLEE Unallocated assets
a8\ LIABILITIES
NEEE Segment liabilities
FREREETR Continuing operations
— B BB ELERE  — Film related business operations
—MERER — Property development and investment
REREER operations
DEBERRE Total segment liabilities
RKOLAE Unallocated liabilities

=%=-= —®F=-—F
2022 2021
TAR TAR
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
517,537 643,660
3,926,568 3,807,808
4,444,105 4,451,468
803,752 834,441
5,247,857 5,285,909
77,193 73,279
2,201,208 2,134,484
2,278,401 2,207,763
19,704 14,170
2,298,105 2,221,933




BE

6. PEER(E

REREXRK (F)
FREREEDHBUD 2HBRR DT

(b)

(%)

AR BEHEE RN ERFHEEMME ¢

REEEDDETATHRENE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Continuing operations (Continued)

(b)

An analysis of the Group’s financial position
by operating segments (Continued)

For the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment between segments:

. all assets are allocated to reportable
segments, other than loan to a director,
partial deposits, prepayment and other
receivables, partial financial assets at
FVTPL, amount due from a joint venture,
partial cash and bank balances and
partial property, plant and equipment for
central administrative purposes; and

° all liabilities are allocated to reportable
segments, other than partial deposits
received, accruals and other payables

and partial lease liabilities.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BEREER (E) Continuing operations (Continued)
(c) Hit 2 EER (c)  Other segment information
EVEBRHEERE  NEBIRREGERE R &8
Film related Property development and
business operations investment operations Unallocated Consolidated
bl “5- - (bt T -7 (bl CT--C (et CT--F
2022 201 2022 2021 2022 201 2022 il
Tn ThL TR ThL THL Tkt THR Tin
HKS'000 ST HKS'000 EY00  HKS 000 HK$000 TSRl HK§ 000
REEERE Continuing operations
HAREABEEAAEEELHE.  Amounts included in the measure of segment results
or segment assets:
EYMEES Amartisation of film rights 466 19 - - - - 466 129
0% BERRENE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1 91 30 1707 6,079 6805 6,410 9503
BESYRE CRDRERE Impairment loss recogrised i respect offim rights 26 2862 - = = = 256 2862
ERREAET RRTRERE Impaitment loss recogrised i respect offims in progress s 1313 g = 5 - - 1313
LSRIGH REEEERRE Alowance for ECL on trade receivables 4 1§ R R , , 4 %
REREMENZEZBSESEEEE  Alowance for ECL on deposits and other receivables 6,887 3339 - - 383 17417 17210 20,756
benE BERREZEE/(57)  Loss/gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - - 16,550 - (9919) - (13,366)
HEng BRRREIER Loss on writen off of property, plant and equipment - 62 - - 16 7 16 141
KIHERRMT-2EE 285768 Loss on derecognition of loan to a director & = = - 130 = 13,046 -
FERZNATRESIEZ28EE,  Lossaising on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL
AVEERIMEL B yar R - RO N P T S 7 1)
RENZLDTEERDAEEL (Gain)oss arising on change in fai value ofinvestment property
(&H) /58 - -1 694 = - (1) 604
FENE BERRE Addtions to property, plant and equipment - - 646 538 9925 20 10,57 7%
EHOTTEERARERMBTIA  Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included
REGEES EREEEFELR in the measure of segment resuls or segment assets:
BHEMA Bank infgrest income 14 643 1,363 110 121 14 1624 87
LEvELN Loan interest income - - - R ) IR (V2 N X1
BEAL Finance costs - S 2133 1,751 21 8 2414 1833
El-Baibs55 Share of result of a ot venture = = = = = 2 = 2
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—ZF+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BEREER (E) Continuing operations (Continued)

d EEXEEFzEHR (d)  Information about major customers
FESEEE Continuing operations
HEFEREBER NS ELEHEET10% Revenue from customers of the corresponding
EMEPZMENT years contributing over 10% of the total sales of

the Group is as follows:
—E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FTExT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHEERCEER Film related business operations

EEH Customer A S 3,000
®REZ Customer B 1,626 -
PR Customer C 1,189 _
®FT Customer D 799 E A N/A*

BREXFERN MEFEHELMRF
BERAEBE W ZZ10%TIA £ o

N HEKZERMASERKRETES
10% °

Except disclosed above, no other customers
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue
for both years.

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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6.

BFERSEER(F)
(e) ith & & R

TREFEB()REIREP 2 Yz K(i)
FERBEE (TEBEERIA) 2MER
BRZEH - FPMELRTIERREHRS
FXNERZAERE - EREEEZ PR
EWEDERZEEEZARNUE -

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Continuing operations (Continued)

(e) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about

geographical location of (i) revenue from external

customers and (ii) non-current assets (excluded

financial instruments). The geographical location

of customers is based on the location at which

the services were provided or the goods

delivered. The geographical location of non-

current assets is based on the physical location

of the assets.

RENREF 2l

Revenue from
external customers
—=E= —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT THET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

B Hong Kong
B P Macau
=91 Taiwan

s The PRC
EHAh Others

4 15
3,704 3,437
171 265

FRBEE
(TEFELMIA)
Non-current assets
(excluded
financial instruments)
—E—_—

2022 2021
THET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

54,918 51,089
828 754
149,289 162,539

3,879 3,717

205,035 214,382
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g 2=
ATHIIRERSA D2 K a
S B -

NEERTHRE

7. REVENUE

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

the segment information.

—E-= B —F
2022 2021
FH&xT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
BEREXEK Continuing operations
PIREEFEHAZ R Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers
BITBRA Distribution fee income 2,991 3,093
B2AEERBEA Artist management service income 888 449
HEFEHz W Revenue from contracts with customers 3,879 3,542
H 2R 2 =& Revenue from other sources
BERIRE A Income from investment in films = 175
3,879 3,717
—E_-= —_EF -
2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
HEFEHZWE Revenue from contracts with customers
W a5 T 2R 2 e T M Timing of revenue recognition
B — (A2 A point in time 3,879 3,542




%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

8.

Hiplrsa & E b g A

8. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

—=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FExT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
BEKEEL Continuing operations

g B WA Dividend income 62 -
RITH B U A Bank interest income 1,624 827
ERF B A Loan interest income 46,079 86,102
B E (M) Government grants (Note) 886 346

HEWE - HER Gain on disposal of property, plant and
BB 2w F equipment = 13,366
BE 5, A Foreign exchange gain - 2,243
I A Sundry income 282 19
48,933 102,903
W : BE-_S-_—F#+-_A=+—RIEERN & Note: During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Group

SEFRPIRFRIITIRE BT (DRPIERAT)) R4
22019 MM S RAEAHUERREBELE
¥ BT #B)$£886,0008 T (T = —F:

346,000/8 L) °

AME A

recognised government grants of HK$886,000 (2021:
HK$346,000) from continuing operations in respect of

Covid-19 related subsidies provided by the government

of Macau Special Administrative Region (the “Macau

Government”).

9. FINANCE COSTS

FEEEEY
RITEEZHME
ENREREZHE
RITERER
HERBZHME

H fth B B A A

MEFEZEDEHE

b L LR a g el
=2 B :

ECIS R, ¢ | TR
5 e

—E-= T —F
2022 2021
THERT FET
HKS$’ 000 HK$'000

Continuing operations
Interests on bank borrowings 98,861 54,576
Interests on financing note payables 661 220
Bank guarantee charges 1,347 1,368
Interests on lease liabilities 281 82
Other finance costs 125 163
101,275 56,409
Interests capitalised to stock of properties (98,861) (54,576)
2,414 1,833
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10. REAEE

BB ATER &R, GEA) THSEREH

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

FREEEY
BRI 5
(FREASHE R A)
% BUAD B & B A AR 75 -
ENNSIE 4T

—BEF IR

— JF A RS

BERANAX (BiF15)

EREREEZMAX

ERREBEEEZHEZRX
(TRRREEEEZEHERE)

EHREER 2B EEBRERE
(FFAEMEERX)

BeREMEBEFBRZBREER
BEEGIARBEER)

BRENRZAFEEEYMELL
Ca ) /8

FREXREZEEARERRE
(FREAEMEERX)

BRARETEZ CEEIREER
FEAEMEER)

RUIEERARRT - REZZERZ
EiE GTAEMKERAX)

WEYE R RREZER

BERBHENAFEEIRZERE

BE 3B 1E 7 i A) % 8

Continuing operations
Amortisation of film rights
(included in cost of sales)
Auditors’ remuneration and other services:
Auditors of the Company
— audit services

— non-audit services

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Employee benefit expenses (note 15)

Expense relating to short-term leases

Expense relating to leases of
low-value assets, excluding
short-term leases of low-value assets

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables
(including in other operating expenses)

Allowance for ECL on deposits and other
receivables (included in other operating
expenses)

(Gain)/loss arising on change in fair value
of investment property

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
film rights (included in other operating
expenses)

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of films in progress (included in other
operating expenses)

Loss on derecognition of loan to a director
(included in other operating expenses)

Loss on written off of property, plant and
equipment

Loss arising on change in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL

Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)

—E=-= —E-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
466 129
800 800
137 137
937 937
6,810 9,503
44,380 43,984
1,444 1,084
95 105

4 46
7,270 20,756
(1,531) 694
256 2,862

- 1,313
13,046 -
16 141
25,257 152,413
13,527 (2,243)
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11.

ﬁﬁ%’;ﬁﬁﬁfi 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
. —T-—F
2022 2021
FTERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEREXK Continuing operations
RIER I Deferred tax 465 _

REFBFEGHMES AEREBREEZEMG
EBETHEF GRS 25% MR BBWAEE
BT BIIE16.5% T REF o

EAFGHAMBEFELRGTERBEN 2
16.5%:H & ©

HRAEEMERESBELERRT RN NZERE
i F B 2 ARB AR RIBEEE W ER
HE-_ZT-_—Fr-_ZTZ-_—F+-_A=+—H1t
FEZEBMNSHIELBE -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year ended 31st December 2022 and 2021 as
the Group has no assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong or taxable profits were wholly absorbed by

estimated tax losses brought forward.
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BB R R W E S P HR25% 8 A R B b
EEH - RPIKE A AN M EFE Y RE
FERBR T 2 &= BB R12%E MR 15
WAB - AEWNBARASMAELER  HE
120,0008T & M ER M A ER R ¥R - MER
I A120,000%7 & B LA _E1220% B 7

MR AKELERPE BRIk A EELERK
mH MU BRZMEFE 2 PBECRAEH
R SHARLBBEEBELEE -

FRUTEGABARABFEABESER 2GR
AT :

11.

T _F+-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% for both years. Macau subsidiaries
are subject to Macau Complementary Tax at the
maximum progressive rate of 12% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years. Taiwan subsidiary is
subject to Taiwan corporate tax, the first NT$120,000
taxable income of Taiwan subsidiary is exempted from
corporate tax and taxable income above NT$120,000 is
taxed at 20%.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax, Macau
Complementary Tax and Taiwan corporate tax has been
made for both years as the Group has no assessable
profits arising in the PRC, Macau and Taiwan.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated income
statement as follows:

—=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FTET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000

BHEQSEXER Continuing operations
RELATE B Loss before tax (93,655) (148,649)
BREMMAERMR R B 2B Tax at domestic income tax rate (14,155) (24,144)
NTZBBeE: Tax effect of:
TERFL A Income not taxable for tax purpose (7,957) (19,940)
EE k73 Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 15,494 31,477
RERZ A IEER Estimated tax losses not recognised 7,308 18,165
EABTRERIBEE Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised (225) (5,558)
FEMSHAX Income tax expense for the year 465 -
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11.

12.

ﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁﬂ 3'2 (/ééf_ 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
REEER  NEBH A L RIOEF 2 E5TKR At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
B) FA 74 I8 #5181,597,974,0008 L (Z T = —F estimated unused tax losses of HK$1,597,974,000
1,555,053,000/& 7) © 7N~ AT 8 58 K 78 5% A (2021: HK$1,555,053,000) available for offset against
ENERRELCRBEELEE AR EBEITE future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
PR ER ALY o recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
E%&%@%%;’]’% 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION
R-ZZE-—FhNhA=1+H AEBEKABHAER On 30th September 2021, the Group closed down its
K—EBEEEXEBUNRBEAZEE - RABKLE restaurant located in Hong Kong permanently which
BEBBEER (B ARARAR)EIRNT constituted a major line of business. The loss for the
3o period from the discontinued operation which have
been included in the consolidated income statement is
set out below.
—E-—4F
—A—B=Z
hA=+H
Hi
Period from
1st January 2021
to 30th September
2021
FET
HK$'000
g Revenue 1,595
B E R Cost of sales (432)
ES Gross profit 1,163
H iz e E A YA Other revenue and other income 151
TR Administrative expenses (9,180)
Mo A 1R Loss before tax (7,866)
s Income tax expense _
HEEE Loss for the period (7,866)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Loss for the period from discontinued operation has

HEEH been arrived at after charging:
—E-—%F
~A—R%
—E-—F
NA=TH
HA RS
Period from
1st January 2021
to 30th September
2021
FAT
HK$'000
FERAR Cost of inventories 432
ME - WBERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,426

EBEBFAML Employee benefit expenses:

Hre RE M= Salaries and other allowances 1,643
RORTEFET B 5K Retirement benefits scheme contributions 67
RERFMAX Staff welfare expenses 3
1,713
HEME BERZEB2ZER Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,435
MEmE  MERIEBZER Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment 156

MAERIEERBZRERENT :

were as follow:

Cash flows of the discontinued operation for the period

—E-—fF
—A—BZ%
—E-—4F
NA=+H

Hf

Period from

1st January 2021
to 30th September

2021

FAT

HK$'000

KERSMAFHE Net operating cash inflow 509
KRERSMAFHE Net investing cash inflow 199
WERMALTE Total cash inflow 708
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DIVIDEND

No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year,
nor any dividend has been proposed by the board of
directors subsequent to the end of the reporting period
(2021: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

=
—E-_F+-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
. ®RE 13.
FAWERNSKEZRSRBRE - RBEEHR
B EEeNBEERRNENRE (ZE=Z—F:
) o
. BREE 14.

REFEARCRILQEER

ARRHBEAREREFERCRIELEREEKZ
BREAREEERRATEERNE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
from continuing and discontinued operations attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—=E-= —TE-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B8 Loss
RKRAREEANERFEEIE Loss for the year attributable to owners of
(BRTESREAARBEERE) the Company for the purposes of basic
and diluted loss per share (94,101) (156,496)
—E-—F
2021
T &
000
R EE Number of shares
AU EERAARANEEREIB > Weighted average number of ordinary
nEEHEEEREE shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share 2,480,883 2,506,875

RBAFATRRES 2 FERE - LA T RRE
FHFEBAEARBRDRAREFMF ZBR L
B o B - A58 49265,0008 T (= F
Z—% : 265,000/ 70) 2 i ARITER AR TR E
S E1,060,317 (2B = —%F : 1,060,317%)
BREEOCOIETZHAREBRAAARTES
PREAEIE 2 BT L EREE -

MRMEFEDEEESHTEAR  HT27
BiHEEER -

Pursuant to the deed polls of the Bonus CBs, the
Bonus CBs conferred the holders with the same
economic interests attached to the shareholders of the
Company. Accordingly, 1,060,317 (2021: 1,060,317)
fully paid ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each which
shall be convertible from an aggregated amount
of approximately HK$265,000 (2021: HK$265,000)
outstanding Bonus CBs are included in the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for calculating the
basic loss per share.

No diluted loss per share was presented as there was
no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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14. ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ (fé’f_ 14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)
REFEQSEER From continuing operations
ARBEBEAEOREFELCLEEBZERER The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
MESEEB IR T EIEE from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company is based on the following data:
—E_— —EF-—%F
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
[-iFi=] Loss
KARBEAEARMFERSE Loss for the year attributable to owners of
(ARAHEESREARKREEERE) the Company for the purposes of basic
and diluted loss per share (94,101) (148,630)

FAANBEEXHRAFERERILEEELY
BREAREEERMFI 2 EER -

RECKRIEEEEL

BHE-_T-—F+-A=+-BLFE B&L
BEEB 2 BRERREEEERTR0.31E -
TRE K IEEE ¥ 2 B HEE 187,866,000 7T
HE O MAASBEEXHREBERBEILERL
BEB BREARAREEEEMFI 2 D EER -

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted loss per share for the discontinued
operation is HK0.31 cents per share for the year ended
31st December 2021, based on the loss for the period
from the discontinued operation of HK$7,866,000 and
the denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share from

continuing and discontinued operations.
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15. EERAIBEX

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

- T —4F
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEREXK Continuing operations
EE5HM Directors’ remuneration
—EE0E — directors’ fee 720 720
—¥e RHEAMERMN — salaries and other allowances 16,080 16,080
—RIR@FFTEI R — retirement benefits scheme contributions 20 36
16,820 16,836
e REAER Salaries and other allowances 27,809 26,483
iR R AE F T B 3R Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(T"BEEEZ (excluding directors’ retirement benefits
RARGERE2H R0 scheme contributions) 568 627
EERFAFAX Staff welfare expenses 47 38
45,244 43,984
W BB (A7iE) Less: government grants (Note) (864) =
44,380 43,984
Kiix: BE-—_E-_—&E+-_A=+—BHLEER & Note: During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Group

SERRARTERTMEROGRRETSZ

—E-—FE) nil) from continuing operations related to Employment

— =

I 5 %6 B £:864,000/% 7T (

REHBEEEEBICBEEBNFAMEG -

recognised government grants of HK$864,000 (2021:

Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong

government which are deducted from employee benefit

expenses.
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15. EERFBBEX (&

(@)

ExHe

ARRIEFEEAHE=-R(ZF=
ZR)BIUFATEER=R(ZFT =~

FIZR)MTEFEK -

3T Name of director

g Executive directors

miH Mr. Heung

Bt Ms. Chen

EXY -1 Ms. Li Yuk Sheung

BUf4Es Independent non-executive
directors

HEERE Mr. Hung Cho Sing

E&EE Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul

HERL W) Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert
(Note a)

BERREW ) Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander
(Note b)

Bt

(a) HEMNEEEBEEIENTE
F BH-E-_=F—AWA#KLE

5 o

(b) BEREEBZTAE LI
TEE B-Z-=%—HM@
ARER -HE-_T-_—_Fr=
T+ -_A=+—RILFE
W BEREETEEREER

BAERBE o

——F+=-RB=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments
The Company’s board of directors is currently
composed of three (2021: three) independent
non-executive directors and three (2021: three)
executive directors.
Continuing operations
HeRHtRE BIERT LS
Retirement
Salaries and benefits scheme
Fees other allowances contributions Total
CECCE ekl - F —ECCE [ekiaiuid
2022 2021 2022 2022 2021
T TiEn T T Tin
HK$'000 EGIEYUNM HKS 000 HKS'000 Ealeyu
- - 7,560 7,560 - - 7,560 7,560
- - 6,960 6,960 18 6,062 6,978
- = 1,560 1,560 18 18 1,578 1,578
240 240 - - - - 240 240
240 240 - - - - 240 240
240 240 - - - - 240 240
720 720 16,080 16,080 20 36 16,820 16,836
Notes:

(a) Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert has tendered his

resignation as an independent non-executive

director with effect from 4th January 2023.

(b) Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander has been

appointed as an independent non-executive

director with effect from 4th January 2023.

During the years ended 31st December 2022
and 2021, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander did

not receive any emoluments from the Group.
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15. EERFBBEX (&

(a)

EEZHe (&)

HEZZTEZ-_ZFRrRZFZ—F+=A
St—HEFERN AEEBHERARR
EEXNMESEAMAREERMBEZ
REIAERMZHE R EIMEFE
HEANREESHELRBEREEMHS -

BREAMBREAMNTN2ERBEALR
SR EEI  RERLFREMER -
ARBRAR R NE R BB ESETT
VEBRARBEBMESERIEEESR
BABGBZEMRS  THRAHD -

15.

#F Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

During the years ended 31st December 2022
and 2021, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors of the Company waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments in both years.

Except for those disclosed in material related
party transactions in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any
subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in
which a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.
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——F+=-RB=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

4% & M B it T Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include
three (2021: three) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in (a) above and amounted to
HK$16,100,000 (2021: HK$16,116,000). The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2021:
two) individuals who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company during the year
were as follows:

BREREEYR Continuing operations
—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
o &k HEAMER Salaries and other allowances 3,300 3,300
RIKEFFHEI R Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 36 36
3,336 3,336

ZME(ZE-_—F MB)ALEE %
(Z2=—F: —Z)REERERER
ABRE|-HREsSREEAG -

HHEME (CTE-—F MB)RSHMA
TEUZHERRHEN T A TAR :

The two (2021: two) individuals include one
(2021: one) senior management as disclosed
in the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management”.

The aggregated emoluments of each of
the remaining two (2021: two) highest paid
individuals fell within the following bands:

AE
Number of individuals
T —F
2021
1,500,001 7t £2,000,000/%8 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 2

RO e e
R +
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

16. R IKEFIFTE 16.

AEBERAERBBESFIEANERHTRNK
B ZEHBHBUIEAERE -

RERELHE EXREEEHAKERIAH
WA Z5%[A 5% 18 & 5T 81E L H5K - 1EAE AR
Y A30,0008 7T & LR - 588 & 5 &) 2 R 4E
RGBT KREEEE -

REEMEBRRTENRGE  BRELERENHA
REEEARHE 25%MEELHR - HFUE
AHF2 0008 RE LR -HEBERBEEEH
BEHFZ ARG 8 SRR A E IR A
SEEAHK-

HE-_ZT-_—_F#+-_A=Z+—BLFER #
59,000/ 70 (=T = — 4 : 40,000/ 1) 3K E
B R BENRASBAIFER N =F
o+ A=+ —BUE(ZT=—F:8)T
BIEIERET E

At fronane LRSS
e i

SINOPE L e v paew
%

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes including the MPF Scheme. The schemes are
administered by independent trustees.

Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately upon the completion of the services in the
relevant service period.

Under other defined contribution retirement schemes,
the employers and their employees are required
to make contributions to the schemes at 5% of the
employees’ basic salary subject to a cap of monthly
contribution of MOP2,000 each. Where employees leave
the schemes prior to the full vesting of the employers’
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

Contributions totalling HK$59,000 were forfeited and
utilised during the year ended 31st December 2022
(2021: HK$40,000) to reduce contributions paid by the
Group and no forfeited contribution was available at
31st December 2022 (2021: nil).
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—ZH+ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
17, Y% . HEE TR p 42 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
G- 2B
RELH g% HENE RENEEE Rk hE 4%
Furniture,
Leasehold Leased Leasehold  fixtures and Motor
land Buildings properties improvements  equipment vehicles Total
TiEn TR T T T TAL TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Cost
R-F--F-f-A At 1st January 2021 53,409 94,680 16,548 15,671 7911 10,820 199,039
RE Additions - - - 476 335 - 811
e Disposal (2,269) (86,594) - (9,198) (58) - (98,119)
ROHR Expiry of lease = = (3,336) S S S (3,336)
ik Written off = - - (1,255) (3.472) - (4,727)
EiA% Exchange adjustments = = = 5 = = 5
RZEZ-FFZA=F—H At3ist December 2021 and
FR-5--%-F-H at 1st January 2022 51,140 8,086 13,212 5,699 4716 10,820 93,673
RE Additions - - 10,392 - 179 - 10,571
BOSR Expiry of lease = S (13,212) 5 5 5 (13,212)
ik Written off - - - - (170) - (170)
ERAE Exchange adjustments - - - (47 4 - (51)
RZE-ZFE+-A=F-F At31st December 2022 51,140 8,086 10,392 5,652 4721 10,820 90,811
ZHAERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
RZE--%-f-H At 1st January 2021 3,750 31,020 10,626 8,479 7178 9,026 70,079
FRZHE Charge for the year 1,858 1,372 4883 1,671 356 789 10,929
HEBYHE Eliminated on disposal (204) (27,945) - (3,587) (21) - (31,777)
BAERE Eliminated on expiry of lease - - (3,336) - - - (3,336)
Jif=t=2ar ] Eliminated on written off - - - (1,200) (3,230) - (4,430)
EiAE Exchange adjustments - 5 5 2 5 5 2
WZEZ-F+ZA=F-H At31st December 2021 and
RR-E--%-8-H at 1st January 2022 5,384 4447 12,173 5,365 4283 9,815 41,467
FRXHE Charge for the year 17% 404 3714 150 158 590 6,810
RA e 4 Eliminated on expiry of lease - - (13.212) - - - (13212)
WEEE Eliminated on written off = = = = (154) = (154)
ERHZ Exchange adjustments - - - (20) (1) - 1)
RZZ-ZE+-B=1-8 At 31st December 2022 7,178 4851 2,675 549 4,286 10,405 34,890
BHE Carrying amounts
W=B-ZF+-A=t-HB At31st December 2022 43,962 3,235 7 157 435 45 55,921
RZE-—F+-F=F-H At31st December 2021 45,756 3,639 1,039 334 433 1,005 52,206

-y
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%% & B % it & B} 5% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2022

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The directors conducted a review of the recoverable
amount of the Group’s buildings and related leasehold
lands with reference to valuation performed by JP
Assets Consultancy Limited (“JP Assets”), a firm of
independent qualified professional valuers.

At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the Group estimates
the recoverable amounts of the buildings and related
leasehold lands based on higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the
buildings and related leasehold lands does not exceed
the recoverable amount based on fair value less costs
of disposal and no impairment has been recognised.

XA EF REESE The carrying amounts of buildings shown above
comprise:
= —F-—F
2022 2021
FTER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
UREBEBZETF Buildings located in Hong Kong:
— R ERAE 4V - Medium-term lease 3,235 3,639
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BE-ZE-__F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
17 2[;@ % N %%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ (/é%'f_ 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
rEBEBEREBEA The Group as lessee
RHEEE (GTAYF  BERRKE) Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and
equipment)
HELH HENXE wst
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
TER TET TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REE Carry amounts
R-Z-—F—f—H At 1st January 2021 49,659 5,922 55,581
FEWNESH Depreciation charge for the year (1,858) (4,883) (6,741)
HE Disposal (2,045) - (2,045)

RZZE-—F+-A=1+—H At 31st December 2021 and

RR-_FE-_—F—F—H at 1st January 2022 45,756 1,039 46,795
AE Additions - 10,392 10,392
FEWELH Depreciation charge for the year (1,794) (3,714) (5,508)
RZZE-—F+=-A=+-H At 31st December 2022 43,962 7,717 51,679

—E-= T4

2022 2021

FET FET

HEWME Leased properties HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FHEHHEEZAX Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,444 1,084
fFHEREEEEMEEZRX Expenses relating to leases of low-value
(TBRFEEEBEESEZEHMMAE) assets, excluding short-term leases of

low-value assets 95 105

HEZRESR TR Total cash outflow for leases 5,694 5,975

XA E L MANES - WA BBANEA The leasehold land shown above is located in Hong

Kong and is held under medium-term lease.
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18. REWE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

—E-—F
2021
FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
AFEEE Fair value
®n—A—H At 1st January 162,176 -
NE Additions 1,384 160,365
RIBHERZ AT EEZS Gain/(loss) arising on fair value change
FREAZ&H,/ (&) recognised in profit or loss 1,531 (694)
bE 5 3 Exchange adjustments (15,977) 2,505
R+=—A=+—8 At 31st December 149,114 162,176
REMEZ N FEBEESZ Unrealised gain/(loss) on fair value
KREBHERN, (FE) change of investment property 1,531 (694)
REBZREMECER FIRT UIEHEITE The Group’s investment property has been pledged to
NEEREZER - a bank to obtain its guarantee for issuing the financing
note payables.
ATEEFE Fair value measurement

$§@ZTX§%%E?REA_?__$&_?_
F+t-A=1t-BZRAYEEFE-BE

T oFERZF—Ft+tZA=1— ElJJ:iF i
EREFEENT RHAEENETITAEEH
?é?;ﬁ@&i&,ﬁﬁft?ﬁﬁﬁ%%z&ﬁ&iﬁ%ﬁ@

2B *ﬁiﬂﬂﬁii&?ﬂéﬂﬁﬂ# CEEEEY
ﬁ?“%ﬁ%ﬁ@{ﬁ’“&ﬁ{ﬁ EITRER

HERENE ATEES REANEZREM
RRNEEAAR -

The Group’s investment property was measured at fair
value at 31st December 2022 and 2021.
ended 31st December 2022 and 2021,
was carried out by JP Assets. JP Assets has among

For the year
the valuation

its staff members with appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the locations and categories of
property being valued. The directors have discussion
with JP Assets on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation was performed at
the end of each reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property,
the highest and best use of the investment property is
their current use.

Al ,.A——“.QJ
\

el
nﬂ"i-
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18. REME (&

DREEEE)

AEBURBEZRENMEZ ATV EEFEDD
BRATEERRE=SH 2 FEEFETMHM

BEERMEHABENT

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
property located in Taiwan is categorised into Level 3

fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs

used in fair value measurement are as follow:

BEFTHEDARE
L/ES fhE R BETTHEBARE HERPEEZBE
Significant Relation of significant
Valuation unobservable unobservable
Property techniques input inputs to fair value
URBEzEEME BRELBE TISEMAER 2ZHEAMELPRRREL FATSEMEREE LT

Residential property
located in Taiwan

i 2 B

2

Car parks located
in Taiwan

Direct comparison
approach

BEEREBX

Direct comparison
approach

RUEER KN NIREBEAR  ENT

& 75 2K646,000%1 & ¥ (FHE7164,0007%5
70) £699,000%1 & ¥ (185 74178,000% 7T)
(ZZ=—F : BF}K653,000% & ¥ (18
£7184,000/8 70 ) £675,0005 & # (%

190,000 7T) )

Market unit rate, with reference to recent
transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for time, size and floor level of the
property, which ranged from NT$646,000
(equivalent to HK$164,000) to NT$699,000
(equivalent to HK$178,000) (2021:
NT$653,000 (equivalent to HK$184,000) to
NT$675,000 (equivalent to HK$190,000)

per square metre)

MGEMER  2EBRYERHARIEL
BmEER KN REEERAE  ENT
& ¥ 77 K113,000% & # (B 129,000/
7T) £152,000%7 & ¥ (485 739,000 7T
(ZZ2=—F : ®F5K132,000%71 & % (38
F 37,0008 L) £147,0005 &% (HER

41,0005 7))

Market unit rate, with reference to recent
transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for time, size and floor level
of the property, which ranged from
NT$113,000 (equivalent to HK$29,000) to
NT$152,000 (equivalent to HK$39,000)
(2021: NT$132,000 (equivalent to
HK$37,000) to NT$147,000 (equivalent to
HK$41,000) per square metre)

AEHAFEEREEMN
P RZIR o

A significant increase in
the market unit rate
used would result in a
significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

RSB EREE LT
AEHRAFEEREEM
P RZTR

A significant increase in
the market unit rate
used would result in a
significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.
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19. E{;‘{%—%E%Zﬁ%ﬂ 19. LOAN TO A DIRECTOR

—=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
n—HA—H At 1st January 481,606 420,504

BARERFLIEER Derecognition upon substantial
modification (500,000) S
HEF B WA Imputed interest income 46,079 86,102
B W F B Interest received and receivables (25,000) (25,000)
WRAREF—RESZ2ER Recognition of loan to a director 486,954 -
R+—_A=+—H At 31st December 489,639 481,606
—=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000

JEUBRE E - Carrying amounts receivable:

—FR Within 1 year S 481,606
R —FELRRE More than 1 year but less than 2 years 489,639 =
489,639 481,606

RZB—XR"E+—A=+hIB AxR28Ez22EH
J& 2 AlBest Combo Limited ([Best Combo] *
RERAN)BRZT (ERERA)FILERBH
(TEFH#]) - Bt - Best Combol A & [ R
L+ HE I —% A4 % A500,000,000% T (R TE
REeBEELAR) 2EHER(ER]D - BERIR
FHERSEFE - ARERZREA B AL 560(E
AERZBESE RURZI2EHEZAEE
BEZ BB TR Z A FReform Base? ¥ %
TR RGO W ERERF -

On 29th November 2016, Best Combo Limited (“Best
Combo”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
as a lender, and Ms. Chen, as a borrower, entered into
a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) pursuant
to which Best Combo has agreed to grant a fixed
term loan (the “Loan”) to Ms. Chen in the principal
amount of HK$500,000,000 (subject to the loan amount
adjustment). The Loan is interest bearing at 5% per
annum, repayable on the date falling 60 months from
the drawdown date of the Loan and secured by way
of a share charge over the entire issued share capital
of Reform Base, a company incorporated in BVI and
wholly owned by Ms. Chen.

3r a8 1 TigeeTT e
>

S
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19. BRUF-—BES2ER (&

Mz ARRIBZ2EEEER CGEEFFE)
Mm% &7 A mBest Combo i N R+ &
EEOWELEZEBN-

BIEBEZRWZ Mz LB R & Best Combol
HREEEE ([REA#E]) - 22 #Best Combom
EFRIAR60EAERZITEBRNERRL
=+ £A500,000,000% 7T (4R F* & 5 & 88 3 )
i Reform Base® B EITILA »

R-FE—tFEOAKXA WERERA £2
EREETZAEEMSLOATFEE EFR
REFBHRABHEDSH Z2EEIRNNA
271,908,000/ 7T % 228,092,000/ 7T ©

RZBZ_Z_F-AZ+NBRZZT-__F_A
+—H ' Best Combof R+ 5 R E =%
BRI KKK - E it - Best ComboRRLZE£E
RENFARRESARARZ B REM £
EREFZEEEXBZEERZIRM ARG
AAEMZBEN—_ZE-_=—ARR): &i)E&
ERBHRZITEHEEER IR B 569
AE#RzA (—ZE=-=F—AFA) AR -

19.

LOAN TO A DIRECTOR (Continued)

Ms. Chen can repay the Loan (together with accrued
interest) in full after the drawdown date without penalty
provided not less than ten business days’ prior written
notice has been given to Best Combo.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Ms. Chen has agreed
to grant the call option (the “Call Option”) to Best
Combo which allows Best Combo to require Ms. Chen
to sell the entire issued share capital of Reform Base at
HK$500,000,000 (subject to the loan amount adjustment)
during the exercise period falling on the expiry of 60
months from the drawdown date of the Loan.

On 6th April 2017, the drawdown date of the Loan, the
directors have recognised the amounts of approximately
HK$271,908,000 and HK$228,092,000 for the loan
portion and the call option portion respectively by
reference to the fair value arrived on the basis of
valuation performed by Graval.

On 28th January 2022 and 11th February 2022, Best
Combo and Ms. Chen entered into a second deed
of variation and a side letter respectively, pursuant
to which Best Combo and Ms. Chen have agreed to
(i) conditional upon the Company having obtained
approval from the independent shareholders of the
Company, extend the final repayment date of the Loan
to the date falling on the expiry of 69 months from the
drawdown date of the Loan, i.e., 5th January 2023; and
(ii) extend the exercisable period of the Call Option
to any time within the date falling on the expiry of 69

months from the drawdown date of the Loan, i.e., 5th
January 2023.




19. BRUF-—LBESZER(E

RZZZZFRXAZ+MHE - Best ComboH
RTATUE =M EHREE - Bt - Best Combo&
Bzt EREBENFARAESARAZEIKE
HEE E—FPEREFIGEERHEAER
ZIRMBEHSIEAER A (AT —MF—
AER)  R(NERRBHE2TEREBER
ZRMBEHSIEAER A (A= - mWEF—
AREB)AEAER - F=MOERZERRRR
BE_MNERRBERME - AR ERBBIEZ
TEBHERAEGE REMHEZTEHEAL
MER RZTEZZFNATHABITZRRE
AMAEE HECRERBREERBZARRE
BEVRRUNEERAFTALIRNBBAAL BAZ

= o

EEEABREAE RS EEE L ERRIE
$ T 0 B 31500,000,000/% T2 3 4818 % 18 % 17
2 BTG A TERBRIERT HER
486,954,000/ 7T © Z%813,046,000/8 7T E R E &
"z -

HE-_E-_-—fpR-_T-_—F+-_A=+—
AHEFER WAEETFTALEBZES2EA
500,000,000/ 7T ©
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LOAN TO A DIRECTOR (Continued)

On 24th June 2022, Best Combo and Ms. Chen entered
into a third deed of variation, pursuant to which Best
Combo and Ms. Chen have agreed to (i) conditional
upon the Company having obtained approval from the
independent shareholders of the Company, further
extend the final repayment date of the Loan to the date
falling on the expiry of 81 months from the drawdown
date of the Loan, i.e., 5th January 2024; and (ii) extend
the exercisable period of the Call Option to any time
within the date falling on the expiry of 81 months from
the drawdown date of the Loan, i.e., 5th January 2024.
The third deed of variation superseded and replaced
the second deed of variation and the side letter. As the
extension of the exercise period of the Call Option is
unconditional, the exercise period of the Call Option has
been extended accordingly. The resolution approving
the extension of the final repayment date of the Loan
was duly passed by the independent shareholders
by way of poll as an ordinary resolution at the special
general meeting held on 14th September 2022.

The extension of the Loan constitutes substantial
modification and accordingly the Group derecognised
the Loan under original term of HK$500,000,0000
and recognised the Loan under new term of
HK$486,954,000 by reference to the fair value arrived
on the basis of valuation performed by Graval. The
difference amounted to HK$13,046,000 was recognised
to profit or loss.

During the years ended 31st December 2022 and
2021, the maximum amount outstanding to the Group is
HK$500,000,000.
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200 A—RBEeBELERES 20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

—E-= B —F
2022 2021
FHERT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

R—EEELEZREKK Cost of investment in a joint venture,

REE LT unlisted in Hong Kong - _
B —RABCEWEZEM  Share of post-acquisition profit and other

MEMEEA - AR comprehensive income in a joint venture,

s\ net of dividend received = -
KREFB7ABPEAELIMOEMESLE  hERE The Group's joint venture is an unlisted corporate
BEMSRE - entity which quoted market prices are not available.
KEBMABECERRERR ZFBEIMT ¢ Details of the Group'’s joint venture at the end of the

reporting period are set out below:

FEAREERERERR
RELELR Y MBI ARG ER FEZLA TEER
Form of Proportion of ownership
business Place of Class of interest and voting power
Name of joint venture structure incorporation  shares held held by the Group Principal activities
—g--f C—EZ--F%
2022 2021
% %
- R A LRk 50 50 gme%
Sparkle Star Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary Dormant
ZEBLEDNERAERENESEEAMBHRERR The joint venture is accounted for using the equity
ABE o method in these consolidated financial statements.
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20. R—MEHAEO% 3% (4) 20. INTERESTIN A JOINT VENTURE

—HFENEAZEELEZRAEN

(Continued)

individually material

—E-=
2022

FTER
HK$’ 000

AEBEREFEBR
N 2 R AR

AEER-—HAELERER
ZHRmEE

AERERE-—BFEHNERZAELEZER

The Group’s share of loss and total
comprehensive loss for the year -

Aggregate information of a joint venture that is not

THET

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture =

not individually material

—E-C
2022

FTER
HK$’ 000

FEAREREMGE M
BELRZER

RERERENE R
BELEZER

RZBZZH+-A=+—H EU-—H&EL

¥ 3XIB60,0008 T (ZFE=—F ¢
EIEH - R ERBNEREEE -

HE-_Z-_—_ZTF+=-_RF=+—
BE &S 4% A60,000% T (
45,0005 7T) °

Unrecognised share of loss of a joint
venture for the year (29)

Unrecognised share of loss of a joint venture that is

THET

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss
of a joint venture (37)

(8)

At 31st December 2022, amount due from a joint

45,0008 7T) Jb venture of HK$60,000 (2021: HK$45,000) is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
HIEFEARXR The maximum amount outstanding during the year

— T —F: ended 31st December 2022 is HK$60,000 (2021:
HK$45,000).
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——F+=-RB=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

—=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

BELHEZRRTIYWE Properties under development

held for sale

R—H—H At 1st January 3,555,091 3,275,151
= Additions 48,076 225,364
BEREFR Interest capitalised 98,861 54,576
R+=—A=+—H At 31st December 3,702,028 3,555,091

MEFEMMRMYLRESHELOFE -

WR-E-—&FE+-A=+—8B K&E@z2YWE
7 & B8R E {82,306,108,0008 7t (Z T = — & :
2,159,307,000/ 7T) B B R{E AR S B AT B R
TEEEZER ZER/ELECERTYWER
HI —F AUE - EanRFEEE B — SRk -

RZBE-Z—FR-_ZFE-_—F+=-_A=+—H &
ERERUCERBEGEMTE - KRFRED
CEM)BRARMETEEMETHEMIGHY

HIEHE SRRV BROEXFEZRAEE
o BHORT ©

The stock of properties is located in Macau and held
under medium-term leases.

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s stock of properties
with carrying amounts of HK$2,306,108,000 (2021:
HK$2,159,307,000) have been pledged to secure
bank facilities granted to the Group. These properties
under development held for sale are expected to be
recovered within one year. Others are expected to be
recovered after more than one year.

At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the directors had
assessed the net realisable value of the stock of
properties with reference to valuations performed
by Savills (Macau) Limited and JP Assets, firms of
independent qualified professional valuers, and
concluded that no write-down of carrying amounts of
the stock of properties are considered necessary as
the net realisable value are greater than the carrying

amounts.

SApizey LS

Y H T e
T .
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= I/
22, EEIRIE 22. FILM RIGHTS
—=_-— —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
2% Cost
R—A—H ER+ZA=+—H8 At 1st January and at 31st December 867,829 867,829
EtBERRE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
wn—A—H At 1st January 858,992 856,001
FERATRTIRE# Amortisation provided for the year 466 129
BRI EEE Impairment loss recognised 256 2,862
R+-—A=+—H At 31st December 859,714 858,992
REE Carrying amount
Nt+-—BA=+—8 At 31st December 8,115 8,837
EYREZRENR Impairment testing of film rights
RBENANE  EXREECHIREZEFHBE For the purpose of impairment testing, film rights have
R EEE VHSELESBM - been allocated to the CGU of film related business
operations.
RZBE-_—FR-_TE-_—F+-_F=+—H & At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the directors
ER2ECREERUCENBEMBERTHEF R assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU of film
BZBReELEMZAIKEIEEE - rights with reference to the film budget summary
prepared by the management.
EMEsReELBM 2R &5 T ER G The recoverable amount of the CGU of film rights was
HEZEZRENERBFERGTRAKRERER determined based on either net realisable values of
EERERTEHRANEEREZEEI AT film rights to be disposed of or estimated future cash
BF R_ZE-_—_F+-A=+—H EE¥ flows from box office receipts and licensing income of
REZREELENZETRRBERERNZ film rights over a five-year period. At 31st December
EEE(CE—F  BHEE) METHEMEK 2022, discount rate of 16% (2021: 15%), which was
AR EI6% (Z T - —F : 15%) ° referenced to valuation performed by Graval (2021: JP

Assets), was adopted in the calculation of estimated

future cash flows of the CGU of film rights.
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EYMEZRENR (&)

TRBEBRERA/ REBANFELZTERR
BREBEHERNRENX BREXRFRE - Z

At AERBEEECRIEEEAM SRR ZES -

RZE-_—F+-A=+—H0 BREXHRER
CEABMNZREERLEFKOSE  wE®
REBEFREZFEEB256,0008 T (=%
——%:2,862,000/& T) ° st E %A Y B & AR
TR 2 R % B o] 1 & B i 5| BUE — P RIEE

B
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FILM RIGHTS (Continued)

Impairment testing of film rights (Continued)

Key assumptions for the above calculations in relation
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and gross profit margin, growth rate
and discount rate, such estimation is based on past
experience and management’'s expectations of the
market development.

As the carrying amount of the CGU of film rights
exceeded its recoverable amount, an impairment
loss of HK$256,000 was recognised in respect of film
rights at 31st December 2022 (2021: HK$2,862,000).
Any adverse change in the assumptions used in the
calculation of the recoverable amount would result in
further impairment losses.

FILMS IN PROGRESS

—E=-— —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

m—H—8H At 1st January 76,321 77,634
BRI EEE Impairment loss recognised - (1,313)
R+=—A=+—H At 31st December 76,321 76,321

SEREZARAB R REBE(WWA)FTE -

HE-T-—F+-_A=Z=+—BIFERN B
BUERE & 2 RIER AR B 55 181,313,000
BT BRAEEERABEFEY ZHEED
KELE TRABBRBEETINKE -HEZT
ZZF+ AT HLEFEVEERRERS -

Sy

The films in progress were measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

During the year ended 31st December 2021, an
impairment loss of HK$1,313,000 was recognised
on the production costs for films in progress as the
management was in a view that the production plan for
the films in progress was halted and considered that
the amount will not be recovered. No impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31st December
2022.
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24.

INVESTMENT IN FILMS

BYRELRE

REFEECREDEBN TRARERIFTZR
B REELTAREEY REXAEEERE
RAFUMEBBERE  BUAKESEZ AR
EXRTABNRE BNeBERAAEERZE
BAEBRETNBTUSFECBENBELRE -
Z e mABEREA R RER -

FERERTASERMNBBEARASEF S
NHRZRERENR R FEEE -

HE-_E-__F+-_A=+—-BLFERN DK
REFREREBZATFEEEHFELZESE
3,727,000/ 7T (= F = —4 : 32,216,000/ 70) ©

MZE-_—_&#+-_A=+—HBH BFKRE
60,343,000/ 7T (Z & = — 4 : 64,059,000/% 7T)
TAAREDIE -

Investment in films production

—E—= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
104,743 83,083

Investment in films production represents fund
advanced to licensed production houses for co-
financing the production of films. The investment is
governed by the relevant investment agreement entered
into between the Group and the production house
whereby the Group is entitled to benefits generated
from the distribution of the related film. The amount will
be recoverable by the Group from a pre-determined
share of the net distribution revenue of the respective
co-financed film to be provided and confirmed by the
relevant production house.

All investments which entitles the Group to receive
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are carried at fair value.

During the year ended 31st December 2022, loss
arising on change in fair value of investment in films
production of HK$3,727,000 (2021: HK$32,216,000)
was recognised.

At 31st December 2022, investment in films of

HK$60,343,000 is denominated in RMB (2021:
HK$64,059,000).
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES
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—E-= B —F

2022 2021

TERT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

Z 5 FEBER K Trade receivables 4,058 2,684
B BHEEBERE Less: allowance for ECL (690) (686)
3,368 1,998

UWTAREZEZAH (B8R RKEREREHREE)
2B HRERFRRBEEERRE KK

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,

presented based on the invoice dates, which

DT approximates the respective revenue recognition dates
and net of allowance for ECL:

—E-= —E-—F

2022 2021

THET FAET

HK$°000 HK$'000

0Z30H 0 to 30 days 1,544 38

31£60H 31 to 60 days - 1,463

61290H 61 to 90 days 29 175

HBiB90H Over 90 days 1,795 322

3,368 1,998

“TEP 2 FHBRESN F0AE0ETE -

The average credit period granted to customers ranges
from 30 to 90 days.
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25. ESEWRR(

FRRBRESEEENE FHRKERZBRE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the allowance for ECL in respect of
trade receivables under simplified approach during the
year is as follows:

2HEH 2HES
FEER REER

R-_E-_—%—F—H
FECEREEBERE

At 1st January 2021

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H

At 31st December 2021 and

at 1st January 2022
FEEREEERRE

RZBZZE+ZF=1+-H

%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@@W% 26.

At 31st December 2022

(BEERE) (FREERE) st
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FTEL T THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 640 640
Allowance for ECL for the year 46 - 46
46 640 686
Allowance for ECL for the year 4 - 4
50 640 690

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Deposits paid

H b & WK IR

Other receivables

B RHAEEERER

BREBABEEI

—E=-= —E-—F

2022 2021

THET THETT

HK$°000 HK$'000

313,824 441,627

9,307 7,402

222,543 247,307

545,674 696,336
Less: allowance for ECL (34,275) (27,005)
511,399 669,331

Analysed for reporting purposes only:

511,399 669,331
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BE-ZE-_F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The above balances mainly consist of deposits paid

for film production, deposits paid for marketing and

promotion of stock of properties, prepaid insurance fee

and interest receivables.

The movement in allowance for ECL in respect of

deposits and other receivables during the year is as

follows:
2HRES 2HES
128 A B FEFE FEBR
FEFE (BEEWEBE) (BREHE) @t
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
FTHEL TET TET FTEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-_—%—f—H At 1st January 2021 6,249 = = 6,249
FEZRECERERE Allowance for ECL for the year 20,756 - - 20,756
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December 2021 and
ER-_ZE-_—%—A—H at 1st January 2022 27,005 - - 27,005
BEZEEEAA Transfer to credit-impaired (146) = 146 =
FEZEHCEEFEEE Allowance for ECL for the year 1,542 - 5,728 7,270
R-B--—f+=-A=+-H At 31st December 2022 28,401 - 5,874 34,275
ZEBRBZUAFEEIIRZ 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
TREE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
—E__ —E-—F
2022 2021
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
PEABERERE Listed securities classified as held for
2 EmES trading investments:
—REB LM ZIRAES — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 69,378 87,531
THESRITA : Derivative financial instruments:
—“REF-RBREZFZEFRA — Call option embedded in loan to
e 2 RE R a director 2,007 5,384
71,385 92,915
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A
—ZT-

#

ZRBEULAFTEEIEZ
é ﬁE (/“E

RBEBRR - BREZUAD

EUNRFEETK-
BHEZRA

NFEEIRZEBE
DERFEEEREZLE™
NHEEDZERBTHRTEMEE

RZZE_—F+-A=+-—"0 REHEZQF
{B152,007,000/ 7T (=% = —4 : 5,384,000/ 7T
DESERERTZEEMERE - REBHEZA
FTERENRAZEAAREEEEXATEES 1%
SR —F97%)ETEE - TREARES
BERBERE  MARERERREMITER
BHEZSEREMBERE Z BB ®F ()

K o

=

RLEREREMBREBE  AEE2EEL
MR AR % 2~ F B 1E 4 748,054,000/ 7T (T
BERZZEZZFT_RA=T-HZREZEHZ
N F{E(E18,405,0008 T (RERZE_=F=
R#LAE)) °

E R
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets
at FVTPL are stated at fair value. Fair values of listed
securities classified as held for trading investments are

determined with reference to quoted market closing price.

At 31st December 2022, the fair value of the Call Option
with the amount of HK$2,007,000 (2021: HK$5,384,000)
was determined with reference to valuation performed
by Graval. The fair value of the Call Option was valued
by using the binomial option pricing model with discount
rate of 8.1% (2021: 9.7%). Discount rate is the expected
rate of return (or yield) that an investor would have to give
up by investing in the subject investment instead of other
available alternative investments that are comparable in
terms of risk and other investment characteristics.

The fair value of the Group’s equity securities listed
in Hong Kong at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements were approximately
HK$48,054,000 (excluded fair value of equity security
at HK$18,405,000 as at 31st December 2022 which was
privatised in March 2023).

TIME DEPOSITS

RIRTTHAZEHFER

Fg

ZZE-ZF+ZR=+—8 THREZRUEF
ENFIAEEINE(ZE-—F:0.26EF1.2
Bt e WHRFMRARI5H (ZT=—4 365
H)AEIHE -

R-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H THEX
249,000/ 7T (ZZ = — 4 : 249,000/ 7T) & & ##
EARBERERMUNRMINMEFEER TRIEABTZ
EIR o

RIRTTHAZEHFRIIRFEEIIE -

Time deposits held at bank

—=E-= —E-—4F
2022 2021
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
280 279

At 31st December 2022, the time deposits are interest
bearing ranging from 1.15% to 3.1% (2021: 0.26% to
1.2%) per annum and mature within 365 days (2021:
365 days) from the placement date.

At 31st December 2022, time deposits with amounts
of HK$249,000 (2021: HK$249,000) are pledged as
guarantee to Macau Government for development of
stock of properties located in Macau.

Time deposits held at bank is denominated in MOP.
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CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and
placed with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default. Short-term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day to three months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit
rates ranging from 2.35% to 4.95% per annum as at
31st December 2022 (2021: 0.01% to 1.6%).

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and bank balances include cash on hand
and cash at banks and short-term time deposits. Cash
and bank balances at 31st December 2022 and 2021
as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows
can be reconciled to the related items as follows:

—Eg-= —T-—F

2022 2021

FExT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERESLEEFETHS Cash on hand and cash at banks 42,274 49,470
EHITE BER Short-term time deposits 33,210 52,551
75,484 102,021

R-ZE-_—F+_A=Z+—H XEBzES
REEITHGP  UET RME B #Aa
BRARKEIMEES AL A152,0008 T (ZF
Z — 4% : 408,000/ 7T) + 3,931,000 T (=%
——%:2,519,000% T) * 6,000 T (ZF = —
4 113,000 T) + 178,000 T (Z T = — 4 :
2,123,000/ Jt) &292,0008 L (Z = — F ¢
492,000/47T) ©

ARBETBEYFATRHABR TS BERS
BZE2XPEBRETNIMNEEHRE - K&
BURNEERRFANARBIEZ RS RIRITH
B BRRSNEEH o

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank
balances denominated in US$, MOP, EUR, NT$
and RMB are approximately HK$152,000 (2021:
HK$408,000), HK$3,931,000 (2021: HK$2,519,000),
HK$6,000 (2021: HK$13,000), HK$178,000 (2021:
HK$2,123,000) and HK$292,000 (2021: HK$492,000)
respectively.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC
and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject
to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed
by the government of the PRC. The Group’s cash and
bank balances denominated in RMB which located in
Hong Kong and Macau are not subject to the foreign

exchange control.
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30. IR

30. SHARE CAPITAL

EX

Amount

RHBE

Number of shares

—E-C —E-_—%
2022 2021
TEx THT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREFE0.OIETZ Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
EER
EERRE Authorised:
R—A—BRA+=F AtistJanuary and at 31st December
=+—H 50,000,000 50,000,000 500,000 500,000
BRTRAERA: Issued and fully paid:
®—R—H At 1st January 2,485,851 2,630,611 24,858 26,306
BRI 2 13 (A77£) Shares repurchased and cancelled (Note) (25,000) (144,760) (250) (1,448)
®+=-A=+-H At 31st December 2,460,851 2,485,851 24,608 24,858
Hiit Note:

BEZZEZ__F+-A=Z+—HLEFER  ARFEE

During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Company

Wi EASBRHMOT - repurchased and cancelled its own shares as follows:
ZERHE SRER eENERE
Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary BS B{& consideration
f&E A% Month of repurchase shares Highest Lowest paid
T BT BT FHERT
000 HK$ HK$ HK$°000
—EBE--FhA September 2022 10,000 0.80 0.75 7,983
—E--HF+A October 2022 15,000 0.80 0.78 11,922
19,905

25,000,000 EBRER T __F+A=-+HZHE -

25,000

25,000,000 ordinary shares were cancelled on 20th October
2022.
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31.

HQ2|§ (/Zéﬁ 30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
BE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—BILEERN  AATEL During the year ended 31st December 2021, the Company
WHEEAFRHMOT : repurchased and cancelled its own shares as follows:
TERE A FRER BEATHRRE
Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary 25 ={K consideration
EAEEE) Month of repurchase shares Highest Lowest paid
T BT I FHAT
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
—T-—%—8 January 2021 91,920 1.50 1.45 137,865
—E-—%MNA April 2021 52,840 1.45 1.40 76,285
144,760 214,150
91,920,0004% 152,840,000k L @R E D RIR T = — 91,920,000 and 52,840,000 ordinary shares were cancelled on
F_AMNBR-ZE-_—FHA=HAZFH- 4th February 2021 and 3rd May 2021 respectively.
=h
22 EMAED 31. TRADE PAYABLES

UMTREZERNEFRER A ZREDIT

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,

based on the invoice dates:

—E-= T —F

2022 2021

FHExT FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

0z230H 0 to 30 days 2,552 48,144
31£60H 31 to 60 days 283 3,232
61£290H 61 to 90 days 1,784 =
B0 H Over 90 days 5,634 7,016
10,253 58,392

HERGE T2 FHREMAIOENATE -

The average credit period granted by suppliers ranges
from 30 to 90 days.
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32. BHEES  EHEEREM 32
&4 508

DEPOSITS RECEIVED, ACCRUALS AND
OTHER PAYABLES

—E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BWEZ® (K ita) Deposits received (Note a) 83,571 78,052

HEWMEZBEWET® (K itb) Deposits received on sales of properties
(Note b) 2,325 =
fE:t1E B Accruals 2,980 4,198
H b FE A 3RIB Other payables 1,013 1,984
89,889 84,234

Hiat - Notes:

(a) BEUREETBREEY LERRNBHFRE
BIIERE -

(b) FEERBAENPZNRERRAKEHED
EZEPRBMNR - EAREREFPRITAL
B AEERDBERXZEROETBEDLE
BRI FEPBERAHTE DETRNST
BEFBEXMHE WM EZRTSHERIR
ANAR EEAKEEKEBORETYSEY
XEHRBBREFPE  ANAERIRRKE
N

Deposits received mainly represented deposits
received from distributors prior to the theatrical release

and delivery of master materials of film.

The Group receives payments from customers from
sales of properties based on payment schedules
established in contracts. The Group receives certain
percentage of the agreed transaction price as a
deposit when the Group signs a contract with the
customers. Typically, the remaining balance is paid
upon closing of the contracts when the properties are
delivered to the customers. All such deposits received
are recognised as contract liabilities until the Group
satisfies its performance obligations by transferring

the control of the properties to the customers, at which

time the contract liabilities are recognised as revenue.
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LEASE LIABILITIES

BEEENR
Minimum lease
payments

—E=-=
2022
FTET
HK$’ 000

EMAEaE

—FR

FE_EERF
(RREEEMT)

B AR ERE AR

HERBZRE
B —FAE
HETH

—FRIEE
ok

Lease liabilities payable

Within one year

In the second to fifth year,
inclusive

Less: future finance costs

Present value of lease liabilities

Less: amount due for settlement
within one year

Amount due for settlement
after one year

BREHENRZEE

Present value of

minimum lease payments

N —=_—
2021 2022
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000

—F
2021
TAET
HK$'000

3,492 983 3,243 981
4,365 - 4,256 -
7,857 983 7,499 981
(358) (2) = =
7,499 981 7,499 981

(3,243) (981)

4,256 -
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BANK BORROWINGS

—E-—F
2021
FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEPRITEE Secured bank borrowings 1,600,000 1,478,850
—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
JEERZREE Carrying amounts repayable:

—FN Within one year 50,000 1,478,850
BiEA—FBLIME More than one year but less than two years 320,000 =

BEMEELREF More than two years but less than
five years 1,230,000 =
1,600,000 1,478,850
B —FRNEH 2 3KIE Less: amounts due within one year 50,000 1,478,850
—F 1B R FIE Amount due after one year 1,550,000 -

RZZEZ=ZF+=ZA=+—8 AEBEZHRTHE
B AR & H IR {£2,306,108,000/8 T (=T = —
F:2,159,307,0008 ) 2 MEFE - HE £ 8
VERAMRARZEEEAN  MEERRL TR
HZBEAABERUERARAMEEZ D EER—H
EREAEAR RASEMEEN=M@A LA
18 A #if LAHIBORMNSE (ZF = —F : 3.35[F)
BEZENETE -

ﬁi_?__¢+ A=+—HLEFER R
BESEINMAR T -_—_FABTHAELT
&§:$::¢+fﬁ+£avﬁﬁﬁ%§:"
ZAFE+ZA+Z=RH-

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings
are secured by the Group’s stock of properties
with carrying amounts of HK$2,306,108,000 (2021:
HK$2,159,307,000), quota capital of China Star Creative
Development Limited, personal guarantee provided
by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen and corporate guarantee
provided by the Company together as securities,
interest bearing at HIBOR for three or six month period
selected by the Group plus margin of 3% (2021: 3.35%)
per annum.

During the year ended 31st December 2022, the final
maturity date of bank borrowings was extended from
15th September 2022 to 15th December 2022 and
further extended to 12th December 2026.
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ENRMERE

FINANCING NOTE PAYABLES

EREE Loan note

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—BItEER  xQ
B % 1T A £ 5 B342,000,0005 &% (HHERK
95,213,000 L) 2 EREB - EREZEEHT
FHERNF12EE15B(Z T - —49F:025
EE15E)ZMEXHE VEEBEE-_T=-_=F
—A+=A -AEEARTTHEAREHERE
BB -

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H AEBEK@E
149,114,000 7T (Z T = —F : 162,176,000/
T ZEREMELERTRT URAEEME
TEREBMEER ZBTERUISFENE
EZTRA—F—HA=Z+WMA-

BN FERERRE

A SRR S 2 OB A AR - 2B RANE
HIFEE -

ELERERE

—E-—F —E -4
2022 2021

FTE T FHBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
86,898 96,360

During the year ended 31st December 2021, the
Group issued a loan note at the principal amount
of NT$342,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$95,213,000). The loan note is interest bearing at
interest rate ranging from 1.25% to 1.5% (2021: 0.25%
to 1.5%) for variable periods and has renewed up to
13th January 2023. The Group can apply for renewal of
the loan note for variable periods.

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s investment
property with carrying amount of HK$149,114,000
(2021: HK$162,176,000) has been pledged to a bank
for obtaining its guarantee for the loan note issued by
the Group. The bank guarantee can renew annually
until 24th January 2051.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts due to non-controlling interests are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

REYWHE
Investment
property
FHET
HK$°000

RZEZ—F—H—H
REZ AR
bE 3 &

RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H

Sy

ﬁ

At 1st January 2022 -
Charge to profit or loss 465
Exchange adjustments

(15)

At 31st December 2022 450
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(a)

39. &E

R-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—8 44&E
8F [ {52,306,108,000/8 7T (Z T = — £
2,159,307,0008 7T) 2 MH¥FE - HEE
BIEEBRARZERER - MEER
PR TR 2 EAABRURADEREZ
ERR B —HERERTEBMER
RITEEBEZEA -

RZEZZF+=-A=+—H £4£H
249,000 7T (ZF — —4F : 249,000/ 7T )
ZEBEREERERRERUNRIIM
MEGFEHTRMBNZER -

RZEZZF+-_A=+—H K5HE
IR EfE149,114,0008 L (Z T = —F
162,176,000 L) 2 IR EMEC B TR
1 UBASERBTERZEREER -

RBEHMKR  AEEAUNTRETEARRE M A

-

38.

39.

—ZHF+ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

% & B B it & Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—_F

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(a)

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s stock
of properties with carrying amounts of
HK$2,306,108,000 (2021: HK$2,159,307,000),
of China Star
Development Limited, personal guarantee

quota capital Creative
provided by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen and
corporate guarantee provided by the Company
together as securities, have been pledged to
secure the banking facilities granted to the
Group.

At 31st December 2022, the Group’s time
deposits with the amount of HK$249,000 (2021:
HK$249,000) are pledged as guarantee to
Macau Government for development of stock of
properties located in Macau.

At 31st December 2022,
investment property with carrying amount of
HK$149,114,000 (2021: HK$162,176,000)
has been pledged to a bank for obtaining its

the Group’s

guarantee for loan note issued by the Group.

COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

following outstanding capital and other commitments:

ERERCAHN - BERBRE:

provided for:
—RIFRFIZ Y ¥ETFE ZHEKE - Development expenditure for stock of

Authorised and contracted, but not

—BYIRE - BEREY

properties in Macau
— Film rights, films in progress and

film deposits

—E-—F

2021

FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000
117,616 171,981
17,307 22,531
134,923 194,512
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BER-_T——FAAA -+ N\BETZ2EAQARK
RENAGLBBZ —HRER  ARRARMAT
—EFBRESE (- FBREE D) -

TE-FBERENE I EIERRBMOT

(i) AEEESARFRANLKESERS
HERDBRE AERREAAKEL
EMRREREEIEL C R ERZ
R -

(i) AER2EEFEEASEXEAREREE
BZ2RIAFRBMER (BRARRNENM
MEARSREARREARZENES
BRATHFATRERBLEAST) A
SEMBFTEARSZERMBTEA  RA
SEFIEMRKREABCENRELAE
DERHE - AEH KEIREX - B
BAAN HER LEAXRERA T
B -#BEANBRBREFMIFEA) LD H
B EXIFEF(BREMSER)HES
EERMBERRCT A RE B M
HREEERBELREBM ZEMAL -
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ok A B %5 it % B 5F Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-ZE-_F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a resolution passed at a special general
meeting of the Company held on 28th June 2012, a new
share option scheme (the “2012 Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company.

The major terms of the 2012 Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to enable the Company to
grant options to selected eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group or any
invested entity in which the Group held an equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”).

(i) The eligible participants include full time or part
time employees of the Group or any Invested
Entity (including any directors, whether executive
or non-executive and whether independent or
not, of the Company or any subsidiary or any
Invested Entity); any holder of any securities
issued by the Group; and any business or
joint venture partners, contractors, agents or
representatives, consultants, advisers, suppliers,
producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensee) or distributors,
landlords or tenants (including any sub-tenants)
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the board
of directors, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group or any Invested Entity.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BE-_S-—FBREFITREREZE
28 [ AR 4 AN ) B A ) L At R AR A
AR 2 BRI R 2 I B R
FRAGEBNIEE - — - FBRET
BERARAEBHITRAZI0% MLt
RATMBRERRAEG LEH - BTER
BT FBRET S REMEMBR
B E (BREBREFE) CREMm M
RITEZ BRAER A BE BT 2 IRV BB L
RASHEBIREHETRN Z30% °

PRIFEGIRRAE - REM+ZEANR
TERAERSEEZBEE (BEET
- DEERARTERBRE) BEITER
BEETEBBRTZRDEBBTISEETE
EBRITRMDZ1% -

REZEBEEEAH (BEZA) L2
TZEAARAARBREIERR (X
RETRADSHEEME AHEALHE
VIR TEEFIHEMBEATERZ
BRE(REETHFE SEFERHEERTE
BRE)BTEREBETRETREITZR
MBH: () HTBBBADAL EIT
B 15 20.1%  R(b)IRIE G REH A A
RARGOZRTENE  BEETSER
5,000,000 7T - BRIEES R R B -

F+ZA=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2022

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The major terms of the 2012 Option Scheme are

summarised as follows: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The maximum number of shares in respect of
which share options may be granted under the
2012 Option Scheme together with options which
may be granted under any other share option
scheme for the time being of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of approval of
the 2012 Option Scheme and such limit might
be refreshed by the shareholders in general
meeting. The maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2012 Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme (including the Old Option
Scheme) must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options
granted to each eligible participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time
to time unless the same is approved by the
shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options
granted to each substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company
or any of its respective associates or an
independent non-executive director or any of
his associates (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding share options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such
grant: (a) representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the shares in issue; and (b) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares at the date of each grant, in excess
of HK$5,000,000, unless the same is approved

by the shareholders.
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

TEHHETENROBRERRE - B
REFABRT AEBEBAEKGEHES

o

Ea

BRELERBREZENTIARES
SEEN UE-RATBRERATET
ERI VAR A EARERY -

AR AARR G B HE308 M AR K
fE(ER)  YARARAXINETZ
PR RIE A -

BREZITEBVARUNTEEZRSE

a. iNERORS Il NIl 330 S R R
R 2B

b. ERROAPRAM@EEA (R
AR BIFT I 2 ) R R E AR
Mz FHRHE: &

B

(o} REHNBRARA - KD ZE
{EO

—E-—FBRESINEMAREF
NBEK -
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The major terms of the 2012 Option Scheme are

summarised as follows: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The exercisable period should be determined by
the board of directors upon grant of the share
option but in any event should not exceed 10
years from the date of offer for grant.

Save as determined by the board of directors
provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant
share options, there is no general requirement
that a share option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised.

The acceptance of a share option, if accepted,
must be made within 30 days from the date of
grant with a non-refundable payment of HK$1
from the grantee to the Company.

The exercise price of a share option must be the
highest of:

a. the closing price of a share of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer;

b. the average closing price of a share of
the Company from the 5 business days
(has the meaning stated in the Listing
Rules) immediately preceding the date of
offer; and

(o} the nominal value of a share of the
Company on the date of offer.

The 2012 Option Scheme is effective for 10
years from the date of adoption.

=% ';;;"I.:,,L-:
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BZE2RBAFBER (BERARAHER
MEBARSEMKREARZENES
BRATRFATRERBLES) Rk
ARBERAMBRE @R 2 M EH K
RELERH AEH REXINRR E
- AN BRBERIEEA  ZREAR
BREMERIEN) IO HEE AEFE
PEBBERE -

40.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual general
meeting of the Company held on 29th June 2022, a new
share option scheme (the “2022 Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company. The 2012 Option Scheme
was expired on 27th June 2022, no further options can
be granted under the 2012 Option Scheme thereafter.
However, all outstanding share option granted under
the 2012 Option Scheme prior to the said expiry shall
remain valid and exercisable in accordance with the
provisions of the 2012 Option Scheme.

The major terms of the 2022 Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to enable the Company to
grant options to selected eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group or any
Invested Entity and/or to recruit and retain high
caliber eligible participants and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group..

(i) The eligible participants include full time or
part time employees of the Group or any
Invested Entity (including any directors, whether
executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or any
subsidiary or any Invested Entity); and any
business or joint venture partners, contractors,
agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
producers or licensors, licensees (including any
sub-licensee) or distributors of the Group or any
Invested Entity, as determined by the board of

directors in its absolute discretion,.
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TR _FBRESIZIEZGRIBMANT : (F)

(iii)

(iv)

BE-Z - —FEREFETERECE
P% 488 32 [RIAR B AN 2 B & B AT o) EL A BB AR 42
eI EREMS R 2R &R
FRAGBANE-_T - —FHRET
EEBARARBEEITRAZ10% Mz E
BATHRRERRRNE L - AfTER
BT - —FBREFIREMEMER
REHE (BE_S——_FERESE)D
BHmmRITE 2 BRERATREET 2R
MEE LR EHRBTIRE TR BE
230% °

PRIFEBIRRLE - REM+ZEAAER
TERAERSEEZBRE (BERTT
- DEERERTERBRE) BTEE
EETEBBRTZRODABTISEBATE
BEBRTRNDEHEZ1% -

REZEBELRH (BFE%ZAB) L2
TZEARARAARIBREERR (X
RETHRAD S BUFATEETARES
EfABEATER 2BRE (BEST
- EEERMRITEERE) BITER
BREITERBETFTREITZRHDBE : (a)b H
THREBARREETROBLEZ01%
ROBRBEERAEHNRLEBBHRRARG
ZW B E - BEETFHE5000,000
BT BRIEEBIRELE -

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The major terms of the 2022 Option Scheme are

summarised as follows: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The maximum number of shares in respect of
which share options may be granted under the
2022 Option Scheme together with options which
may be granted under any other share option
scheme for the time being of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of approval of
the 2022 Option Scheme and such limit might
be refreshed by the shareholders in general
meeting. The maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2022 Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme (including the 2012 Option
Scheme) must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options
granted to each eligible participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue from
time to time unless the same is approved by the
shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options
granted to each substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
an independent non-executive director or any of
their respective associates (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total number of shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the shares at
the date of each offer for grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000, unless the same is approved by

the shareholders.
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The major terms of the 2022 Option Scheme are
summarised as follows: (Continued)

(vi)  The option/exercisable period should be
determined by the board of directors upon grant
of the share option but in any event should not
exceed 10 years from the date of offer for grant.

(vii)  Save as determined by the board of directors
provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant
share options, there is no minimum period
for which a share option must be held or the
performance target which must be achieved
before it can be exercised.

(viii)  The acceptance of a share option, if accepted,
must be made within 30 days inclusive of, and
from the date of offer for grant with a non-
refundable payment of HK$1 from the grantee to
the Company.

(ix) The exercise price, subject to any adjustments
made pursuant to any alteration in the capital
structure of the Company whether by way of
capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation or
sub-division of shares or reduction of the share
capital of the Company be determined at the
absolute discretion of the board of directors, of
a share option shall not less than the highest of:

a. the closing price of a share of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer which must be a business
day;

b. the average closing price of a share of
the Company from the 5 business days
(has the meaning stated in the Listing
Rules) immediately preceding the date of
offer; and

(0% the nominal value of a share of the
Company on the date of offer.

(x) The 2022 Option Scheme is effective for 10
years from the date of adoption.

At 31st December 2022 and 2021, there was no
outstanding share options under any share option
scheme. No share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years ended
31st December 2022 and 2021.
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41. E j( Bﬁ EA + 3‘5 5 41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

BRGEMBERRBEMBPEEI  AEEHERHE Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

ATEIZ T FAERRS : financial statements, the Group entered into the

following material transactions with related parties:

(a) mAEHEBRLETHAEBRSZ (a) Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen had provided personal
1,700,000,0008 (=& = — F : guarantee to a bank for the Group to obtain
1,600,000,0007% 7T)2 Al B A IRTTE E &R available banking facilities with the amounts of
FRTIREEAZER R-ZE-_—FK= HK$1,700,000,000 (2021: HK$1,600,000,000). At
T —F+ZA=+—H mMEEERLZ 31st December 2022 and 2021, the provision of
TRTIREMARRMDATRE D RMA - personal guarantee by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen

remains in full force and effect.

(b) FA - AEBEEPFEATITLT TR (b)  During the year, the Group entered into the
2 following transactions with its related parties:

—E—-= —T-—F
2022 2021
TERT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
XEME Nature of transactions
Bl EREREEE Income received/receivable from
BREREZEZHWA: substantial shareholder and
director:
BERFEHA Loan interest income 46,079 86,102

RBEER BEBALTZRBEHRFR
BN E M EIRERM FE19K%20 °

(c) Details of the balances with related parties at
the end of the reporting period are set out in
notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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41. Ej{ﬁﬁgkiﬁ% (/{éﬁ_ 41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
BRGEMBERRDEMBEREEI AEEEHE Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
ATITLT THNEARRS : (8) financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material transactions with related parties:
(Continued)

(d)  WEREHMBHRERMTISHEE  TZ2EE (d)  Compensation for key management personnel,
AEZHM(BEENAAREZTLRET including amount paid to the directors of the
EayMEEZZE)MT ¢ Company and certain of the highest paid

employees, as disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements, is as follow:
—E_-C T —F
2022 2021
THERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
o & H th Salaries and other remuneration 20,523 20,523
RRAE R Bl Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 97 113

EERTIREBABZFEMIBFMES
EREBBARRRTGBLEMERE °

20,620 20,636

The remuneration of the directors and key
management personnel is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.
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42. WE DTS 42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
RZEZ_—_F+_A=+—HARRMNBRRZ Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company at 31st
HEHINOT - December 2022 are listed as follows:

ARF
/AL g8 v fiEfaR BETRAR
il YRR g5/ h% LY BERREELA Ra/ifEs  IEER
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
- S
2022 2021
% %
ERERAT (30 LER 100 100 BT BaREREE
Art Lord Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK§t At piece investment and rental
Asiatop Data Limited &5 LR 100 100 08T RERBARK
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10  Provision of nominee services
Best Combo EBRSEE EEM 100 100 T REER
BVI Ordinary US$1  Investment holding
Big Century Limited & LER 100 100 1B BANEFLEAS
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Holding of property for rental
purpose
Business First Limited EBRAES LRk 100 100 En REEGENE
BVI Ordinary US$1 Holding of cable right
THEEAERARAT B R 100 100 BT EAER
China Star Artist Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Artist management
EBERERARLA (WD) b1y TEER 100 100 10000087 %  THERERRE
China Star Creative Development Limited Macau Quota capital MOP100,000  Immovable property
(Note b) development and
investment
China Star Entertainment (BVI) Limited RBRRHEE LRl 100 100 WEL  REER
BVI Ordinary US$200  Investment holding
HEERERRARLT Bk £k 100 100 2EnREBRR REBR
China Star Entertainment Holding Limited ~ Hong Kong ERZERLR 100000074 Investment holding
Ordinary/ ERZRELR
Non-voting (Witd)
deferred HK$2 for ordinary
shares and
HK$1,000,000 for
non-voting deferred

shares (Note d)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
A0H
Hh/RL/ g% frisif fiifER BRTRAR
i kR 85/4% £3l BERRZELA Ra/dmEs  IZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
—ECCE —E--%
2022 2021
% %
HEEEARAERAA B LBk 100 100 100000 EEREREEEEH
China Star HK Distribution Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000  Distribution of films and
television drama series
HEEERREERLT (30 LER 100 100 100000087 BERERTRREZR
China Star HK Entertainment Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000  Distribution of video rights and
Investment holding
TEESRERRAR (30 LaR 100 100 %L RUESTRELE SRR
China Star -Content Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2k A%

Provision of film production
controller, director and
producer services

China Star International Distribution EBRNES LEk 100 100 8001ET  BPRERELELNA
Limited (42¢a) ((Note a) BVI Ordinary US$8,001  Distribution of films and
television drama series
China Star International Movie Limited ABRRMS ER 100 100 S
(Wi#b) (Note b) BVI Ordinary US$1 Film production
THERERRLA (W) hiE AMER 100 100 10000005 &%  WERERRE
China Star Investment Limited (Note d) Taiwan Registered NT$1,000,000  Property development and
capital investment
HEEXERARAA Bk AR 100 - 1000087 SBEAEEERH
China Star MCN Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Multi channel network and
media business
HRERSYRARAT B LR 100 100 15000007 REEERERKEZR
China Star Laser Disc Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,500,000  Provision of management
services and investment
holding
THEERERAR (30 E3els 100 100 BT REER
China Star Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
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42. B R TRE (& 42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
A0H
ELYA N YA+ ¥ frisif fiifER BRTRAR
HEARER 85/4% £3l BERRZELA Ra/dmEs  IZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
—ECCE —E--%
2022 2021
% %
HEEEYARAR B LBk 100 100 2T BYBEREA
China Star Movie Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Film production and
distribution
HEEEY (BM) ARAA WD) A TEEA 100 100 B000RF%  STRAERET
China Star Movie (Macau) Limited (Note b) ~ Macau Quota capital MOP25,000  Film production and
distribution
THEFERRAR (30 Lak 100 100 MR RESERE
China Star Pictures Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Holding of film rights
HEEERERARAA (30 Lak 100 100 2%n RARETIARE
China Star Publishing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Holding and licensing of
song rights
China Star Trademark Limited ABRRBS ER 100 100 T WAERRRE
BVI Ordinary US$t  Holding of trademark and
copyrights
FEEZARAT Bk Lk 100 100 100008T  REZR
Chunjiao Industrial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Investment holding
Classic Champion Holdings Limited RERAEE LR 100 100 #r RAER
(Wztb) ((Note b) BV Ordinary US$t  Investment holding
Crown Gem Investments Limited EERGES LER 50 50 B REER
BVI Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
Empowered Century Limited EERRES LR 100 100 #r REAER
BVI Ordinary US$t  Investment holding
First-Up Investments Limited EBRUEE LRk 100 100 1 EABERREREARS
BVI Ordinary US$T  Artist management and
provision of agency

services
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42. B R TRE (& 42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
A0H
ELYA N YA+ ¥ frisif fiifER BRTRAR
HEARER 85/4% £3l BERRZELA Ra/dmEs  IZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
—ECCE —E--%
2022 2021
% %
RRERERAR Bk EER 100 100 1B EYRf
Gold Choice International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Film production
REBRERAA W) A TEEA 50 50 B0008F%  REBR
Hercules-Holding Company Limited (Note b) ~ Macau Quota capital MOP25,000  Investment holding
AEREERLT (30 LR 100 100 BT SRERARERET
Hero Star Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Television drama series

production and distribution

High Productive Trading Limited EERLBE Lok 100 100 % RERR

BVI Ordinary US$T Investment holding
SEERERAR Witn) 2 TEER 100 100 B0000RF%  NEEEERREEERER
Home Deluxe Management Company Limited ~ Macau Quota capital MOP250,000  Property project management

(Note b) and construction project
management

FEHERBERAR i) 1§ TEER 100 100 10000027 %  HERE
Home Deluxe Property Agency Limited (Note b) Macau Quota capital MOP100,000  Property agency
Intrinsic Vialug Limited ABRRBS E3els 100 100 =T REER

BVI Ordinary US$T Investment holding
Maodern Vision (Asia) Limited RBRAHE TRl 100 100 =1 RERR

BVI Ordinary US$T Investment holding
2R (ER)ARAT B £k 100 100 WL BEDE
Newrich (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Property holding
FINFARLA 0 Eaik 100 100 181 EREX
Obba Bar Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Dormant
~REEYERATA B Lak 100 100 30000008  EXE(E
One Hundred Years of Film Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,000,000  Film production
Over Profit International Limited ERRAES LR 50 50 1005 ®AER

BVI Ordinary US$100  Investment holding
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
LN
HR/HL/ 8% it ek BEARAR
WEARAR g5/4% £5 BERRERLH Ra/dREs  IZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital  Principal activities
—E-CE —E--%
2022 2021
% %
EXGFARAT B tak/ 100 100 10010008 E¥EH
Riche Video Limited Hong Kong BRFERER BERKR  Film distribution
Ordinary/Non- 2,000,005
voting deferred BERZREL
i (Hte)
HK$1,001,000 for
ordinary shares and
HK$2,000,000 for
non-voting deferred
shares (Note e)
BARERRAT B Lk 100 100 2B PEITREREEY
5 & W Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Ordlinary HK$2  Production of film and
television drama series
Smart Value Developments Limited RERUHE Lak 100 100 1= REBR
BVI Ordinary US$1  Investment holding
BRRLEERABRAR Wiy B TEAA 50 50 10000027 %  THERERKE
Splendid Construction and Investment Macau Quota capital MOP100,000  Immovable property
Company Limited (Note b) development and
investment
RERERRAA Bk ik 100 100 BT REER
Star Choice Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$!  Investment holding
SERRERLA 0 ik 100 100 BT REER
Star Joy International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$t  Investment holding
BBERERDA Wi ol TEER 50 50 B0002F%  REBR
Stronghold-Holding Company Limited (Note b) Macau Quota capital MOP25,000  Investment holding
Surmmer Sound Investments Limited EERAEE LER 50 50 1005 REER
BVI Ordinary US$100  Investment holding
Triumph Top Limited EBRAEE Tk 100 100 T REER
BVI Ordinary US$1  Investment holding
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42. MB DTS (& 42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
A0H
ELYA N YA+ ¥ frisif fiifER BRARAR
HEARER 85/4% £3l BERRZELA Ra/dmEs  IZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
—ECCE —E--%
2022 2021
% %
Turbo International Co. Limited EERAES LR 100 100 500005 REER
BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Investment holding
ERREFRAA Bk Lk 100 100 100008T  REZR
Well Charm Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Investment holding
EERER L R)ARAA kel ifhEx 100 10 100000007 EPEEY  LERE
(Bizckr) (Notes ¢ and f) The PRC Registered HK$10,000,000 REYERIREAR
capital Bl glfe
Distribution of PRC film,

corporate planning, props
and equipment rental and
dramatic creation
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(a) ERRELER-
(b)  IERPEEER -
(c) ERBEREER -
(d) HERABEEEH-

(e) BEEREERNERYEEMND TZOAMK
B BUZRARBRRRGZRS HEZE
ERAEGLREZERN EFBRTTAEE
ERDIK ©

(f) EHERE -

Best Combo ~ China Star Entertainment (BVI)
Limited + Classic Champion Holdings Limited
Turbo International Co. Limited¥J AR R E#
BE -MEEMMEL A ARRMERE -

BRERBEAEN MBRAZEIELEMHBARE

P MY B R F A B R F AR ERE
[ 2 B 5

EERR AEBRZERESHAEENE T
BR At YERMEFE 2 WEHRA MR
RABIULEY - o Y EZEHR2EHNBERF
2B HERBT AR -

4% & M B it T Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-ZE-__F+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2022
42. MBLARFHE(E

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Operating internationally.
(b) Operating in Macau.

(c) Operating in the PRC.
(d) Operating in Taiwan.

(e) The non-voting deferred shares practically carry no
rights to dividends nor receive notice of nor to attend
or vote at any general meeting of the Company nor to
participate in any distribution on winding up.

(f) Wholly foreign owned enterprises.

Best Combo, China Star Entertainment (BVI) Limited,
Classic Champion Holdings Limited and Turbo
International Co. Limited are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by
the Company.

Except otherwise stated, the principal place of
operation of the subsidiaries is in Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

The directors consider that the Group’s non-controlling
interests were insignificant to the Group and thus are
not separately presented in these consolidated financial
statements for both years. In addition, no separate
financial information of these non-wholly owned

subsidiaries is required to be presented.
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43. %’Aﬂﬂjﬁﬂﬁiﬁl%&ﬁﬁﬁ

(a) FLAAMBMRRE

COMPANY

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE

(a) Statement of financial position of the

Company

HRBEE
VERE )N d
SN PNGIE:

REBEE

& Ui Bt 8 2 B SRR

¥ —RaERENRRA

Re  ANRER
HAh & WK IR

R RIRTTHE

maE
BERREE
P A

[t

B

FRBEE
& A< B B8 & B 3RIR

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Amount due from a joint venture

Deposits, prepayment and
other receivables

Cash and bank balances

Total assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries

—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
120 152
249,238 164,858
249,358 165,010
1,838,914 2,003,098
60 45

727 664
37,431 36,143
1,877,132 2,039,950
2,126,490 2,204,960
24,608 24,858
1,994,928 2,093,058
2,019,536 2,117,916
24,404 24,351
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Company (Con

RBEE

BEREZESE - BETRE &
Ho A FE {5 5RIR

JEAHBH /B8 2 B SR IR

BEAR

EEREEAE

RBEEFE

HREERRBEE

RATEERREZERE

DE-3:3
Heung Wah Keung
BF

Director

Current liabilities

Deposits received, accruals and
other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Signed on behalf of the board of directors by:

4% & M B it T Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the
tinued)

—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
11,281 11,396
71,269 51,297
82,550 62,693
106,954 87,044
2,126,490 2,204,960
1,794,582 1,977,257
2,043,940 2,142,267

BR B 2

Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany

EF

Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

AAFFEEERS (b)  Movement of reserves of the Company
anTRR  REERRN/
RHEE BARE BERE  (RiTHB) &t
Bonus Retained
convertible earnings/
Share  Contributed bonds  (accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses) Total
iR iR Thn TR ThEn
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
(Hita) (Hito) (Hite)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
RZF--F-f-A At 1st January 2021 1,776,920 540,885 1,132 37,218 2,356,155
FEFEREAFELE Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (49,550) (49,550)
BEETHERG Shares repurchased and cancelled (212,702) - - - (212,702)
BERTEROERERE Costs attributable to repurchase and
cancellation of shares (845) - - - (845)
R-BE--£+-F=+-RR At 31st December 2021 and at 1st January 2022
R-F-—F-f-H 1,563,373 540,885 1,132 (12332) 2,093,058
FEERRZEFRLE Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (78,384) (78,384)
BREETHHERD Shares repurchased and cancelled (19,655) - - - (19,655)
BRRTEROEERE Costs atiributable to repurchase and
cancellation of shares (91) - - - (91)
RZBZZE+ZF=1-H At 31st December 2022 1,543,627 540,885 1,132 (90,716) 1,994,928
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43. %ﬁﬁ,ﬁzﬁﬂﬂtﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ 43.

(b)

(=]
/l|§\

1=

ARERERY ()

EE

BEBRE-AN-FREE(EE
7)) RRRLZ AR B R R ES R A
REZRETRG  ERBRAKE
TFARDRMRRE -

ARABZAEMBABBHERAR-Z
T-FENATBEERZBRABIREE
BEREXREBMESRAR S -

BEBRE-AN-FRAE(EE
F1)  RRRZHABBATHE D KK IR
EEERRERZTABRRYGARR
RZERT BEETRNAEKH
ARBEMRFER R - WU
B ARETFEBARBRPEIR
FXNREIELED IR : (VERAE
B ol S B TR A 12 4 ) B 8 B B i R MR
BZEE RNARREEZTER
EXEMERAEAAERESETRA
VAR B A it B B o

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserves of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the share premium of the Company
can be used in paying up unissued shares of
the Company to be issued to shareholders of

the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

(b) The contributed surplus of the Company
brought forward represents the amount
transferred from the capital account due
to the capital reduction effective on 10th
September 2002 and various capital reduction

subsequently.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), the contributed surplus of
the Company is available for distribution or
apply the amount standing to the credit of the
contributed surplus account in such manner as
the board of directors considers appropriate,
including but not limited to setting off against
any accumulated losses of the Company.
However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than its liabilities

and its issued share capital and share premium

accounts.
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(b)

(—==]
/Ilg\

1=

ARERERY ()

Wit - (%)

(c)

BEARRR=_TE—=F+A=+A
BREAZBRFEFIAG LBBAEBRE
FTHLFIRR 19 (% 3R 75 48 32 42 U R AL F1) 7]
BBREFARBAFRD) 2 E@AZE
R ARDRIAPFRRE SRS
TEITAI SR AT WA 2 AR TR R
BH M AR ESF AR BRI
RIAFI T HRBRESFHE]I 25 45
HRREFTRETMRTAER - #
WA A RELNTRRESEE
AEBRARG BERENESFER
ABRIRAT FI 170 347 WER 2 4T 7 iR
DB 0 AR B R I 42 UG ERAL A
AHRRES AL RRES T ER
RAEARERGZHRTE - BRIEE
AT HREFZEATEREZ
BRRGEE AFNTRREFFAEA
A TERATAFI AR EFH B RERTTE
BRE- R_E_—_F+_A=+—
B B #265000&F T (ZFT=—4F:
265,0004 7T ) Z & 1718 41 7 7] # ik
BHFITZRBRBREGROSE TELRA
1,060,317/ (== — — 4 : 1,060,317
i) S REEC.OTE T2 BB LAk o

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Movement of reserves of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the special general meeting of the Company
held on 25th October 2012 in relation to
the bonus issue of shares (with a right for
shareholders to elect to receive Bonus CBs
in lieu of bonus shares), Bonus CBs can
be converted into ordinary shares at initial
conversion price of HK$0.01 per share were
issued by the Company. The Bonus CBs are
recognised as equity and are presented in
“bonus convertible bonds reserve”. The Bonus
CBs are unlisted and irredeemable but have
conversion rights entitling the bondholders to
convert into an equivalent number of shares
as the number of bonus shares which the
Bonus CBs holders would otherwise be entitled
to receive under the bonus issue had the
shareholder not elected for the Bonus CBs.
The Bonus CBs do not carry voting rights at
any general meeting of shareholders of the
Company. Bonus CBs holders can exercise the
conversion rights at any time after the issue of
Bonus CBs, subject to the terms and conditions
of the applicable deed poll constituting the
Bonus CBs. At 31st December 2022, there are
approximately HK$265,000 (2021: HK$265,000)
outstanding Bonus CBs which are convertible
into 1,060,317 (2021: 1,060,317) fully paid

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at conversion

price of HK$0.25 per share.
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TRFAVNERELTDIELEZAEBRBENEY
(BRASEGFRTED) - REIZPAELRE

ERPRRERER

IEBRRRSRERE

RAKEZGARERERTFIRABEED 2

RERE -
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

EfmE
RITEE 2B HEaE ERFIE @it
Financing
Bank note Lease Interest
borrowings payables liabilities payables Total
T T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W-Z--%-F—-H At 1st January 2021 1,293,880 - 5,685 - 1,299,565
REZRENE Financing cash flows 184,970 95,096 (4,704) (56,400) 218,953
FHEEE Non-cash changes
BERFERZ (Hi29) Interest expenses recognised (note 9) = = = 1,833 1,833
BEREFERZ (H##9) Interest expenses capitalised (note 9) = = = 54,576 54,576
A% Exchange adjustments - 1,264 - - 1,264
RZZ--%+-A=1-Bk At 31st December 2021 and
RZE-—%-F—H at 1st January 2022 1,478,850 96,360 981 - 1,576,191
BEZRENE Financing cash flows 121,150 - (3,322) (101,275) 16,553
FHEEY Non-cash changes
MEHEE New lease entered - - 9,840 - 9,840
BRAF SRR (H#9) Interest expenses recognised (note 9) = = = 2,414 2,414
BEREFERZ (H##9) Interest expenses capitalised (note 9) = = = 98,861 98,861
EHAE Exchange adjustments - (9,462) - - (9,462)
R-B-Z#+-A=1+-H At 31st December 2022 1,600,000 86,898 7,499 = 1,694,397
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45. T EFRERS

(a)

HE-_Z-_—&#+-A=+—HIL=EE
N AEARPRRITL—HOHEE
ZoHEREN AEERRAFEAEAE
9,840,0007% 7T &% 1 & & 159,840,000/ 7T °

HE-_ZE-_—F+-_RA=+—HLFE
W BIREYEE 5] £33,430,000%8 7T
BEAKREME -

46. HEWPREE

BEAPRRYUEBRLEBANEN -

47. RERSMBHREK

AEAMBRRN T -_=F=-A=+REE=R
SR R T

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year ended 31st December
2022, the Group entered into a new lease
agreement for the office. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-
use asset of HK$9,840,000 and lease liability of
HK$9,840,000.

(b) During the year ended 31st December 2021,
deposits paid for investment property of
HK$33,430,000 was transferred to investment
property.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event took place subsequent to
end of the reporting date.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30th March 2023.
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AEBEBEREAVRFECENEXEREERAGER

E(REACTZEZEERYBRR) BN TX -

A summary of the published results and the assets and

liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is

set out below.

E Results
HE+-A=t—-HLEE
For the year ended 31st December
—E-C B ZE2-FH ZT-NF ZE-N\F
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FTHT FEL FET FET FHEL
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(g=E5]) (LF5)
(Restated) (Restated)
g Revenue 3,879 3,717 3,647 6,466 3,493
B i A &5 18 Loss before tax (93,655) (148,649) (107,359) (331,613) (405,336)
FRER (%) /Ke Income tax (expense)/credit (465) - 32 (35) -
REBELEEBZ Loss for the year from continuing
FEBE operations (94,120) (148,649) (107,327) (331,648) (405,336)
KECRIEEEER Y (Loss)/profit for the year from
FE(BB)/&5H discontinued operations - (7,866) (3,116) (4,083) 1,458,855
FE(EE) /%7 (Loss)/profit for the year (94,120) (156,515) (110,443) (335,731) 1,053,519
UATATEGEEE (Loss)/profit for the year
(B#E) /HF attributable to:
RARHEEA Owners of the Company (94,101)  (156,496)  (110,430)  (335226) 1,053,530
FERER Non-controlling interests (19) (19) (13) (505) (11)
(94,120) (156,515) (110,443) (335,731) 1,053,519
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EEREE Assets and liabilities
Rt+t=—A=+-A
At 31st December
—g=-= i St —ZZ%F ZE-NF
2022 2021 2020 2019
TR FAEL TAET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BELE Total assets 5,247,857 5285909 5343571 5,398,206
aEes Total liabilities (2,298,105) (2,221,933)  (1,908,300) (1,711,297)
BEEE Net assets 2,949,752 3063976 3435271 3,686,909
AARHREAELER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 2,950,433 3,064,638 3435914 3,687,539
RS Non-controlling interests (681) (662) (643) (630)
BEs Total equity 2,949,752 3063976 3435271 3,686,909
SN ekl e o -
iy 1 A $ Tt R TILeT
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REBR-ZE-—_F+-_A=+—RZBETYEFS

Properties Under Development and

Investment Property

Particulars of the Group’s properties under development at

;AN T X : 31st December 2022 are set out below:
Be  fHERE
it BEBEE & r5E
e lie RIRR TIEH  (FEK)  (FHEK) AR BHEA%
Estimated
Approx. gross
Estimated sitearea  floor area Effective %
Stage of completion (square (square held by
Location Lot number completion year meter) meter)  Usage the Group
BN ERER 6f7EC « DREME IR “E--F 3,900 46,157 (% BEREES 100%
Zona de Aterros do Porto LotC,DandEin Construction 2021 Residential, commercial
Exterior, Macau (ZAPE) Quarteirdo 6 completed and carparking
BPABLBLARH HEHECET R FERER ZEIRE 4,700 30000 fEEREES 50%
HERNLE
Nam Van Lakes Zone, Lot 7, da Zone C do Development stage 2026 Residential and

Avenida Doutor Plano de Urbanizagéo carparking

Stanley Ho, Macau da Zone da Baia da

Praia Grande

REBR-E-—F+-A=+-—"RBz2REMEFEH

Particulars of the Group’s investment property at 31st

FIRTX : December 2022 are set out below:

o B RERR HBE R

Location Existing use Category of lease term
RERILTEERERRIR EERFEEL KA

Section 5 Xinyi Road, Xinyi Dist., Residential and car parks Freehold

Taipei City, Taiwan
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